Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held at
the Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN on
WEDNESDAY 1 APRIL 2015 AT 6.00 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 24 March 2015

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business
growth

Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development

Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and
fuel efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Simon Weeks (Chairman)
Lindsay Ferris
Malcolm Richards

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman)
John Kaiser
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

Chris Bowring
Bob Pitts
Chris Singleton

SUBJECT

116.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

117.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS
To confirm the Minutes of Meetings of the Committee
held on: 25 February 2015 – Extraordinary meeting,
and 4 March 2015

118.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest.

119.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

PAGE
NO.

5 - 16

120.

Bulmershe and
Whitegates

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2015 - FORMER ALLIED
BAKERIES SITE, VISCOUNT WAY, WOODLEY
Recommendation: Conditional Approval, subject to
Legal Agreement
(Application deferred for additional information to be
obtained. Only the information in the addendum to the
report will be considered.)

17 - 84

121.

Shinfield South

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2633 - SHINFIELD C OF
E JUNIOR SCHOOL, CHESTNUT CRESCENT,
SHINFIELD
Recommendation: Conditional Approval

85 - 110

122.

Swallowfield

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/0940 - WILLOW TREE
WORKS, SWALLOWFIELD STREET,
SWALLOWFIELD
Recommendation: Conditional Approval, subject to
Legal Agreement.

111 - 158

123.

Arborfield

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2119 - FORMER
BEARWOOD GOLF COURSE, MOLE ROAD,
SINDLESHAM (BEARWOOD PARK)
Recommendation: Conditional Approval, subject to
Legal Agreement.

159 - 226

124.

Twyford

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2353 - LAND TO REAR
OF 58 HURST ROAD, TWYFORD
Recommendation: Conditional Approval, subject to
Legal Agrement.

227 - 274

125.

Coronation

APPLICATION NO: F/2015/0055 - 29 COPSE MEAD,
WOODLEY
Recommendation: Conditional Approval.

275 - 290

126.

PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
To consider any recommendations from the Head of
Development Management to hold pre-committee site
visits, set out in Members’ Update

127.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN
DECIDES ARE URGENT
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief
Executive if there are any other items to consider
under this heading.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CAC
R
LB
S106
F
MU
RM
VAR
PS
Category

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Conservation Area Consent
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission
Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted
Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Tricia Harcourt
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Senior Democratic Services Officer
0118 974 6091
tricia.harcourt@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 117.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 25 FEBRUARY 2015 FROM 7.00 PM TO 10.25 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman), Chris Bowring,
Lindsay Ferris, John Kaiser, Bob Pitts, Malcolm Richards, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey and
Chris Singleton.
Other Councillors Present
Councillors: Alistair Auty and Philip Mirfin.
Officers Present
Tracey Coleman, Service Manager, SDL Planning Delivery, Chris Easton,
Service Manager, Highways Development Management, Haroon Khan, SDL Delivery
Lawyer, and Susan Coulter, Senior Democratic Services Officer.
Case Officers Present
Connor Corrigan.
94.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies received.
95.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
96.
MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The
Members’ Update was circulated to all present prior to the meeting.
97.

APPLICATION NO O/2014/2435 - KEEPHATCH BEECH, LAND TO REAR AND
NORTH OF 398 LONDON ROAD, WOKINGHAM
Proposal: Hybrid application (North Wokingham Strategic Development Location) for
Outline permission (All Matters Reserved) for a development comprising of up to 300
residential dwellings, up to 800 square metres of restaurant / public house (use class A3
and A4), public open space and landscaping, allotments, acoustic mitigation comprising
an earth bund and acoustic fence, surface water drainage, foul water pumping stations,
land reserved for park and ride abd a Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces (SANGs)
at Stokes Farm (7.91 ha).
Full permission for the Eastern section of the full Northern Distributor Road including
proposed junctions with London Road and Binfield Road.
Applicant: The Keephatch Beech Consortium.
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 1 to
77.
The Committee was advised that no part of the site was now in Wokingham Without (Big
Wood SANG element removed) and that the Members’ Update included details of:

5

 The development area was 30.46ha, including 7.9ha of SANG;
 Additional comments received relating to the proposed allotments and landscaping,
the number of three storey dwellings;
 Protection of the gap between Wokingham and Bracknell;
 Section 106 Heads of Terms;
 Consultation responses from:
o Planning Policy;
o Countryside Access Officer;
o Public Rights of Way;
o Trees and Landscape;
 Planning History; and
 Density of the site.
Amendments to conditions 1, 10 17, 45 and 47 and an informative relating to the Code for
Sustainable Homes were also recommended, together with an additional condition relating
to the requirement for an assessment of the future foul flows from the restaurant / public
house, prior to the commencement of the development.
Mr Francis Ryder, representing Wokingham Town Council, spoke objecting to the
application.
Mr Paddy Haycocks, and Mr Stephen Baker, representing themselves and local residents,
spoke objecting to the application.
Mr Michael Knott, representing the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Alistair Auty, Ward Member for Norreys, spoke to the application.
Local concerns had been expressed via letters and e-mails about the design of the NDR,
increased use of traffic lights, the lack of a play park facility, the lack of a
convenience/grocery store in the proposed development, flooding, schools, loss of green
space, loss of woodland, increased noise and pollution, overdevelopment of North
Wokingham, site drainage, the suggested park and ride facility, the impact on
neighbouring properties, inadequate parking levels an increase in crime, the number of
dwellings proposed and the loss of traditional features in the area.
In response to these concerns, Officers’ comments were summarised on Agenda pages
64 to 68:
RESOLVED: That application O/2014/2435 be approved, subject to:
1) the conditions set out on Agenda pages 5 to 24, with conditions 1, 10 17, 45 amended
as set out on pages 1 and 2 of the Members’ Update and condition 47 being deleted;
2) an additional condition, as set out in the Members’ update relating to an assessment of
the future foul flows from the restaurant / public house to be submitted and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Thames Water. The unit
not to be occupied until works for the disposal of foul and storm water sewage have
been provided on the site; and
3) an amendment to Informative 13 to read “Code level 4 for all new homes”

6

98.

APPLICATION NO O/2014/2242 - MATTHEWSGREEN FARM,
MATTHEWSGREEN ROAD, WOKINGHAM
Proposal: Outline application (access to be considered) for a phased development of
approximately up to 760 dwellings including 60 units of assisted living homes I older
person accommodation a local centre (including retail) a primary school community
facilities and associated areas of open space and drainage/attenuation parking etc.
Accesses from Twyford Road, Matthewsgreen Road and Toutley Road. Development
would also incorporate the demolition of outdoor storage buildings in employment use and
2 x dwellings (Matters reserved - layout, landscaping, scale, appearance).
Applicant: Bovis Homes and Gleeson Developments.
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 78 to
167.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included details of:



Additional comments from Emmbrook Residents’ Association;
An additional letter relating to the positioning of the school, car parking and the
location of the road.
 Amendments to conditions 1 and 10;
 Section 106 Heads of Terms;
 An updated plan list;
 An amendment to construction times;
 Applicant’s suggested amendments to conditions 3, 6, 11, 12,, 17, 18, 21, 22, 23,
27-29, 31-37, 39-44, 50, 53-56, 61, 63-65, 67, 68 and 70;
 Consultation responses from:
o Planning Policy;
o Countryside Access Officer;
o Public Rights of Way;
 Planning History; and
 Density of the site.
An additional condition regarding none of the dwellings directly abutting the existing
employment uses on the development site, indicated as Phase 7 on the Illustrative
Phasing Plan (Drg. Ref: 2197-A-1023-A), shall be occupied until the existing employment
uses have ceased unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Mr Paul Gallagher, representing Emmbrook Residents Association and the Joel Park
Residents Association, spoke objecting to the application.
Mr Charles Collins and Mr Terry Tedder, representing the Applicant, spoke in support of
the application.
Councillor Philip Mirfin, Ward Member for Emmbrook, spoke to the application.
Local concerns had been expressed about the accesses onto Matthewsgreen Road and
Toutley Road, two of which link with the NDR, will result in congestion, rat-runs and
additional safety issues along local routes.
Concern was also expressed regarding the impact that the scale of the proposals would
have on the local highway network.

7

In response to the above concerns, Officers’ comments were summarised on Agenda
pages 80 and 81.
On being put to the vote, the Officer’s recommendation that the Committee authorise the
Head of Development Management to grant planning permission, subject to conditions
and completion of the legal agreement, including:


























Affordable Housing - 35%;
Education - Primary, Secondary, Post 16 and SEN;
Healthcare;
Community Facilities;
Sports Hub Contribution;
Sports Halls;
Swimming Pools;
SANG and Strategic Access Monitoring and Maintenance;
Country Park and Countryside Access;
Amenity Open Space I Children's Play Maintenance Commuted Sums;
Biodiversity;
Children's Play;
Highways including contribution towards the Strategic Highway Improvements (e.g.
FNDR and Coppid Beech roundabout improvements);
Railway Station Improvements;
Station Link Road;
Coppid Beech Park and Ride;
Travel Plan;
Off-site highway works;
Sustainable links to the town centre and wider area;
Libraries;
Allotments (off-site);
Burial;
Communities Provision; and
Legal and Monitoring fees,

and subject to conditions, was approved.
RESOLVED: That application O/2014/2242 be approved, subject to:
1) the conditions set out on Agenda pages 83 to 102, with conditions 3, 6, 11, 12,, 17, 18,
21, 22, 23, 27-29, 31-37, 39-44, 50, 53-56, 61, 63-65, 67, 68 and 70, amended as set
out on pages 7 to 9 of the Members’ Update;
2) an additional condition, as set out in the Members’ update relating to none of the
dwellings directly abutting the existing employment uses on the development site,
indicated as Phase 7 on the Illustrative Phasing Plan (Drg. Ref: 2197-A-1023-A), shall
be occupied until the existing employment uses have ceased unless otherwise agreed
in writing with the Local Planning Authority; and
3) an amendment to Informative 13 to read “Code level 4 for all new homes”

8

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 4 MARCH 2015 FROM 7.00 PM TO 10.30 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman), Chris Bowring,
Lindsay Ferris, John Kaiser, Malcolm Richards and Chris Singleton
Other Councillors Present
Councillors: Alison Swaddle and Bob Wyatt
Officers Present
Tricia Harcourt, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Chris Easton, Service Manager, Highway Development
Clare Lawrence, Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor
Case Officers Present
Emy Circuit, David Wetherill, Nick Chancellor
99.
APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bob Pitts and Rachelle ShepherdDuBey.
100. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 4 February 2015 were confirmed as
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
101. MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The
Members’ Update was circulated to all present prior to the meeting.
102. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Tim Holton declared a personal interest in Item 107 application F/2014/2105 residential
development on former Allied Bakeries site, Viscount Way, Woodley, on the grounds that
owner of one of the commercial units adjoining the site to the north is the landlord of the
premises where he works. He indicated that he would withdraw from the meeting for the
discussion and decision making on this application.
Chris Singleton declared a personal interest in Item 108 application F/2014/2865,
demolition of garage block and erection of a single storey dwelling on land at Heathlands,
Heathlands Road, Wokingham, on the grounds that he was a friend of the local resident
who was registered to speak in support of the application. He left the meeting for the
discussion and decision making on this application
103. APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
No applications had been withdrawn or recommended for deferral.
104.

APPLICATION NO F/2014/2637 - LAND AT MARKET PLACE, PEACH STREET,
AND ROSE STREET (REFERRED TO AS PEACH PLACE), WOKINGHAM

9

Proposal: part redevelopment and part retention and refurbishment of existing buildings
for mixed use development for town centre users, including Class A1 shops, Class A2
financial and professional services, Class A3 restaurants and cafes, Class A4 drinking
establishments, Class 5 hot food takeaways and a new public square, plus 26 Class C3
dwellings (a net gain of 21) as part of the regeneration of Wokingham Town Centre.
The proposals include:
 Demolition of 34-35 Market Place, 2-22 (even) peach Street, 1-6 The Arcade, and wall
along the Rose Street frontage; and the removal of the Rose Street Car Park;
 Retention of 24 -38 (even) Peach Street (Marks & Spencer, the Haka, and the Redan
Public House;
 Retention and refurbishment of 36 Market Place (including two first-floor apartments)
with external alterations; and 1-5 (odd) Rose Street (including two second floor
apartments) with external alterations;
 Erection of new buildings for the uses listed above, new public toilets and associated
works, including reconfiguration of part of Marks & Spencer car park.
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council/Wilson Bowden Developments
The Committee considered a report about this application, set out on Agenda pages 11 to
110.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included details of:
 Minor changes in land use and floor space, as set out in the Summary Information;
 Additional consultation response from Adult Social Services made in light of concerns
raised about disabled access to the Bradbury Centre;
 Comment from Councillor Bob Pitts, a member of the Committee who could not attend;
 Ten further representations received, with officer comments on the points made;
 Recommended revisions to conditions 2, 3, 12, 17, 21, 22, 23, 26, 28, 29 and 30;
 Recommended additional condition removal of an on-street parking bay.
The following correction to the report was noted: on Agenda page 48 – the cross
reference at the top of the page regarding the petition should be to paragraph 117 not
paragraph 44.
Francis Ryder, Wokingham Town Council, spoke in support of the application.
Ian Severn, spoke to present the objections made by the Methodist Church, the
Wokingham Disability Partnership and the Wokingham Traders.
Peter must spoke to present the objections made by the Wokingham Society, and Martin
Gibb from Vitality Foods trading at 22 Peach Street.
Philip Mirfin and Bernie Pich, representing the applicant and Mark Watson, representing
the Wokingham Chamber of Commerce, each spoke in support of the application.
Bob Wyatt, a Local Ward Member, spoke in support of the application.
Concerns were expressed regarding the loss of parking in this Town Centre location and
where the alternative parking would be provided for the occupiers of the new dwellings,
and the increased number of shoppers who are hoped to be attracted to the new
development. There were also concerns about the loss of the disabled access to the
Bradbury Centre/Methodist Church which hosts many community events.

10

The Highways Officer indicated that purchasers of the new dwelling will be aware that no
parking is provided. Surveys have identified that there is capacity in town car parks to
accommodate this development and in future, with taking into account of future
regeneration of the Town Centre. Public car parks with capacity are within 250m distance
from the site, eg Elms Road multi-storey and Easthampstead Road. Residents will be able
to buy a pass/season ticket to park in any of the Council’s car park, if they wish. The
parking adjacent to Marks & Spencer off Rose Street will remain, and it is planned to
increase parking at the Carnival Pool as part of the wider Town Centre Regenaration.
Concern was expressed that Waitrose car park had been mentioned as an option, but it
was pointed out that this is a car park limited to shoppers in Waitrose only, so was not
normally available for general parking, although linked trips do and will continue to take
place by users of Waitrose’s car park.
Officers confirmed that 3 disabled parking spaces will now be provided in Rose Street
immediately outside the Methodist Church and the Bradbury Centre, subject to a
successful Traffic Regulation Order application.
Officers responded to other queries from Members as follows:
 There is a condition to require the management of the access for service and delivery
vehicles;
 Special areas will be provided for the storage and collection of domestic and
commercial waste;
 The viability of the scheme has been assessed by an independent person, and the
significant benefits of delivering this redevelopment on a brown field site are mitigation
for there being no provision of affordable housing;
 The reduced separation distances between some flats and a retail unit at first and
second floor level are for secondary windows, so are acceptable in this town centre
location.
 Traffic in Rose Street will be reduced, when the Rose Street existing public car park is
removed.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/2637 be approved subject to:
1) the completion of a Legal Agreement, as set out on Agenda page 13;
2) to the conditions set out on Agenda pages 13 to 33, with and additional condition and
amendments to conditions 2, 3, 12, 17, 21, 22, 23, 26, 28, 29, and 30, as set out in the
Members’ Update.
105.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2105 - FORMER ALLIED BAKERIES SITE,
VISCOUNT WAY, WOODLEY
Proposal: Erection of 68 dwellings with associated roads, parking, amenity space,
landscaping and creation of new access onto Loddon Bridge Road
Applicant: Bloor Homes Ltd and ABF Grain Products Ltd
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 111 to
150.
Having declared an interest in this application, Tim Holton, and was not present during the
discussion or decision making.

11

The Committee was advised that the site was had been allocated for residential
development in the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan for around 57 units, with
an access off Loddon Bridge Road. It was confirmed that all units meet the Council’s
minimum standards for separation, internal spaces, parking and garden depth, except
three corner plots which are shorter than the standard, but are wider than other plots. Also
that the Members’ Update included details of:
 Recommended amendment to condition 11
 An update to the S106 legal agreement
 Clarification on the additional units proposed
 Reference to an additional application for development on this site
 Implications of the revised scheme for development on the site to the south
A correction to the report was noted on Agenda page 123 in the Representations section,
the representations detailed should refer to Woodley Town Council, not Winnersh Parish
Council.
Jenny Cheng, representing Woodley Town Council, spoke objecting to the application.
Jeff Carhill, the owner of one the haulage businesses on the adjoining site to the north,
spoke objecting to the application. and raising the issue of the potential
Alison Swaddle, a Local Ward Member, spoke objecting to the application.
It was noted that Members has visited the site on 27 February 2015 to assess the impact
on the character of the area, relationship with adjacent land uses, highway impact, and
highway safety of the new access.
In response to local concerns in relation to highway safety around the creation of a new
access onto Loddon Bridge Road, the Highways Officer confirmed that from its location on
the outside of the slight bend, there was clear visibility in both directions along Loddon
Bridge Road. The style of the access was similar to those along the length of the road;
many of which were accesses to through roads, whereas the proposed access would only
give access to the new closed housing development. The existing access to Viscount
Way was on to a private unadopted road, heavily used by HGVs going to and from the
commercial uses to the north of the site.
The owner of one of the haulage companies that operate out of the site immediately to the
north of the development raised serious concerns about the potential for complaints from
new residents about disturbance from the adjoining commercial uses which could
detrimentally affect the company’s ability to renew their operating licenses. Complaints to
the Traffic Commissioner could mean unrealistic conditions would be attached to their
operating licenses which could make the continuation of their business unviable. The
haulage businesses operate 24 hours 7 days per week. There is a requirement that a
check is carried out on each vehicle each time it is sent out, at any time throughout the 24
hour operation, which has to include testing the reversing warning sirens and the new left
turning warning recording which has to be at 80 decibels. There were also concerns about
overlooking/privacy from the windows at high level in commercial buildings and from their
CCTV cameras.
Officers indicated that measures were being put in place to mitigate any noise disturbance
in the adjoining dwellings and to reduce the internal noise levels to 45-30 decibels, such as
high specification double glazing where appropriate, with extra thick glass and relying on
windows being kept shut, with alternative ventilation via air conditioning. A 3m high fence

12

with possible higher planting was also proposed at the boundary between the two sites
They confirmed that the Environmental Health Officer had looked at the noise report
submitted by the applicant and visited the commercial site to understand the conditions on
site and had concluded that the proposed mitigation measures to reduce internal noise
levels were acceptable.
Members acknowledged the concerns about the relationship of the commercial site with
the proposed dwellings and suggested that more information was needed to understand
the impact of any potential complaints from the occupiers of the development site on the
granting of any future Goods Vehicle Operating Licence.
RESOLVED: That the determination of application F/2014/2105 be deferred to the
meeting of the Committee on 1 April, so that information and guidance can be obtained to
allow Members to understand the impact of any potential complaints from the occupiers of
the development site on the granting of any future Goods Vehicle Operating Licence.
Since other issues have been fully discussed and considered, only that issue will be
revisited before the application is determined.
106.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2865 - LAND AT HEATHLANDS, HEATHLANDS
ROAD, WOKINGHAM
Proposal: Erection of a two bedroom single storey dwelling to include the construction of
a new roof on existing garage, following demolition and removal of existing garage block.
Applicant: Mr Jason Brand
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 151 to
171.
The Committee was reminded that this site was in designated countryside, and that it was
a material consideration that over the years, several applications for similar proposals on
this site had been refused and some of these refusals had been upheld at appeal. There
was much support locally for the proposal. The site had been well treed and covered by a
blanket Tree Preservation Order, but in 1998, many of the protected trees were cut down,
making the site more open. Any development would require replacement planting of the
trees previously removed.

At this point in the meeting, Chris Singleton declared a personal interest in this application
on the grounds that he was a personal friend of the local resident who was registered to
speak in support of the application. He left the meeting and was not present during the
discussion or decision making.

It was noted that Members had visited the site on 27 February 2015 to assess the impact
on the character of the area/countryside and relationships with adjacent land uses.
Although there was local support for this proposal which was perceived as an opportunity
to tidy up the unused site, Officers indicated that building a new dwelling on this site in the
Countryside would be against policy and would set a precedent.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/2865 be refused for the reasons set out on Agenda
page 152.

13

107. PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
The Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services recommended that preCommittee site visits be undertaken in respect of the following applications:
 RM/2014/2561 – Land to the north of Cutbush Lane, Shinfield, for the reserved
matters application pursuant to outline planning consent O/2013/0101 for residential
development of up to 126 dwellings, public open space, children’s play areas,
accesses to Cutbush Lane and Shinfield Eastern Relief Road, ecological buffer,
ground modelling and associated infrastructure. The site visit would enable Members
to view and understand the proposal within the context of the wider SDL (Strategic
Development Location).
 F/2014/1561 – Land west of Old Wokingham Road (Pinewood), Crowthorne, for the
erection of 116 dwellings, associated access, highway works, drainage works, open
space and landscaping including a SANG (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace).
The site visit would enable Members to assess the impact on the character of the
area, relationships with adjacent land uses and highway impact.
 F/2014/2633 – Shinfield C of E Junior School, Shinfield for erection of 6 new
classrooms, SEN/group room, improved library facilities,and studio hall. Change of
use of agricultural land to non-residential institution use by the school for parking and
additional features. The site visit would enable Members to assess the impact on the
character if the area/countryside and relationships with adjacent land uses.
 F/2014/2119 – Former Bearwood Golf Course, Mole Road, Sindlesham,
redevelopment of golf course to provide a new football training ground and academy
facility comprising various full size and smaller pitches, and practice areas; conversion
and extension of existing clubhouse; erection of single storey changing block and
medical suite; refurbishment and of various buildings on the site for ancillary uses.
Refurbishment and rebuilding of existing residential housing and farm/industrial
buildings to provide 26 residential units (net increase of 18). The site visit would
enable Members to assess the impact on the character of the are/countryside and
relationships with adjacent land users, and to view the heritage assests.
 F/2015/0055 – 29 Copse Mead, Woodley for part two storey, part single storey rear
extension; change of roof form; raising roof to create habitable accommodation in roof
space; two storey front gable extension. Demolition of existing detached garage
removal of chimneys and changes to fenestration. The site visit would enable the
Members to assess relationships with neighouring properties.
RESOLVED: That pre-Committee site visits be undertaken on Friday 27 March 2015 in
respect of the following applications:
1) RM/2014/2561 – Land to the north of Cutbush Lane, Shinfield, for the reserved matters
application pursuant to outline planning consent O/2013/0101 for residential
development of up to 126 dwellings, public open space, children’s play areas,
accesses to Cutbush Lane and Shinfield Eastern Relief Road, ecological buffer,
ground modelling and associated infrastructure, to view and understand the proposal
within the context of the wider SDL (Strategic Development Location)
2) F/2014/1561 – Land west of Old Wokingham Road (Pinewood), Crowthorne, for the
erection of 116 dwellings, associated access, highway works, drainage works, open
space and landscaping including a SANG (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace),
to assess the impact on the character of the area, relationships with adjacent land
uses and highway impact.

14

3) F/2014/2633 – Shinfield C of E Junior School, Shinfield for erection of 6 new
classrooms, SEN/group room, improved library facilities,and studio hall. Change of
use of agricultural land to non-residential institution use by the school for parking and
additional features. The site visit would enable Members to assess the impact on the
character if the area/countryside and relationships with adjacent land uses.
4) F/2014/2119 – Former Bearwood Golf Course, Mole Road, Sindlesham,
redevelopment of golf course to provide a new football training ground and academy
facility comprising various full size and smaller pitches, and practice areas; conversion
and extension of existing clubhouse; erection of single storey changing block and
medical suite; refurbishment and of various buildings on the site for ancillary uses;
refurbishment and rebuilding of existing residential housing and farm/industrial
buildings to provide 26 residential units (net increase of 18), to assess the impact on
the character of the are/countryside and relationships with adjacent land users, and to
view the heritage assets.
5) F/2015/0055 – 29 Copse Mead, Woodley for part two storey, part single storey rear
extension; change of roof form; raising roof to create habitable accommodation in roof
space; two storey front gable extension. Demolition of existing detached garage
removal of chimneys and changes to fenestration, to assess relationships with
neighouring properties.

15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 120.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2105

No weeks on
day of
committee
24/21

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Woodley

Bulmershe and
Whitegates

Scheme of
Delegation

Applicant
Location

Bloor Homes Ltd & ABF Grain Products Ltd
Former Allied Bakeries site,
Postcode RG5 4BJ
Viscount Way,
Woodley,
Wokingham
Proposal
Proposed erection of 68 dwellings with associated roads, parking,
amenity space, landscaping and creation of new access onto Loddon
Bridge Road.
Type
Full
PS Category 7
Officer
David Wetherill
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 01/04/15
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

ADDENDUM REPORT
The application was deferred at the 04/03/15 planning committee meeting. The purpose
of this addendum is to provide further information on the relevant legislation in relation
to Goods Vehicle Operating Licenses (GVOL). The second section of the report will
consider the inspectors approach in the appeal for the Former Linpac site in greater
detail. This addendum should be read in conjunction with the 04/03/15 committee report
for this item, in particular para’s 44-54 which discusses the developments proposed
mitigation measures in respect of noise.
Goods Vehicle Operating Licenses (GVOL)
The application site is in close proximity to land currently specified as an operating
centre in accordance with the Goods Vehicles (Licensing of Operators) Act 1995, and
the owner of the operating centre BDT raised concerns about the possible review of the
suitability of the operating centre by the traffic commissioner at a future date, as a result
of potential complaints from the occupiers of the proposed residential development.
Similar concerns have now been raised by a second business Luckings, in a letter
dated 18/03/15. It is understood that the three adjoining businesses can operate 24
hours a day/ 7 days a week as there are no restrictions on the current Goods Vehicle
Operating License (GVOL).
The relevant legislation for GVOL’s provides for a continuous licensing system which in
effect means that once a licence is granted it remains in force until they are either
surrendered, revoked or otherwise terminated. Operators will have to make further
applications to vary the licence in order to add vehicles, change an operating centre or
vary/remove conditions.

17

Provided that there has been no contravention of an operator’s licence during the
relevant period, the licence is automatically continued. However, a traffic commissioner
may review an operating centre at 5 yearly intervals and tends to do so where
complaints have been received in respect of the site on environmental or general
suitability grounds. Complaints may be made by local residents or persons who own or
occupy land in the vicinity of the operating centre whose use and enjoyment of that land
is adversely affected by the use of the site as an operating centre.
There are existing residential properties in the vicinity of the operating centre, and
therefore there is some risk of review in the present situation. However it is
acknowledged that this risk of review will increase if the proposed housing development
comes forward, given its closer proximity to the operating centre.
The power to conduct reviews in such circumstances is contained in section 30 of the
Act. On a review the Traffic Commissioner has the power to:

remove an operating centre from the licence for both environmental and nonenvironmental reasons;

attach or vary existing conditions for environmental reasons, such as the time
vehicles use the operating centre, or for non-environmental reasons such as road
safety.
The Traffic Commissioner is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights Act
1998. Section 6 of the Act places a duty on public authorities not to act incompatibly
with rights and freedoms prescribed in the First Protocol of the EHCR which include the
right to free enjoyment of property. An operator’s licence is personal property and
therefore when deliberating on any review of an operator’s licence, the traffic
commissioner will be bound by law to act in a way which is compatible with the
operators rights under the Convention. There is provision for further judicial scrutiny of
any decision of the Traffic commissioner as an operator also has a right of appeal to the
Transport Tribunal.
Before a traffic commissioner can impose conditions on an existing licence, he must first
give the operator the opportunity to make representations on the effect that those
conditions will have on the business. These representations are then weighed against
the resident(s) concerns and a judgement is made, which is up to the discretion of the
traffic commissioner.
Whilst it is not possible to guarantee against future complaints, the developer has
confirmed that prospective purchasers will be made fully aware of the haulage yard next
door and the lack of restrictions. The Plot Sales Contracts will include mention of the
Haulage Yard and hours of operation, so that purchasers are fully aware of this prior to
buying a property.
In addition, prospective purchasers will be made fully aware of the fact that the site
adjoins a haulage yard with no restrictions, and fully aware of the noise mitigation
measures in place and their responsibility to use, retain and maintain them. The
applicant has agreed to have this as a covenant put on the deeds, and in this way it will
be raised as an issue each time there is a change of ownership. This will be secured by
way of a legal agreement.

18

It is therefore considered that the chances of residents putting in complaints will be
minimised as much as possible.
Former Linpac site appeal decision
The appeal decision for the former Linpac site Woodley (APP/X0360/A/14/2215542) has
relevance to this application as there was a similar residential/ 24hr commercial
relationship. The appeal decision is appended to this report.
Noise from the Magal Engineering site is different in nature as it comes mainly from the
use of heavy industrial presses and other plant within a building whereas the current
application is concerned mainly with noise from HGV’s and other external sources.
Whilst there are differences between the sites, what is of particular interest is the
approach taken by the appeal inspector. The following is of note in the Linpac decision:
-

Concerns raised from adjoining business about the potential for future complaints
regarding noise, and affect this may have on the viability of the business, which
employs in excess of 300 people (see para 38 of appeal decision).
Inspector considered the Councils Environmental Health advice.
Inspector agrees with the advice that there will not be a significant noise impact,
subject to conditions to secure the noise mitigation measures (see para 40 of
decision).

Under the Environmental Protection Act s.79, Environmental Health have a duty to
investigate noise complaints and if significant they can serve a Noise Abatement Notice
to prevent the nuisance, which can include the restriction of operating hours. Therefore
in this case there was a risk of limitations being placed on the operation of the business
as a result of complaints about the development.
However in allowing the appeal, the inspector based his decision on the evidence
provided in the noise assessment, and the Council’s assessment of this against its
policies. He did not appear to attach a great degree of weight to the possibility of future
complaints. In other words, he did not object based on what may or may not happen in
the future. The Councils expert advice was that noise was not an issue, and the
inspector agreed.
This application should be determined based on the same approach. It is considered
that a refusal could not be substantiated based on what may or may not happen in the
future. Rather, a decision should be made based on the evidence provided in the noise
assessment, and the Council’s assessment of this against its policies.
In summary, the Council’s expert advice is the following:
- The applicant has demonstrated that the noise mitigation measures are
comprehensive and will ensure an acceptable noise environment for the
proposed residential development.
- Therefore noise impact is not a reason for withholding planning permission.
Conclusion
Whilst the concerns of adjoining businesses are noted, the key issues relevant to the

19

determination of this planning application are:
1) Firstly, the applicant has demonstrated that noise will not be a significant issue to
justify refusal of the application.
2) Secondly, irrespective of this, a refusal cannot be substantiated based on the
potential for noise complaints at some time in the future, and the implications this
may have on the Traffic Commissioner placing conditions on the adjoining
businesses.

Appended:
Committee report for Allied Bakeries (04/03/15)
Appeal decision for Former Linpac site Woodley (APP/X0360/A/14/2215542)
Additional representations received from BDT and Luckings

20

Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2105

No weeks on
day of
committee
21/21

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Woodley

Bulmershe and
Whitegates

Scheme of
Delegation

Applicant
Location

Bloor Homes Ltd & ABF Grain Products Ltd
Former Allied Bakeries site,
Postcode RG5 4BJ
Viscount Way,
Woodley,
Wokingham
Proposal
Proposed erection of 68 dwellings with associated roads, parking,
amenity space, landscaping and creation of new access onto Loddon
Bridge Road.
Type
Full
PS Category 7
Officer
David Wetherill
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 04/03/15
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application is a full application and proposes 68 dwellings with associated roads,
parking, amenity space, landscaping. The site was included in policy SAL02 of the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) as an allocated housing site for the
development of around 57 dwellings.
The site is within walking distance of Woodley Town Centre, and the development
would replace an industrial scale bakery which closed in 2006. The proposed number of
dwellings represents an appropriate density of development (32.4 dph) providing space
for adequately sized gardens and adequate landscaping within the site.
The application is a resubmission of withdrawn F/2014/1107, which proposed 73
dwellings. This previous scheme was considered to represent overdevelopment of the
site, evident in factors such as the substandard gardens proposed. In this current
scheme, all plots meet meet the minimum recommended 11m garden depth except
three corner plots. However these three corner plots are wider than average and are
therefore considered acceptable.
Access to the site would be through a newly formed access from Loddon Bridge Road.
The application has attracted a number of local objections, principally in respect of this
proposed new access. However the Highway Authority considers the safety of the
access and traffic implications to be acceptable.
The site adjoins commercial uses to the north of the site, and the proposed mitigation
measures ensure an acceptable noise environment for the proposed residential
development, whilst also building in safeguards for the future should activity change in
nature or increase in activity.

21

It is considered that the scheme is compliant with the development plan and as such is
recommended for conditional approval.
This application is before the Planning Committee as it is major development. The
proposals are considered acceptable and therefore approval is recommended subject to
conditions and the completion of a satisfactory Section 106 agreement.

PLANNING STATUS
 Allocated Housing Site
 Major Development Location
 Contaminated Land Consultation Zone
 Bridleway (adjacent to site)
 Tree Preservation Orders
 Flood Zone 1

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION by the
Head of Development, subject to the prior completion of a satisfactory s.106
agreement, and conditions as follows:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings shall
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
3. This permission is in respect of the following drawings:

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Revision

Site Layout

SO-003 SL-100

E

Site Layout-col

SO-003 SL-100

E

Parking Strategy- col

SO-003 SL-101

C

22

Storey Height Layout- col

SO-003 SL-102

C

A.H Tenure Layout

SO-003 AH-100

B

Apart Elevation & GF Plan Plots 14-22

SO-003 PD-103

Apart Elevation & FF Plan Plots 14-22

SO-003 PD-104

Apart Elevation & SF Plan Plots 14-22

SO-003 PD-105

2B4P Elevations Plots 8,9,10,11

SO-003 PD-106

2B4P Floor Plans Plots 8, 9, 10, 11

SO-003 PD-107

3B5P Elevations & Floor Plans Plots 12,
13

SO-003 PD-108

303sp Elevations Plots 6, 7, 26, 27, 44, 45,
51, 52

SO-003 PD-109

303sp Floor Plans Plots 6, 7, 26, 27, 44,
45, 51, 52

SO-003 PD-110

303sp Elevations Plots 28,29, 47, 48, 49,
50

SO-003 PD-111

303sp Floor Plans Plots 28,29, 47, 48, 49,
50

SO-003 PD-112

2B4P & 4B6P Elevation Plots 36, 37, 38,

SO-003 PD-113

2B4P & 4B6P Floor Plans Plots 36, 37, 38

SO-003 PD-114

2B4P & 4B6P Elevation Plots 39, 40

SO-003 PD-115

2B4P & 4B6P Floor Plans Plots 39, 40

SO-003 PD-116

419 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 65

SO-003 PD-117

419 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 67

SO-003 PD-118

419 Elevations & Floor Plans Plots 59, 64

SO-003 PD-119

412 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 68

SO-003 PD-120

313 Elevations & Floor Plans Plots 3, 4

SO-003 PD-121

427 Elevations Plot 31

SO-003 PD-122

427 Floor Plans Plot 31

SO-003 PD-123

427 Elevations & Floor Plans Plots 61, 62

SO-003 PD-124

350 & 351 Elevation & GF Plan Plots 5355

SO-003 PD-125

23

A

A

350 & 351 Elevation & FF Plan Plots 53-55

SO-003 PD-126

350 & 351 Elevation & SF Plan Plots 53-55

SO-003 PD-127

303 Elevations Plots 57, 58

SO-003 PD-128

303 Floor Plans Plots 57, 58

SO-003 PD-129

406 Elevations & Floor Plans Plots 60, 63

SO-003 PD-130

406 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 32

SO-003 PD-131

406 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 1

SO-003 PD-132

411 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 66

SO-003 PD-133

400sp Elevation & Floor Plan Plots 23, 24

SO-003 PD-134

410 Elevation & Floor Plans Plots 25

SO-003 PD-135

350 Elevations Plots 33, 34, 35

SO-003 PD-136

350 Floor Plans Plots 33, 34, 35

SO-003 PD-137

313 Elevations & Plans Plot 5

SO-003 PD-138

309 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 2

SO-003 PD-139

309 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 46

SO-003 PD-140

310 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 43

SO-003 PD-141

Single & Double Garage

SO-003 PD-142

Single & Double Garage (XL)

SO-003 PD-143

Elevation & Floor Plan- Cycle Store

SO-003 PD-144

313 Elevations & Floor Plans Plot 30

SO-003 PD-145

501 Elevations Plot 56

SO-003 PD-146

501 Floor Plans Plot 56

SO-003 PD-147

303sp Elevations Plots 41, 42

SO-003 PD-148

303sp Floor Plans Plots 41, 42

SO-003 PD-149

Street Scene 1

SO-003 SC-150

Street Scene 2

SO-003 SC-151

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:

To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the

24

application form and associated details hereby approved.
4.
Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned, domestic
gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance of
the landscaping hereby approved.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03 and TB21
5.
a) The tree protection measures shall be implemented in complete accordance
with the Approved Scheme (Prepared by ACD Arboriculture received by the LPA on
24/09/14) for the duration of the development (including, unless otherwise provided by
the Approved Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning,
demolition works, soil moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any
other operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery.
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving
use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence until the local
planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice) with a period of no
less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the measures identified in the
Approved Scheme on-site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the
Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority has first been
sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to
the area.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21.
6.
Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished floor levels or
contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access

25

and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structure (e.g.
furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, external
services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include planting plan, specification
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass
establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation timetable.
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a
timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority. Any trees or plants which,
within a period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously
damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
species, size and number as originally approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21.
7. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all boundary
treatments shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme of boundary treatments shall include details of a semi-permeable
boundary to abut the bridleway. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the
first occupation of the development or phased as agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be maintained in the approved form for so long as
the development remains on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
8. A 3m high acoustic fence to the northern boundary of the development site shall be
installed between points A and B as shown on plan no SL-100E, before any of the new
dwellings on the site are occupied. The applicant shall ensure that the acoustic fence is
retained and maintained for the duration of the proposed development.
Reason: To protect the amenity of future residents of the development.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
9. Before the development hereby permitted commences the applicant shall submit to
the local planning authority for written approval details of the specification of windows to
be installed at various location across the site to ensure that the internal noise level in
habitable rooms does not exceed 35dB LAeq 16hr during the day and 30dB LAeq 8hr at
night. Details of alternative ventilation to be installed shall also be provided. The agreed
glazing and ventilation details shall be installed and maintained on site at all times.
Reason: To protect future residents from noise arising from neighbouring existing
commercial and industrial uses
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
10. Before the development hereby permitted commences the applicant or their agents
shall submit to the Local Planning Authority for written approval a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)

26

Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents (and future residents of the site if
there is a phased release), from various environmental impacts arising during
construction such as noise, vibration, odour, dust, air quality etc.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
11. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of demolition
or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than between the
hours of 7.30 am and 18.00 pm Monday to Friday and 8.00 am to 13.00 pm Saturdays
and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard amenity of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policies : NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
12. A) Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed remediation scheme shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Authority.
B) The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms
prior to the commencement of development (other than that required to carry out
remediation) unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority. The Local
Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of
the remediation scheme works.
C) Prior to occupation of the development, a validation report that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Authority.
D) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified, the Local Authority should be notified in
writing within 3 working days. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared which is
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion
of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report must be
prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that any contamination on the site is remediated to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land
13. Before any development commences a further assessment of the groundwater
contamination identified in Hydrock’s report “Desk Study and Ground Investigation,
Former Allied Bakeries, Reading dated April 2013 (Ref: R/13089/001 shall be
undertaken, submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
assessment shall include the use of Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment (DQRA)
techniques to assess the risks posed by individual contaminants to nearby controlled
water resources and outline any remediation measures to be taken to avoid risk when
the site is developed. No building shall be occupied until the measures have been
carried out and a validation report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority
Reason: To ensure that any contamination on the site is remediated to
protect controlled water resources.
14. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, (General

27

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification), no additional windows or similar
openings shall be constructed in the flank elevations in the first floor levels or above of
the buildings hereby permitted except for any which may be shown on the approved
drawings.
Reasons: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy CP3
15. Those windows shown on the approved site layout drawing as having obscured
glazing (all bathrooms & toilet windows, plus on side windows where shown) shall be
permanently so-retained. The windows shall be non-opening unless the parts of the
window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the finished floor level of
the room in which the window is installed and shall be permanently so-retained.
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
16. A) The dwellings shall seek to achieve Code Level 4 in accordance with the
requirements of the Code for Sustainable Homes: Technical Guide [or such national
measure of sustainability for house design that replaces that scheme]. No dwelling
shall be occupied until a Final Code Certificate has been issued for it by an accredited
assessor certifying that at Code Level 4 has been achieved.
B) If it is intended that the houses be built to less than Code level 4, full details of why
Code Level 4 is not achievable on site must be provided to the Local Authority and
approved in writing. Should following receipt of information the LPA agree to a lower
code level, then no dwelling shall be occupied until a Final Code Certificate has been
issued for it by an accredited assessor certifying that the agreed level has been
achieved.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding
and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC04
17. The measures for generating 10% of the predicted energy requirement of the
development from decentralised renewable and/or low carbon sources outlined in the
submitted Energy Statement shall be implemented before the development is first
occupied and shall remain operational for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding
and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC05
18. No development shall take place until a measured survey of the site and a plan
prepared to scale of not less than 1:500 showing details of existing and proposed
finished ground levels (in relation to a fixed datum point) and finished floor levels shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the

28

approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the building(s).
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to surrounding
buildings and landscape.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
19. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order
with or without modification) no buildings, extensions, or alterations permitted by
Classes (A, B, C, D and E) of Part 1 of the Second Schedule of the 1995 Order shall be
carried out.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, and
preserve the character of the development. Plots are generally at or around minimum
separation distances and amenity space sizes and so the Council wishes to assess the
potential impact of such development.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1, CP3 and the
Wokingham Borough Council Borough Design Guide.
20. No development shall take place until the applicant or their agents or successors in
title have secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work (which
may comprise more than one phase of work) in accordance with a written scheme of
investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reason: The site lies in an area of archaeological potential, particularly in relation to
prehistoric remains.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, MDD TB25
21. Before development commences, full details of the construction of roads and
footways, including levels, widths, construction materials, depths of construction,
surface water drainage and lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The roads and footways shall be constructed in accordance
with the approved details to binder course level before the buildings are commenced
and the final surface course shall be provided within 3 months of occupation, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3 & CP6.
22. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the
construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials,
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway

29

and details of wheel washing facilities
v) measures to inform local residents of the commencement of development by letter
and provide appropriate contact details for residents to contact the developer if they
have concerns or issues.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
23. No part of any buildings hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the vehicle
parking space has been provided in accordance with the approved plans. The vehicle
parking space shall be permanently maintained and remain available for the parking of
vehicles at all times.
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway
safety, convenience and amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
24. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted details of secure
and covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of the development
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The cycle
storage/ parking shall be implemented in accordance with such details as may be
approved before occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall be
permanently retained in the approved form for the parking of bicycles and used for no
other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
25. No part of any buildings hereby permitted shall be occupied until the visibility
splays/zones indicated on the approved site layout drawing have been provided and
maintained clear of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
26. No development shall commence until details of the pedestrian/cycle accesses from
the development site to Vauxhall Park and Viscount Way have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved pedestrian/cycle
accesses shall be permanently maintained, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the site is permeable, to encourage use of the local park and to
encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: NPPF and Core
Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policy CC07.
27. No development shall take place until full details of the Drainage System(s) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall

30

include:
a) Demonstration (through provision of calculation sheets) that peak discharge
rates from the site to the local public sewer network will be no greater than
those from the current site for the 1 year, 30 year, 100 year rainfall event,
including the 100 year + CC event.
b) Demonstration that all events up to and including the 1 in 100 year event
including an allowance for climate change will be contained onsite and will not
flood any of the proposed dwellings or neighbouring development.
c) Demonstration of where and how surface water attenuation shall be provided
across the site and that attenuation features are adequately sized to serve the
development for all events up to the 1 in 100 year storm plus allowances for
the effects of climate change.
d) Demonstration that the design of the drainage system accounts for the likely
impacts of climate change and changes in impermeable area, over the design
life of the development.
e) Soakaways and permeable paving (where proposed) will be designed in
accordance with current guidance and as stated within The SUDS Manual
CIRIA C697.
f) Prior to detailed design of the soakaway structure, groundwater monitoring
should be undertaken across the site to establish the depth of the seasonal
groundwater table.
g) Full details of all components of the proposed drainage system including
source control, conveyance, storage, flow control and discharge. Details shall
include dimension, locations, reference to storm simulation files, gradients,
invert and cover levels and drawings as appropriate.
h) Full details of the maintenance and/or adoption proposals/agreements for the
development covering every aspect of the proposed drainage system.
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding
and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10
28. No development shall occur until an Employment Skills Plan has been submitted to
the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. The plan should demonstrate how
the proposal will provide and secure opportunities for training, apprenticeship or other
vocational initiatives to develop local employability skills required by developers,
contractors or end users of the proposal. Once agreed the plan should be implemented
in full in accordance with the agreed details.
Reasons: In the interest of securing sustainable local employment. The development is
in a countryside location and its benefits to local employment help justify the
development.
Policies: NPPF, CP15, MDD Policy TB12:
29. In the event that vegetation clearance is not possible during the winter period,
October to February inclusive, in order to avoid breeding bird season then the following
procedure will be followed:
a) No more than 48 hours prior to vegetation removal a suitably experienced
ecologist shall check the vegetation to confirm the absence of nesting birds.

31

b) Where nesting birds are present in vegetation scheduled for removal the work
must be rescheduled and active nests shall be appropriately protected until
breeding is finished.
Reason: To ensure that nesting birds, protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 (as amended), are not adversely impacted upon as a result of the development.
30. No development shall commence until details of the measures to be incorporated
into the development to demonstrate how ‘Secured by Design (SBD)’ accreditation will
be achieved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details, and shall not be occupied or used until written confirmation of the SBD
accreditation has been submitted to the Local Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the safety, crime prevention and amenity of future occupiers
of the development.
Relevant policies: Paragraphs 58 & 69 of the National Planning Policy Framework and
Core Strategy policy CP1.
Informatives:
1. The development accords with the policies contained within the adopted /
development plan and there are no material considerations that warrant a different
decision being taken
2. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions which
must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. Commencement of the
development without complying with the pre-commencement requirements may be
outside the terms of this permission and liable to enforcement action. The information
required should be formally submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant
fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the development should be carried
out only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case
officer to discuss.
3. The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.
4. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act the contents of which relate to this
development.
5. The developer’s attention is drawn to the fact that this permission does not authorise
the physical construction of the proposed off-site highway works and site access
connections to the public highway. A separate legal agreement (Minor Works
Agreement) made with the Council under s.184/278 of the Highways Act 1980 is
required. No work within or affecting the public highway shall commence until the
agreement has been completed and the Council, as local highway authority, has

32

approved all construction and installation details together including with a programme of
works.
6. If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority, to
adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public expense, then
full engineering details must be agreed with the Highway Authority at the Council
Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer is strongly advised not to commence
development until such details have been approved in writing and a legal agreement is
made with the Council under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980.
7. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and licensed as
required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in order to minimise
disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the highway.
Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any utility
to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the Borough’s Street
Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST three months in
advance of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination with other works so as
to minimise disruption.
8. The applicant is advised that application site red edging incorporates land which
forms part of the publicly maintained highway alongside the north section of the Loddon
Bridge Road frontage. If it is the applicant’s intention to enclose any part of this land, a
Stopping Up Order using the provisions of Section 247 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 will be required
9. Thames Water wishes to inform the applicant that it will aim to provide customers
with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute
at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account
of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.
10. There is no right of discharge of highway drainage into the public sewerage system.
An agreement to allow a discharge may be granted under section 115 (WIA 1991) by
negotiation between the Highway Authority and Thames Water.
11. There is a requirement for the applicant to provide suitable private fire hydrant(s), or
other suitable emergency water supplies to meet Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue
Service requirements.

PLANNING HISTORY
Numerous historic applications relating to the former commercial use of site.
The following have been determined more recently:
DEM/2011/1576 - Application for proposed demolition of 2 storey factory buildings silos
and associated structures - Approval
F/2014/1107 - Proposed erection of 73 dwellings with associated roads, parking,
amenity space, landscaping and creation of new access onto Loddon Bridge Road –

33

Withdrawn

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Previous land use
Proposed units
Proposed density - dwellings/hectare
Number of affordable units proposed
Parking: Total allocated spaces
Parking: Total garages
Parking: Total visitor spaces

2.1 hectares
Commercial
68
32.4 dph
20
124
43
28

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Highways Authority
No objection, subject to conditions (Conditions 21 - 25).
Trees and Landscape

No objection, subject to conditions (Conditions 5 - 7).

Environmental Health

No objection, subject to conditions (Conditions 8 - 13).

Affordable Housing

No objection raised. Provided advice on the required level of
affordable housing provision required at the site.

Ecology

No objection, subject to condition (Condition 29).

WBC Drainage Officer

No objection, subject to condition (Condition 27).

Environment Agency

Provide standing advice.

Thames Water

No objection, subject to condition (Condition 27).

Education Services

No objection, subject to appropriate infrastructure
contributions.
No objection, subject to condition (Condition 20).

Berkshire Archaeology
Crime Prevention &
Design Advisor
Thames Valley Police

No objection, subject to condition (Condition 30).

Royal Berkshire Fire &
Rescue:

No objection, subject to informative

Request contributions to cover impact on police infrastructure

REPRESENTATIONS
Rob Wilson MP Residents not against development itself, but are concerned about
planned access onto Loddon Bridge Rd – safety fears and increased
traffic
Sensible solution to distribute traffic over two entrances, as discussed
in July public meeting involving Rob Wilson MP.
Whilst traffic surveys may suggest that one access point is a feasible
option, those living on Loddon Bridge Road disagree.
Any decision should deliberate the vital importance of alleviating

34

congestion and avoiding potential accidents.
Winnersh
Parish Council

The Committee considered the proposals and recommended the
application be refused on the following grounds:
- There are safety concerns regarding the siting of the access on
Loddon Bridge Road. Residents of Loddon Bridge Road in the vicinity
of the proposed entrance to the site already find it very difficult and
dangerous to exit their driveways due to the amount of traffic and
poor visibility caused by a bend in the road. This will also apply to
people exiting the proposed development. The Committee did not
think it appropriate for there to be any access onto Loddon Bridge
Road and felt strongly that the access to the development should be
from Viscount Way.
- Many school children use this area of Loddon Bridge Road, on
bicycles and on foot, and their safety will be put at risk by traffic using
the proposed site entrance.
- As the proposed entrance is next to a blind bend in Loddon Bridge
Road, traffic exiting the site will find it difficult to turn right, particularly
during rush hours and most will therefore turn left. Much of this traffic
will then turn into Vauxhall Drive to avoid the bottleneck at the
southern end of Loddon Bridge Road, thereby exacerbating the traffic
problems in Vauxhall Drive.
- The Wokingham Borough Managing Development delivery
document (Local Plan), adopted 21 February 2014, identified this site
as appropriate for the delivery of around 57 dwellings. This proposal
is for 68 dwellings.
- There is insufficient parking provided on the site.
- There appears to be footpath access to the rear of some properties,
which does not appear to be in compliance with Safer Homes
Initiatives.
- The acoustic fence to the north of the site does not appear to be
appropriate for the nature of the business carried out in the industrial
estate. The proposed acoustic fence is 2m high, whereas the HGV
vehicles using the industrial estate are 4m high.
- The proposed 2m fence to the north of the site will not provide
sufficient protection to the industrial units, where high value goods
are sometimes stored.
- The noise impact assessment gives the measured noise levels from
the 24 hours a day truck movements on the industrial estate, and
general traffic noise, and states that in order for acceptable internal
levels of noise to be achieved the windows of the dwellings adjacent
to the industrial estate must remain closed day and night. This is not
acceptable.
If permission is granted for this development the Committee request
that the following concerns be addressed:
- High level windows in the industrial units to the north of the site will
overlook the adjacent houses and gardens.
- CCTV cameras covering the industrial estate will overlook the

35

adjacent houses and gardens.
- The HGV vehicles using the industrial estate have cabs at a height
of 3m, which will overlook the adjacent houses and gardens.
- The existing business operating to the north of the site has to renew
its 24 hour HGV operator’s licence every 5 years and should be
protected against objections by the new residents in order to comply
with the Wokingham Borough Managing Development Delivery
Document (Local Plan), which for this site specifically states that "the
proposals must deliver appropriate measures to safeguard the
amenities of the occupants of the dwellings whilst ensuring continued
B class activities can continue within adjoining Headley Road Core
Employment Area"
- The boundary treatment to the south of the site must provide
protection to the historic bridle way in this area
Ward
Member(s)

Cllr Baker commented that he had concerns about the proposed
new access onto Loddon Bridge Road

Neighbour
Comments

20 letters of objection and 5 letters of comment have been
received from residents, raising the following issues:
Highway safety
- Objections to the new single access being created onto
Loddon Bridge Rd – effect of potentially 140 additional cars
- Some residents would accept access onto Loddon Bridge Rd if
there was a second access onto Viscount Way.
- Others object to ANY access onto Loddon Bridge Rd
irrespective of a second access. They suggest Viscount Way
not as populated and traffic flow can be managed via
roundabouts or traffic light systems.
- Developers should purchase strip of land in order to enable
Viscount Way access.
- Loddon Bridge Rd safety issues highlighted e.g. bend in road
and visibility issues of existing properties entering/exiting
driveways
- History of accidents.
- Bad traffic jams along Loddon Bridge Rd at peak times (also
bottle necks along Bader Way and Headley Rd).
- Knock on traffic impacts on surrounding roads such as
Vauxhall Drive and Fosters Lane.
- No crossing points along this section of Loddon Bridge Rd
- Likely to be on-street parking problems, as not enough parking
within development.
- Cumulative effect of various developments in Woodley
- Previous access onto Loddon Bridge Rd was closed and
switched to Viscount Way for safety reasons. Since then,
traffic has increased due to numerous developments
- Four dwelling scheme refused opposite proposed access on
highway safety grounds (this scheme was on inward bend of
LBR, compared to proposed access)

36

-

Many residents comment that a school is located nearby
(Rivermead School). Main commuter route for other schools.
Inconsistencies in transport assessment (timing of
measurements) and data challenged (e.g. maximum of one
car queuing to get out of Fosters Lane).

Services and facilities
- Cumulative effect of various developments in Woodley
- Schools, doctors surgeries and dentists already under
pressure, and this would be worsened.
- No extra shop units proposed.
- Plans do not propose additional parking at Woodley Precinct
which is already at capacity
- Woodley has more housing than amenities, especially for
youth.
Trees and biodiversity
- Concern about removal of trees adjacent to bridle path shown
in Tree Survey section 5 (Tree Officer confirms although
several are category C trees, they are to be retained)
- Air and noise pollution.
- Scots Pines at the rear of No 23 Vauxhall Drive in danger of
removal and should be TPO’d (no plans for removal, tree
protection shown).
Boundaries
- Boundary treatments: state of existing chain link and concrete
fence between bridle way and development needs addressing,
no indication of boundary treatment (conditions stage).
Relationship with neighbours
- An objection from the business backing onto the proposed
development (Headley Park Area 8). This is a 24hr 7 days a
week transport and warehouse operation which has no
restrictions. Trucks and fork lifts have audible reversing
bleepers and question accuracy of Noise Survey.
- This could affect the enjoyment of the proposed properties,
and lead to time operating restrictions which would be unfair
given that the commercial use was in place first, placing 65
jobs at risk.
- The acoustic fence to the north of the site does not appear to
be appropriate for the nature of the business carried out in the
industrial estate. Inadequate to maintain privacy.
- 24 hours a day truck movements on the industrial estate, and
general traffic noise, will be a disturbance to new residential
properties.

PLANNING POLICY

37

National policies:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy (NPPG)
Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework – Core Strategy:
CP1 – Sustainable development
CP2 – Inclusive communities
CP3 – General Principles for Development
CP4 – Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 – Housing mix, density and affordability
CP6 – Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP8 – Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area
CP9 – Scale and location of development proposals
CP10 – Improvements to Strategic Transport Network
CP17 – Housing delivery
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document:
Cross Cutting Policies:
CC01 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CC02 – Development Limits
CC03 – Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 – Sustainable Design and construction
CC05 – Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06 – Noise
CC07 – Parking
CC09 – Development and Flood Risk
CC10 – Sustainable Drainage
Topic Based Policies:
TB05 – Housing Mix
TB07 – Internal Space Standards
TB09 – Residential accommodation for vulnerable groups
TB21 – Landscape Character
TB23 – Biodiversity and development
SAL02 – Allocated housing development sites
Other guidance:

38






Borough Design Guide SPD
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD
Planning Advice Note (Infrastructure Impact Mitigation Contributions for New
Development – Revised March 2014)
Affordable Housing SPD

PLANNING ISSUES
APPRAISAL
Principle of Development:
1. The site is located within the settlement boundary of Woodley, a major development
location, and as such development of new residential dwellings is acceptable in
principle providing that its detail complies with the principles stated in the Development
Plan.
2. The site was excluded from the Core Employment Area and allocated for residential
development in the Managing Development Delivery Development Local Plan (MDD).
Policy SAL02 states that it should only be used for this purpose. It designated the site
(WD110) for development of ‘around 57’ dwellings (policy SAL02). The MDD was
adopted in February 2014 and as such the principle of development on the site is
acceptable.
3. MDD Appendix 12 includes specific requirements for each of the allocated sites. The
following requirements are set out for this site:
a) Delivery of around 57 dwellings;
b) Subject to viability in line with Core Strategy Policy CP5, provision of at least 30% of
affordable dwellings;
c) Deliver appropriate measures to safeguard the amenities of the occupants of the
dwellings whilst ensuring continued B class activities can continue within adjoining
Headley Road Core Employment Area; and
d) Information is supplied with the application demonstrating how it addresses any
impacts on the environment and landscape of the area.
4. The NPPF requires that proposed dwellings should be well integrated with, and
complement local buildings in relation to scale, density, layout and access. Policy CP3
of the Core Strategy outlines that development should be appropriate to the surrounding
streetscene, and without detriment to the amenity of neighbouring residents. The
current position with regards planning policy encourages character led development.
The Borough Design guide provides substantial advice on layout best practice.

Impact on the character of the area:
Density:
5. The site has been identified for an allocation of ‘around 57 dwellings’. The site area is
2.1ha, so the proposal for 68 dwellings equates to 32.4 d/ha.

39

6. The site is approximately 200m from another allocated site (Former Linpac site). The
western section of this site was developed at 40 d/ha (O/2013/0668 – 34 dwellings),
although the majority of the site is a lower density of 25 d/ha (F/2013/1136 – 93
dwellings). The difference between the proposals and this scheme is in part due to the
predominantly detached larger dwellings on that site, compared to the significant
number of semi-detached properties proposed in this scheme. Whilst the density is
higher than surrounding 1950/60’s housing to the west and south, it is noted that
housing in this period was typically built with much lower densities.
7. Whilst minimum densities have been removed by previous planning policy, the NPPF
still encourages the efficient use of land. The development is located on a sustainable
brownfield site and the proposed density is considered appropriate to its suburban
context, and would not appear unduly excessive in the context of other developments in
the Borough (SDL’s being built to an average density of between 30-35 d/ha).
Housing Mix:
8. The proposal for 68 new dwellings incorporates the following mix:







3 x 1 bed flats
6 x 2 bed flats
7 x 2 bed houses
33 x 3 bed houses
18 x 4 bed houses
1 x 5 bed houses

9. This incorporates several different housing types to cater for a range of household
sizes. This is considered to be an acceptable mix to meet the requirements of the Core
Strategy and MDD. The Affordable Housing Officer is satisfied that the mix allows for
potentially adequate affordable housing to be provided to meet local need and as such
this is acceptable.
Scale, design and layout:
10. A new access is proposed from Loddon Bridge Road, with the development
arranged around a loop road system. The dwellings will be set back from Loddon Bridge
Road with the existing mature tree boundary belt along this boundary retained, creating
strong screening to the site from Loddon Bridge Road. This is a key component of the
scheme.
11. The majority of dwellings are two storey, however focal points are provided within
the site from 2.5 and 3 storey buildings. A 3 storey terrace is proposed where the
access road splays into two roads, creating a gateway building and framing the informal
housing square. The square is framed by buildings and has two exits leading to streets
of detached and semi-detached houses. Further east these streets take on the
characteristics of a mews area.

40

12. The 3 storey apartment in the north-east corner frames the proposed eastern
pedestrian access into the site and gives the development frontage onto Viscount Way.
The east of the site is bordered by Viscount Way and open parkland, allowing an
opportunity for a 2.5 storey building to front this space. The dwelling frontages are well
set back from the eastern boundary, allowing for landscaping to be introduced along this
boundary. A new pedestrian link between the development and public open space to
the east will be created.
13. A key consideration for the layout is the presence of commercial units to the north,
and dwellings have been proposed to back onto the northern boundary, where a 3m
high acoustic fence will be provided.
14. The dwellings are set back from the southern boundary, with the gardens backing
onto this boundary along with the existing trees and vegetation to be retained creating a
green buffer between the new development, public footpath and existing residential
properties to the south.
15. The road layout makes the most efficient use of the site, with built form providing a
continuous frontage along the proposed streets. Indeed Secure by Design principles
have been incorporated into the scheme, ensuring that all public and parking areas
benefit from good natural surveillance.
16. The street elevations have been designed to create interest and visual variety within
an overall architectural theme reflecting some of the 20th century traditional house styles
along Loddon Bridge Road. The key materials will be brickwork for the walls with
occasional areas of render and contrasting bricks used for details such as window
headers or cills. Roofs will be finished in clay tiles and slates. Features such as hipped

41

roofs, gables, bay windows, porches and chimneys are proposed.
17. The Affordable Housing SDP states that the aim is to create development which is
‘tenure blind’ to meet the policy requirements of high quality design and sustainable
mixed communities. The affordable units have a similar overall design to the rest of the
development which is considered acceptable. They are reasonably mixed throughout
the site, featuring along the northern and southern boundaries, and are grouped in
clusters for ease of maintenance, meeting the requirement of social housing providers.
18. Following a reduction in the number of dwellings proposed, the Tree & Landscape
Officer is satisfied that the site is capable of accommodating the development proposed
whilst delivering a well landscaped form of development. The revisions now enable
sufficient vertical green infrastructure along the street scene and some opportunities to
plant large trees within the site. The tree cover on the southern loop road has improved
in particular. In several cases, proposed trees have been moved from locations within
rear gardens to street locations, so that they are less liable to removal by residents.
Subject to conditions relating to landscaping details, a landscape management plan and
tree protection details the development is considered acceptable in tree and landscape
terms.
Amenity space & Internal Space Standards:
19. The Borough Design Guide establishes requirements for private amenity space
(Section R16). Amenity space for houses should generally have a ‘roughly rectangular
shape’ and good access to sunlight, with a useable private garden of at least 11 metres
in depth.
20. Revised plans were received removing two dwellings from the scheme, enabling all
but three gardens to now meet the 11m requirements. Reducing the number of
dwellings within the central block enabled plots to be moved further from the southern
boundary to provide garden depths that exceeded the 11m requirement, considered
necessary given the maturity of boundary vegetation.
21. The three plots which fall short of the 11m depth requirement, have the following
additional width:
Plot No.
25
30
61

Garden Length. Garden Width.
9.1m.
12.3m.
8.5m.
12.8m.
10.1m.
17.0m.

22. Given that these are much wider than average and as corner plots have more open
aspect these are all considered to be useable and acceptable in this instance.
23. The proposed flats (plots 14-22) have access to a communal garden. At the
conditions stage this should be landscaped to provide privacy from the parking area
(hedge), with tree planting along the northern boundary to provide a high quality
useable space.
24. Therefore the proposed layout succeeds in achieving roughly rectangular gardens

42

and of at least the minimum recommended 11m depth with all plots except three corner
plots. All gardens are considered to be of a usable nature compliant with the aims of the
Borough Design Guide.
25. The MDD main modification version policy TB07 seeks to achieve certain internal
space standards in new dwellings. These have been achieved on all dwellings within
the site, including the affordable housing units.

Residential amenities:
26. The existing site is generally level and the majority of dwellings proposed are 2
storey. The site was formerly a bakery, and changes of level within the site are largely
due to the footprint of former buildings which have now been demolished. The Borough
Design Guide sets out minimum recommended separation distances between dwellings
in order to preserve amenity and character. The recommended distances are as follows:
27. Overlooking and Privacy depth distances are set out in the Design Guide and are as
follows:1-2 Storeys:
Front to front elevation
10m
Back to back elevation
22m
Back to flank elevation
12m
Over 2 storeys:
Flank to boundary
Front to front elevation
Back to back elevation (houses to houses)
Back to back elevation (Upper floor living
room)

2m
15m
26m
30m

28. The site is bounded by Headley Road East Industrial Estate to the north, a vehicle
rental storage yard and parkland to the east, residential properties to the south (with a
bridleway separating) and Loddon Bridge Road to west (with a good separation to
residential beyond).
29. Therefore the key boundaries of the development site are the northern and southern
boundaries, which will now be explored further.
Relationship with residential properties south of site
30. The following properties are located to the south of the development; No 284
Loddon Bridge Rd, No’s 5–14 Ladbroke Close, plots 1–7 of approved application
O/2013/0993 (layout was agreed at outline stage), and No 23-31 Vauxhall Drive. It is
worth noting that mature landscaping, as well as a bridleway, separate these properties
from the development

43

Proposed development

O/2013/0993 (Land at
Ladbroke Close)

31. In all cases, 2 storey dwellings proposed would be more than 22m from residential
dwellings and 3 storey dwellings (Plots 36, 40) would be more than 26m from residential
dwellings to the south of the site.
32. The only exception to this relates to plots 6 & 7 of O/2013/0993. These relationships
were improved in revised plans, which increased the boundary separation and the
orientation (to make oblique) of plots 41, 42 & 43, in response to the close proximity of
plots 6 & 7 Ladbroke Close to the boundary. The development site is approx 1m higher
than Ladbroke Close.
33. The revised plans show a separation distance of 18m between plot 6 Ladbroke
Close (bedroom window) and plots 43 & 44 of the development, and a separation of
20m between plot 7 Ladbroke Close (stairwell window) and plot 42 of the development.
These distances whilst not meeting the 22m, are considered acceptable given the
oblique angle between properties. It is also noted that plots 6 & 7 of O/2013/0993 have
not been constructed and only have ‘outline’ consent.
34. In addition to the above considered distances, it is intended that tree protection
fencing will protect existing boundary tree screening. To supplement this it is suggested
that additional landscaping is planted, in particular between plots 41-48 where it is more
sparse. The Crime Prevention & Design Advisor has recommended 1.8m hit and miss
fencing with trellis or 2.0m open topped metal railings for properties along this boundary
(with a planting buffer). This is to provide an opportunity for natural surveillance over the
public footpath, making it safer for users, whilst providing security and privacy to the
dwellings. A boundary and landscaping scheme at the conditions stage will need to
address all of the above considerations.
35. It is considered that all proposed dwellings will have acceptable relationships with
existing properties to the south of the site, such that no significant loss of light,
overbearing or overlooking impacts will result.

44

Relationship with commercial uses north of site
36. Commercial uses are located to the north of the site. The overlooking impact of first
floor windows in the BDT building has been raised. There are three south facing
windows in the eastern wing which have a back-to-back relationship with proposed
northerly plots, and an east facing window which has an oblique relationship. There is
no separation guidance for residential to commercial uses. However even taking the
BDG’s residential guidance, the first floor commercial windows have a 28m back-toback separation which is considered sufficient to avoid overlooking.
37. CCTV is located on each corner of the BDT building and within the site, and the
potential privacy impact of this has been raised in relation to northerly plots. At its
closest, CCTV is located 1m from plot 1’s boundary at a height of approx. 5.5m. It is
also noted that lorries using the adjacent yards will have a cab height of 3m, however
this is less of a concern with the acoustic fence height being proposed at 3m.
38. It would be desirable for boundary landscaping to grow above the height of the
fence to provide an additional visual screen. One option is to plant pleached hornbeam
trees, given that they provide all year screening (evergreen) and minimise the loss of
gardens, given their small canopy areas. They would also grow to the required height to
ensure privacy from CCTV cameras, in particular to plots 1-4. The Environmental Health
Officer has confirmed that the pleached trees would not harm the integrity of the fence
or lead to maintenance issues. Another option is to design a trellis above the fence and
to plant climbers (ivy, clematis). There are a few workable solutions which will provide
the necessary mitigation and further details will need to be provided at the conditions
stage. It is therefore considered that privacy can be safeguarded to these properties.
39. The proposed 3m high acoustic fence is not considered to have an overbearing/loss
of light impact on adjacent plots. A 3m high acoustic fence was found to have an
acceptable relationship with properties at the nearby Linpac redevelopment, and
planting can help soften its appearance. It should be noted that some of the proposed
dwellings at the Linpac site were closer to the acoustic fence that those in the current
proposal, but this was still considered acceptable by the appeal inspector.
Relationships within the development site
40. The scheme has been designed to comply with the Borough’s separation distances
and there are no areas of concern with regards poor amenity between individual plots.
41. The majority of dwellings proposed are 2 storey, although there are instances of 2.5
and 3 storey dwellings which have the potential for greater impacts. Plots 53-55 (3
storey terrace) have a 17m side-to-rear relationship with plot 56. For clarity, the second
storey rear facing windows will be conditioned to be obscure glazed as they serve ensuites. A note on the site layout states that there will be obscure glazing to all
bathrooms & toilets, plus obscure glazing on certain side windows where shown, i.e.
plots 31 & 43 (to a landing window) and plot 64 (to a secondary bedroom window).The 3
storey apartment block (plots 14-22) has an acceptable relationship with surrounding
neighbours.

45

42. Note separation was increased between plots 26-8 and 33-5 in revised plans to
comply with 22m back-to-back distance. Velux windows in the roofspace of plots 33-5
are not considered to lead to any direct overlooking given their orientation, and
therefore this revised separation is considered acceptable.
43. It is considered that no unacceptable loss of light, overbearing or overlooking
impacts arise as a result of this proposal.

Noise and Disturbance:
44. The application includes a noise assessment that considers noise from HGV
movements (from north and north east), and traffic noise from the Loddon Bridge Road
(to west).
45. Three haulage firms abut the northern boundary of the development (BDT, Luckings
and Delivered). They all have unrestricted 24hr/7day-a-week operations. For each
business, lorries are required to have a 15 minute check before being operated (by law).
This includes use of reversing beepers and indicators. Lorries use a one way system,
exiting the site along the right of way adjacent to the developments northern boundary
and onto Viscount Way.

46. The main operations of BDT take place between 6am-8pm. However it is not
unusual for 4/5 lorries (from a fleet of 20) to drive to a delivery during the night. Their
loading bays are located a good distance from the development and not commonly
used at night. There is a similar set up at Luckings, although night time
loading/unloading is more common and located closer to the development boundary.
Potential future intensification of the businesses must be recognised.
47. This means that the proposed development will be subject to some noise at antisocial hours, in particular from loading/unloading, vehicles using reversing beepers, and
vehicles exiting the site adjacent to the shared boundary (although it is noted that lorry
engines are located below the cabin).
48. MDD Policy CC06 (Noise) states that proposals must demonstrate how they have
addressed noise impacts (a Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted). Where
there is an adverse noise effect, which is not mitigated by review of the development
layout or internal layout, the next step is physical mitigation measures such as

46

barriers/mechanical ventilation.
49. The development layout has been designed to maximise the separation distance to
the commercial uses (properties backing onto rather than flanking northern boundary)
and the internal layout of properties has been designed to minimise bedrooms adjacent
to the HGV route where possible. However this alone is insufficient, and as required by
Policy CC06, the Noise Impact Assessment identifies physical mitigation measures:
- An acoustic fence running along the length of the northern boundary (marked A
to B on the site plan).
- High specification double glazing (glass thickness and cavity depth vary as
necessary across the site)
- Ventilation system (there is a reliance on windows being shut for acceptable
noise levels to habitable rooms, and therefore ventilation will be provided through
a mechanical ventilator as alternative to open windows).
50. Concerns were raised leading to submission of a supplementary Noise Impact
Assessment. This followed a meeting with the developer and Environmental Health
Officer (EHO), to discuss concerns raised by a neighbouring business. These concerns
were the accuracy of the noise assessment data in relation to DBT’s operation, and the
fact that it didn’t account for the new business ‘Delivered’, as well as consideration for
potential increases in the commercial activity as businesses expand.
51. The EHO has the following comments about the supplementary Noise Impact
Assessment:
- Additional noise sources and locations have been taken into account with an
increased amount of night time activity included in the revised modelling.
- This has led to the applicant proposing a 3m rather than 2m high acoustic fence
along the northern boundary of the site
- The noise mitigation zones which dictate the specification of double glazing at
various locations have been modified according to the revised noise data.
- As a result, a higher category glazing for houses along the northern boundary is
proposed (10mm thick glass rather than 4mm thick glass for bedrooms).
52. There is still a reliance on windows being shut within the development for
acceptable noise levels, however this was an accepted solution at the nearby Linpac
redevelopment, which had a similar residential/commercial relationship.
53. The EHO has reviewed the supplementary Noise Impact Assessment and considers
that the revised mitigation measures will ensure an acceptable noise environment for
the proposed residential development. This is subject to conditions relating to
submission of a detailed glazing strategy and installation, retention and on-going
maintenance of the acoustic fence.
54. The revised mitigation measures ensure an acceptable noise environment for the
proposed residential development now and also build in safeguards for the future
should activity on the adjoining sites change in nature or increase in activity. This will
ensure not only that residential properties are not detrimentally affected now or in the
future, but will ensure that commercial businesses adjoining the site can remain and
maintain viable businesses.

47

55. Finally, a BMX facility is located adjacent to the development site at the western end
of Vauxhall Park. This is a fairly small facility, although it is acknowledged that its use
could increase as a result of the development. The development has been designed to
have a verge with landscaping to abut the facility, and given its scale is not considered
to have a harmful impact on nearby plots.

Contamination:
56. The proposed use is sensitive in nature being residential with private gardens. The
site has been previously occupied by a large bakery which has now been demolished.
This land use has the potential to give rise to contamination in near surface soils at the
site. In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and the
principles of sustainable development an assessment of potential contamination is
required to determine if the site is suitable for the proposed end use.
57. A Desk Study and Ground Investigation Report for the former Allied Bakeries Site
dated April 2013 by Hydrock (Ref: R/13089/001) has been submitted with the
application. This provides details on an acceptable Phase 1 preliminary risk assessment
and Phase 2 intrusive investigation. Contamination has been identified on site which
could present an unacceptable risk to end users and controlled waters. This does not
preclude the proposed residential development but the Environmental Health Officer
recommends conditions to ensure remediation is carried out and the site made suitable
for use.

Access and Movement:
Highway Safety & Road Design
58. The previous bakery use of the site ceased in 2006. The bakery had a single access
onto Viscount Way. It is proposed to switch the single access onto Loddon Bridge Road
to serve the residential development, to avoid potential conflicts between residential and
commercial vehicles. There is also the issue of gates along Viscount Way being locked
when the neighbouring commercial premises are closed.
59. It is proposed for the residential development to have a single access via a new
simple priority junction onto Loddon Bridge Road. Loddon Bridge Road is subject to a
30mph speed limit, has footways and street lighting. The proposed junction has been
designed with suitable geometry and visibility which accords with the Department for
Transport publication Manual for Streets.
60. Representations have been made regarding possible conflict with vehicles using the
proposed junction and vehicles entering and exiting crossover accesses to houses on
the opposite side of Loddon Bridge Road. Conflicting vehicle movements will be
minimal and will have a negligible effect on the operation and safety of the proposed
junction and the existing accesses. A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been carried out
for the proposed access arrangement and other than a requirement to provide and
maintain visibility splays no concern has been raised.

48

61. Whilst it is proposed to close the existing vehicle access from the application site to
Viscount Way, a footpath/cycle link to this road will be provided. Viscount Way is an
unadopted private road at this location, and whilst access has been gained along this
route in the past it is not clear from the application documents that this right will exist in
the future. A footpath/cycle link from the application site to the adjoining recreation
ground is also shown which will improve the permeability of the site for pedestrians and
cyclists.
62. The estate road layout incorporates the design principles of Manual for Streets and
the council’s Highway Design Guide. The internal road layout is in part designed with
footways and in part designed as shared surfaces, which is acceptable for the number
of dwellings proposed. Revised plans show visibility splays for the central section of
housing which has a reduced service margin. The Highways Authority accepts, given
the intended design speed, the proposed 2m x 15m vision splays. With the service
margin only 1m within this area, the proposed splays would cross over future conveyed
land, and a condition will be used to ensure these are kept free of obstruction. The
Highways Officer raises no objection to the swept path analysis as shown on the
revised plan.
Traffic Impact
63. The planning application is supported with a Transport Assessment (TA) produced
by WSP. The TA provides an estimate of likely traffic generation of a 70 dwelling
scheme in comparison with the historical use of the site when operating as B2/B8
commercial uses. The trip rates used have been derived from the TRICS database.
The AM peak hour trip rate when averaged between the mix of flats and houses is
similar to the trip rates used in the Wokingham Strategic Transport Model. However,
the PM peak hour trip rate is noticeably higher. The data from TRICS is derived from a
single day survey and may not be representative of traffic generation for housing in this
area. Nevertheless, given that the estimated traffic generation is higher than expected,
the Highways Officer does not consider that the assessment needs to be amended.
64. Although the Highways Officer has not agreed with the calculated traffic generation
of the proposal, it is important to note that the application site historically has operated
with B2/B8 commercial uses and the Highways Officer does accept that the net change
in traffic movements onto the highway network will not be materially different. The
pattern will however be reversed and traffic will be reassigned directly to Loddon Bridge
Road rather than via Viscount Way/Spitfire Way/Miles Way which will alter localised
impacts.
65. The Transport Assessment (TA) has included information on personal injury
accidents in the vicinity of the application on Loddon Bridge Road. The nature and
pattern of the recorded accidents does not suggest an inherent defect with the design of
the adjoining highway network and the Highways Officer therefore considers that the
additional development traffic can be safely accommodated at this point.
Parking
66. The council’s Parking Standards Study Report provides guidance on the likely
parking demand associated with new development, with the calculated provision being

49

dependent on the size and type of dwelling and the allocation of spaces. The parking
provision and allocation is illustrated on drawing no. SO-003-SL-101 entitled Parking
Strategy. The parking provision consists of 124 allocated parking spaces and 43
garages and 28 unassigned/visitor spaces.
67. The amount of allocated parking is generally proportionate to the size of dwelling.
All single garages are to be a minimum of 3m by 6m in length in line with the council’s
guidance.
68. The scheme provides for 28 unassigned/visitor spaces; this number is broadly in
line with council’s parking standards. The spaces have been distributed evenly
throughout the road layout with the majority being incorporated into areas that will be
eligible for adoption as public highway. This approach provides the opportunity for
greater flexibility and better use of the spaces.
Sustainability
69. The Transport Assessment includes an evaluation of the accessibility of the
application site by walking, cycling and public transport to local facilities. The
application site is within convenient walking and cycling distance of many local facilities,
education and employment areas. Public transport accessibility is satisfactory; Loddon
Bridge Road/Vauxhall Drive is a bus route with stops located in reasonable distance to
the site.
70. Secure/covered cycle parking should be provided for all units. Some garages are
large enough to comfortably accommodate cycle storage and a parked car. Where
garages are less than 3m by 7m additional sheds should be provided. The cycle store
for the flats is shown to accommodate 10 cycles however the spaces are very
constrained. Ideally ‘Sheffield’ type stands should be provided with a minimum of
800mm spacing, and this has been secured by condition.
71. Whilst the traffic generation from the proposed residential redevelopment will not
materially alter traffic conditions on the highway network compared to when the
previous commercial uses on the site were in operation, the proposal will result in a
change in travel demand as the future residential occupiers of all ages will have
different needs than an adult workforce previously employed at the site. The Transport
Assessment has included a Travel Plan Statement which outlines the developer’s
intention to provide informative measures to promote sustainable travel choices.
However, this application does not include any measures to improve pedestrian, cycling
or public transport facilities/provision. The highway authority has sought Section 106
contributions from the developer, to help deliver appropriate transport infrastructure inkeeping with Wokingham’s Core Strategy to promote/improve sustainable modes of
travel.
72. Given the above considerations, the Highways Officer raises no objection to the
proposed scheme.
Sustainable Design and Construction
73. The application is accompanied by a Sustainability Statement (contained with DAS)

50

and Energy Statement which demonstrates that energy saving and generating
measures will be undertaken on site in accordance with the Sustainable Design and
Construction SPD.
74. MDD policy CC05 states that planning permission will only be granted for proposals
that deliver a minimum 10% reduction in carbon emissions through renewable energy or
low carbon technology where the development is for schemes of more than 10
dwellings. The energy statement states that the development will meet the reduction in
emissions through the use of energy efficiency measures such as improved thermal
fabric efficiency, air tightness and effective heating controls. Gas saver technology will
be applied to boilers. These measures will be secured by condition.
75. The DAS indicates that the development will be designed to a minimum of Code
Level 3 however the MDD policy CC04 seeks to secure Level 4. As no pre-assessment
has been submitted, further details are required by condition. If it is intended that the
houses be built to less than Code level 4, full details of why Code Level 4 is not
achievable on site must be provided to the Local Authority at the conditions stage.
Flood risk, Drainage and Water:
Flood Zones and Flood risk
76. The NPPF carries forward the sequential approach to flood risk, establishing the
development should be directed away from the areas at highest risk and, where
development is necessary in areas at risk of flooding, it should be made safe without
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD submission policy
CC09 are consistent with this approach, requiring that new development should avoid
increasing and where possible reduce flood risk.
77. The EA have confirmed that the proposed development is located in Flood Zone 1,
where the risk of flooding is low and as such all forms of development - including ‘more
vulnerable’ uses - are acceptable. Therefore, the proposal complies with the sequential
test with regards flooding.
Drainage:
78. Whilst the use proposed is appropriate for Flood Zone 1, it is important to ensure
that adequate drainage exists at the site to ensure the appropriate handling of surface
water both for this development and the surrounding properties.
79. Paragraph 103 (footnote 20) of the NPPF sets out that a Flood Risk Assessment
(FRA) should be submitted for all developments over one hectare in size (this site is
approximately 2 hectares).
80. An FRA has been submitted with this application. Following advice from the
Councils Drainage Officer, this FRA was amended in November and December 2014
(Rev 4).
The latest amendment provided additional information in the following areas:
■ Soakaway dimensions, contributing areas and supporting calculations;
■ Infiltration rate justification including details of locations of soakage testing;

51

■ Updated calculations for the proposed permeable paving; and,
■ Identification of the volumes of surface water to be stored onsite, where these will be
stored and the contributing area for each drainage component.
81. In general the Drainage Officer considers that the information available relating to
flood risk of the site to be sufficient, and meets all of the requests that were issued in
December 2014. It is also considered that sufficient information has been provided
regarding the design of the soakaways, the calculations for permeable paving and
justification of the infiltration rates used within the design.
82. Concerns remain regarding the design of the Indicative Surface Water Drainage
Strategy. However it is considered that solutions to address this can be provided within
the proposed development without impacting on the form of the development. On this
basis the Drainage Officer and Thames Water recommend approval of the application
subject to full details of the Drainage System being agreed at the conditions stage.
Bridleway:
83. Bridleway 7 runs along the southern boundary of the development site. The Public
Rights of Way Officer (PROW) comments that no attempts have been made to directly
link the development to this bridleway.
84. A link was considered however discounted for two reasons. Firstly, a link between
houses would have been undesirable from a crime prevention design perspective.
Secondly, there would be little benefit of a link onto the bridleway given that the
alternative route to Vauxhall Drive via Vauxhall Park would have a similar walking
distance (i.e. to the bus stop on Vauxhall Drive).
85. A landscaping condition is also recommended in respect of the southern boundary,
and additional planting will have a knock-on effect of making the bridleway more
attractive for users.
Crime prevention:
86. The Crime Prevention & Design Advisor notes that the Design and Access
Statement has a specific section on Crime prevention (6.10). ”secured by design
principles to be adopted across the site”. To ensure that opportunities to design out
crime and/or the fear of crime and to promote community safety are not missed, it is
recommended that a condition requiring construction to “Secure By Design” accredited
standard be imposed.
Archaeology:
87. An archaeological desk-based assessment has been submitted in support of this
application (Thames Valley Archaeological Services, report 13/202, dated November
2013). The report, as previously outlined, states that the site has been previously
developed and that there will have been some impact on any archaeological remains
that may be present. However it concludes that the proposed development is of such a
scale that it raises the prospect of unexpected remains of any period being present.

52

88. The site lies on the fringes of the Loddon valley, close to its confluence with the
River Thames. Both valleys were a focus of prehistoric settlement and agriculture.
Locally this is evidenced by the number and frequency of prehistoric finds spots, even
though much of suburban Woodley was constructed with little or no archaeological
investigations or observations.
89. Berkshire Archaeology therefore recommends that a condition requiring an
archaeological investigation is attached to any planning permission granted, to mitigate
the impact of the development.
Biodiversity:
90. The Borough Ecologist has considered the impact of the development on protected
species, as discussed in the submitted Ecological Survey report (MWA, Ref: 3486, 16
December 2013. Paragraphs 6.4.11 and 6.4.12 of the report give appropriate avoidance
measures to avoid conflict with breeding birds. These can be included as a condition in
order to secure protection for this species group. An informative will also be placed on
the permission in the event that reptiles are found during the works.
Infrastructure Mitigation & Affordable Housing:
Service, Amenity and Infrastructure impact:
91. In line with policies CP4 of the Core Strategy and the Planning Advice Note,
contributions would be required for this scheme based on the provision on a net
provision of 68 new dwellings. The applicant is currently finalising a S106 agreement
with the Council for this scheme. The required level of contribution for this scheme is:
Affordable housing
Affordable Housing comm.
Sum
Education
Leisure, recreational and sports facilities
Country parks, access and biodiversity
Libraries
Highways
Air quality monitoring and assessment
Thames Basin Heathlands SPA
Monitoring fee
Legal costs (minimum)
Aa
TOTAL:

29.4%
£43,000.00
£719,161.00
£191,090.92
£39,304.00
£15,590.36
£266,500.00
£0.00
£0.00
£13,600.00
£1,000.00
£1,289,246.28

92. Thames Valley Police have requested contributions to cover impact on police
infrastructure. However in light of appeal decision APP/X0360/A/11/2151409, the
request for funding by the TVP fails the tests set out in CIL Regulation 122. The lack of
a contribution therefore does not justify the refusal of planning permission.
Affordable housing
93. The threshold for affordable housing is 5 dwellings or more or residential sites of

53

0.16 hectares or larger. The site exceeds this threshold and therefore there is a
requirement for the provision of affordable housing.
94. To meet the requirements of Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy, a minimum of 30% of
the total number of units (net) need to be provided as affordable housing. This equates
to 20.4 units out of the proposed 68 dwellings. The developer is proposing 20 affordable
housing units on site and the remaining 0.4 units as a commuted sum. Based on the
Viability Study undertaken by Levvel Ltd, the Council’s approach to calculating
commuted sums for affordable housing is based on the difference in the residual
development value of a scheme without on-site affordable housing and the same
scheme with on-site affordable housing. The commuted sum sought, in-lieu of 0.4 units,
is £43,000 index-linked towards affordable housing in the borough.
95. The Housing Strategy Officer is agreeable to the following proposed mix of 20 units
on site:
3 x 1 bed flats
6 x 2 bed flats
2 x 2 bed houses
5 x 2 bed houses
2 x 3 bed houses
2 x 4 bed houses

Shared Ownership
Shared Ownership
Shared Ownership
Social Rent
Social Rent
Social Rent

96. There is a focus on flats for shared ownership and the houses for social rent as this
would help meet the priority need for family sized rented properties in Woodley. As such
no objection is raised.

CONCLUSION
The application is a full application and proposes 68 dwellings with associated roads,
parking, amenity space, landscaping. The site was included in policy SAL02 of the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) as an allocated housing site.
The application has attracted a number of local objections, principally in respect of the
proposed new access. However the Highway Authority considers the safety of the
access and traffic implications to be acceptable.
The site adjoins commercial uses to the north of the site, and the proposed mitigation
measures ensure an acceptable noise environment for the proposed residential
development, whilst also building in safeguards for the future should activity change in
nature or increase in activity.
The proposed number of dwellings represents an appropriate density of development
(32.4 dph) providing space for adequately sized gardens and adequate landscaping
within the site.
It is therefore considered that the scheme is compliant with the development plan and
as such is recommended for conditional approval.

54

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

55

This page is intentionally left blank

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 121.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2633

Applicant
Location

No weeks on Parish
day
of
committee
15/15
Shinfield

Wokingham Borough Council
Shinfield C Of E Junior School
Chestnut Crescent
Shinfield
Reading

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield South

Scheme
of
Delegation

Postcode RG2 9EJ

Proposed erection of additional 860sqm floorspace to include 6 new
classrooms, SEN/group room, improved library facilities and studio hall.
Also the change of use of 8858sqm of agricultural land to non-residential
institution for use by the school with parking and additional features.
Type
Full
PS Category 18
Officer
Ashley Smith

Proposal

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 01/04/15
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The proposal is for a number of alterations to Shinfield Junior School. The application
will provide new classrooms, SEN facilities, studios and library as well as allow the
reconfiguring of play surfaces, sports facilities and increased parking.
The need for the new classroom space has been identified in the on-going strategic
review into primary school provision, which showed a likely shortfall in primary and
infant school provision as a result of rising numbers of primary age children in
Wokingham Borough. Shinfield has an urgent need for increased capacity and the
proposed new classrooms and facilities will provide space for an additional form of entry
required to meet the Borough’s educational need.
The application is brought before the Committee as the site is owned by Wokingham
Borough Council and the proposed development will result in additional staff and pupils
attending the school.

85

PLANNING STATUS
•
•
•
•
•
•

Modest Development Location (All land with new buildings or hard surfacing is
within settlement limits)
Countryside (Area for replacement sports field)
SPA 5km and 7km Mitigation Zone
5km Nuclear consultation zone
Sand and gravel extraction
Land liable to flooding (Existing and replacement sports field)

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION by the
Head of Development, subject to the ecological holding reasons being
satisfactorily overcome, no objection being raised by the Environment Agency
and conditions as follows (as well as any additional conditions required by the
Environment Agency or Borough Ecologist):
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
2. Before any part of the development is commenced (with the exception of the
construction of replacement play space and creation of additional playing field), samples
and details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
buildings shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant Policy: Core Strategy Policy CP3
3. This permission is in respect of the following drawings:
Drawing No

Title

Full schedule of all relevant plans to be included in Member’s update.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

86

Reason:
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
4. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of demolition
or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than between the
hours of 7.00am and 6pm Monday to Friday and 8.00am and 1pm Saturday, and at no
time on Sundays or Bank or national holidays, unless agreed in writing with the LPA.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and disturbance
outside the permitted hours during the construction period. An earlier start time than
usually permitted is recommended in this case in the interests of health and safety.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
5. No development (with the exception of the construction of replacement play space
and creation of additional playing field) shall commence until a surface water drainage
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the
hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is
completed.
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality,
improve habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance of these.
Relevant Policies: NPPF

6. No development of the new school buildings shall occur until the replacement sports
field has been provided.
Reason: To ensure the continued availability of sporting and play facilities at the site.
Not replacing the field may have led to a different recommendation being made on the
site.
Relevant Policies: NPPF

7. No part of the new building hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the approved
plans, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The vehicle
parking shall not be used for any other purpose other than parking and the turning
space shall not be used for any other purpose other than turning.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to avoid adverse impact on
the public highway in the interests of highway safety.
Relevant Policies: CP6 and NPPF.

8. No development shall commence (with the exception of the construction of

87

replacement play space and creation of additional playing field) until details of secure
and covered bicycle parking shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and shall be implemented as approved before occupation and
permanently retained.
Reason: In order to ensure bicycle parking facilities are provided and encourage use of
sustainable modes of travel.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP6

9. Before any phase of the development is commenced (with the exception of the
construction of replacement play space and creation of additional playing field),
provision shall be made to accommodate all site operatives, visitors and construction
vehicles loading, off-loading, parking and turning within the site during the construction
period, in accordance with details to be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The provision should be maintained and used at all times.
Reason: To prevent queuing and parking off site, in the interests of highway safety and
convenience.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policy CP6
10. Prior to the commencement of the development (with the exception of the
construction of replacement play space and creation of additional playing field), a Travel
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
travel plan shall include a programme of implementation and proposals to promote
alternative forms of transport to and from the site, other than by the private car and
provide for periodic review. The travel plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and
reviewed as so-approved.
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP6

11. All vehicular access to the site shall be derived from Chestnut Crescent; no direct
vehicular access shall be created to Millworth Lane.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of highway safety.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP6

12. The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to the current relevant
BREEAM requirements at the time of commencement of development. The
development shall also meet and exceed the statutory requirements for water resource
management.
Reason: To encourage environmentally sustainable development.
Relevant Policy:
NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP1, Sustainable Design and

88

Construction SPD.
13. The planned number of children attending the school shall not exceed 360 unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to assess whether or not the highway network and parking
at the site can safely accommodate increase in pupil numbers.
Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy CP6
14. No development (with the exception of the creation of the additional playing field),
shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft landscaping, which shall specify species,
planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs to be planted. In particular the
scheme shall include a replacement hedgerow on the perimeter of the new sports field
and details of any bridging or fencing to be provided. The scheme shall also detail all
boundary treatments to be provided on site. The works approved shall be carried out in
the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building(s). Any
trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting, die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policy CP3.
15. Before the development hereby permitted (with the exception of the construction of
replacement play space and creation of additional playing field) is commenced details of
all boundary treatments shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first
occupation of the development or phased as agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall be maintained in the approved form for so long as the
development remains on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6

16. Vegetation removal on site shall only be conducted outside the bird breeding
season, (March to August inclusive), or under the supervision and control of an
ecologist if undertaken in the period March to August inclusive
Reason: To ensure that the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as amended is complied
with and breeding birds, their nests and eggs are not harmed or damaged.

17. No development (with the exception of the creation of the additional playing field),
shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local

89

Planning Authority a scheme to mitigate for the loss of Invertebrate Species habitat on
the site. Once agreed the mitigation shall be implemented in full and retained for the
lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure the continues protection of protected species
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7
Informatives:
1. The development accords with the policies contained within the adopted development
plan and there are no material considerations which warrant a different decision being
taken.
2. The applicant is reminded that this approval is only granted subject to conditions
which must be complied with prior to certain elements of the development starting on
site. The information required should be formally submitted to the Council, with the
relevant fee, once the details have been agreed the development should be carried out
only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case officer
to discuss.
3. Should any great crested newts or evidence of great crested newts be found prior to
or during the development, all works must stop immediately and an ecological
consultant contacted for further advice and Wokingham Borough Council informed
before works can proceed. All contractors working on site should be made aware of the
advice and provided with the contact details of a relevant ecological consultant.
4. The requisite Travel plan would need to comply with the latest national and local
guidance:
1) NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport)
2) The Essential Guide to Travel Planning (DfT, March 2008)
3) Delivering Travel Plans Through the Planning Process (DfT, April 2009)
4) A Guide on Travel Plans for Developers (DfT)
5) Making Residential Travel Plans Work (DfT, June 2007) All accessible at:
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/sustainable/travelplans/
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-local-transport
Also:
WBC Transport Plan 3 and Active Travel Plan 2011 – 2026
WBC Workplace Travel Plan Guidance and Residential Travel Plan Guidance
Documents, covering workplace travel plans and residential travel plans provide local
guidance and are available on the Borough’s website.
RECENT PLANNING HISTORY
•
F/2008/0554 - Removal of existing prefabricated classroom and single storey
extensions to create two classrooms and toilets. Approved 09/05/08

90

•
F/2007/1683 - Proposed erection of a new building to be used as a childrens
centre. Class D1. Approved 20/08/2007
•
F/2005/4140 - Proposed extension to front elevation of school to provide
additional office space medical bay and disabled WC. Plus canopy. Approved
25/04/2005
•
F/2000/2853 - Proposed extension to school to form additional modular
classroom with toilets and corridor. Approved 07/02/2001
SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Land use(s)
Proposed increase in floorspace
Proposed parking spaces

Approx. 2.65 hectares
D1
860 m2
42 spaces (currently 17 spaces on
site)
240 pupils
360 pupils
11 additional full time equivalent (from
32 to 43)

Existing School Capacity
Proposed increased pupil capacity
Proposed increase in Staff Numbers

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Highways
No objection (Subject to conditions 7-11 )
Tree
and No objection raised (subject to conditions 14-15)
Landscape
Environment
Formal response to follow in the members update.
Agency
Ecology
Holding objection, more information is required with regards bat
and reptile mitigation, (the applicant is currently agreeing a
mitigation strategy with the Ecologist this will be reported on in
the members update). The Ecologist recommends conditions 16
and 17.
Environmental
No objection
Health
Shinfield
Parish The parish council supports this application provided that officers
agree a boundary treatment for the new south eastern perimeter
Council
of the site. The Parish also had significant feedback on travel
plan and parking issues and requested that these be particularly
considered in the travel plan. Full Parish comments are
appended to this report.

REPRESENTATIONS
•

One letter of comment received the letter stated that whilst the author did not
wish to formally object to the proposal they wished to highlight that the scheme
might cause traffic and parking problems.

91

APPLICANTS POINTS
•

The proposal provides essential facilities required to meet the Borough’s current
and future educational needs.

PLANNING POLICY
National policies
National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy:
CP1: Sustainable Development
CP2: Inclusive Communities
CP3: General Development Principles
CP6: Managing Travel Demand
CP7: Biodiversity
MDD DPD Local Plan:
CC02: Development Limits
CC04: Sustainable Design and construction
CC06: Noise
CC05: Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC07: Parking
CC09: Flood Risk
CC10: Sustainable Drainage
TB21: Landscape Character
TB23: Biodiversity and development
PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of Development
1. The land being used for the new buildings and hard surfacing are located within a
‘Modest Development’ settlement location and as such these elements of the
development are acceptable in principle, providing that they comply with the principles
stated in the Core Strategy. Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy aims to ensure that new
development contributes to the formation of sustainable and inclusive communities
through the provision of community facilities (including educational buildings), and that
the requirements of children are addressed. It is recognised that the provision of new
school buildings would contribute towards addressing the requirements of children
through the provision of an important community facility (as listed in Core Strategy

92

paragraph 4.17).
2. The proposed playing field extension is located outside of settlement limits. Policy
CP11 of the Core Strategy indicates development should normally be located within
settlement limits, however essential community facilities that cannot be accommodated
within development limits or support leisure uses can be considered appropriate. It is
considered in this case that the provision of replacement sports fields (facilitating the
enhancement of a school) constitutes an essential community facility. The provision of
the playing fields is a green and open use, that is broadly compatible with the leisure
exceptions of CP11. The impact on rural character is considered later in this report.
3. Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy aims to ensure that new development contributes to
the formation of sustainable and inclusive communities through the provision of
community facilities (including educational buildings), and that the requirements of
children are addressed. Policy CP3 states that development must be appropriate in
terms of its scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to
the area in which it is located and must be of high quality design without detriment to the
amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers.
4. The Wokingham Borough Council Primary Strategy was agreed by Executive on 25th
October 2012. This strategy established that Wokingham Borough requires additional
primary school places to meet statutory duties set out in section 14 of the Education Act
1996. This area has been identified by the Education Authority as needing additional
capacity and as such it is considered that there is a need for the development which can
be assigned significant weight. This expansion is designed mainly to meet the needs of
the existing population as well as future expansion expected in the area.
5. Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states that great importance should be attached to
ensuring that sufficient choice of school places are available to meet the needs of
existing and new communities. Paragraph 72 states that Local Planning Authorities
should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this
requirement, and should look to approve development that will widen choice in
education. The NPPF states that great weight should be given to the need to create,
expand or alter schools.
Impact on Character
6. The main school building was erected in the early 1960s and is predominantly single
storey in nature contained within a well vegetated site off Chestnut Crescent. Whilst the
main school building is of 1960s single storey appearance there have been a number of
modern additions to the site some of which have integrated more successfully than
others.
7. The proposed siting of the new school building would be set far back in the extended
site and would not be significantly visible from Chestnut Crescent due to the separation

93

distances involved and because of the screening provided by the existing school. The
proposed building is considered relatively well sited and is positioned close enough to
the main buildings to preventing substantial spread of development across the site and
importantly is located within settlement limits.
8. The proposed new hall building is considered to be well designed and to enhance the
appearance of the school. The building is proposed to be predominantly clad in natural
timber with a flat roof which will integrate well the existing school building which is
similarly constructed. Wide fenestration and doors facing on to the schools open
spaces providing visual interest and creating a well-lit and attractive environment for
learning. The projecting single storey element, together with the use of differing
materials (natural timber, metal roof cladding and wide fenestration) for the elevations
would break up the volume and visual bulk.

9. The proposal is well screened by the existing school buildings to the north and west
and by vegetation to the South. The building will be visible from longer views from the
east, however is considered to be of satisfactory scale and form and acceptable in
design. As such it would integrate well with its surroundings. In cases where longer
views are possible, the building will be viewed against the backdrop of the existing
school and as such will not appear unduly prominent in the locality and in any case is
considered a positive addition to the school site.
10. The only area where the development is likely to be significantly more visible from is
from the south at Millworth Lane as some of the onsite vegetation is to be cleared to
allow for the enhancement of the car park. There are no significant character concerns
over the creation of the car park, whilst this area will be more visible, some screening
will be retained outside of the application site adjacent to the private track. In any case
the car park is located within settlement limits and would appear to be an ordinary
feature at such a school. The car park proposes the retention of landscaping and this
will help mitigate views from Millworth Lane. The multi-use games areas proposed to
the rear of the school are inconspicuous, and largely make use of existing
hardstandings, such play areas are considered common features at school sites and
are therefore considered acceptable.
11. The enclosure and change of use of additional land for use as a school playing field
is considered acceptable in principle (as detailed above), the land will clearly be
associated with the school and its use for educational purposes and as such will not
significantly depart from local character. In terms of harm to the countryside this impact

94

is considered to be very limited. The land will effectively be in a leisure use as it will be
used as a playing field. Although paraphernalia such as goal posts could have a slight
urbanising effect upon the countryside this is considered acceptable in the context of a
leisure use and due to the essential educational need of the school.
12. Educational development of this nature is common place within the Borough. Other
classroom extensions and school hall buildings can be seen at many schools in the
area and there will be no significant character impact on the school site especially given
its appropriate positioning and good design. It is considered that the proposals are of an
acceptable form in relation to the locality and the host site and as such the proposal
complies with policies CP3 & CP11 of the Wokingham Core Strategy.
Trees and Landscape:
13. The Tree and Landscape officer notes that parts of the scheme require removal of
vegetation and are in relatively close proximity to boundary trees. Whilst not raising an
objection to the scheme the Tree and Landscape Officer requires a scheme of
additional planting including a replacement hedgerow around the new playing field in
order to help offset any potential impacts of the development (Condition 14).
Impact on Neighbours
14. In terms of increased noise and disturbance, the school is an established
educational facility with other educational buildings situated with similar proximity to
neighbouring sites as the proposed new developments. The creation of new educational
facilities will lead to an increase in pupil numbers however this is not considered to
significantly increase impact upon neighbours given the separation distance involved
and mature boundaries. The provision of the car park adjacent to Millworth Lane is
considered unlikely to cause significant noise and disturbance, and during the day this
disturbance is likely to be less great than noise from the existing play space which is
being relocated further away from the nearby residential dwellings.
15. The proposed building would be sited some 62m away from the nearest residential
dwelling (Rangitiki). Due to the significant separation distance of the new built form from
the nearest residential properties, it is considered that the proposals will not lead to any
significant loss of light or overbearing to the detriment of adjacent properties. All other
works are of a minor nature or are located a significant distance from properties and as
such are not considered to cause harm with regards these issues. As such the
proposals are considered to accord with CP3 of the Wokingham Borough Core Strategy
with regards loss of light and overbearing.
16. It is recommended that an ‘hours of construction’ condition be utilised on the
scheme to avoid noise and loss of amenity at inappropriate times. Wokingham’s
standard hours of construction condition usually allows works to commence at 8am, it is
however recommended in this case that work is allowed to commence at 7am on

95

weekdays (but not at weekends). This is to reduce conflict and health and safety issues
from contractors and works deliveries arriving at a similar time to school children in the
mornings. It is considered by officers that avoiding this conflict should be given more
weight than the potential for slightly greater loss of neighbouring amenity during the
construction period from earlier construction noise (Condition 4).
Access and movement
Access and traffic impact:
17. It is proposed to continue to access the school via Chestnut Crescent. The Highway
Authority has no objection to this in principle. The school’s internal road layout has
been amended to provide additional parking within the site and improved turning area
for service and delivery vehicles. To minimise conflict between cars and pedestrians,
the access will be restricted to staff and visitors of the school and adjacent Children’s
Centre. No drop-off will be provided within the school grounds.
18. In the interests of highway safety, the Highway Authority would not support any
future access from Millworth Lane and have recommended that a condition be included
on the permission to prevent vehicular access on to Millworth Lane (condition 11).
19. During school times, Chestnut Crescent operates as an informal one-way system
with cars generally travelling in a clockwise direction. The continuation of this shall be
monitored by the Council’s Traffic & Road Safety team and outside of this planning
application consideration would be given as to whether this would benefit from a formal
one-way system. Although this would have some impact on residents it may allow for
more formal on-street parking spaces to be created and minimise impact on residential
access. Such a measure would require a Traffic Regulation Order and this is a
separate process from planning with a separate highways consultation. In this instance
it is not considered appropriate to link it to any planning consent.
20. An assessment of the Chestnut Crescent/Hyde End Road junction has been carried
out and demonstrates that the junction will operate within capacity after the extension
has been completed. The assessment has applied 2019 traffic flows to ensure that this
is relevant at the time when the extension has been completed. It is acknowledged that
there are wider measures being promoted by other parties to assist traffic flow on the
A327 corridor and these would benefit all road users. The Transport Statement refers to
proposed changes in school catchment areas and how the number of pupils coming
from other areas such as Arborfield and South Reading should reduce once this takes
place.
Traffic Impact & Parking:

21. The Transport Statement contains details on the number of pupils expected to come
to school by car. If the school was operating at full capacity then potentially there could

96

be 234 pupils coming by car after the extension. This would be the equivalent of 78
additional pupils potentially travelling by car. This is not however the actual number of
cars as it is acknowledged that there is likely to be a reduction in this figure due to car
sharing and siblings. The Highway Authority recommends that the School Travel Plan
contains specified targets to reduce the number of pupils coming by car and mitigate the
impact of the development.
22. The parking survey indicates that approx. 68 spaces are available within Chestnut
Crescent (in the form of a mixture of on-street and off-street spaces). The parking
survey demonstrates that these spaces can be fully occupied during PM peak pick-up
time. The development will create an additional 25 parking spaces for staff and visitors
(secured by condition 7). This should help to alleviate some of the parking from
staff/visitors on Chestnut Crescent therefore giving more capacity to parents and
residents.
23. There are several areas that parents currently park for the Shinfield schools.
Included in this is the use of existing business car parks. One such car park - former
Royal Oak public house - is no longer available as this has been converted to a
convenience store and it is likely that this will be restricted to customer parking. The
School Green public car park should experience an increase in capacity due to a new
staff car park associated with Shinfield Primary School being constructed. This would
benefit parents, particularly those with children at both schools.
24. As part of the Shinfield village centre re-development there is likely to be some
changes to parking in the area and it is hoped that arrangements can be made to
accommodate additional parent’s parking during school times. Through the School
Travel Plan there should also be continual commitment to explore potential areas of
parking and incorporate park and stride initiatives where appropriate.
Sustainable Travel:

25. The applicant proposes to produce a new School Travel Plan however further
details are required by condition to ensure that this is acceptable (Condition 10). The
success of the Travel Plan is considered to be a fundamental factor in encouraging and
supporting journeys to/from school by modes of travel other than private car. It is
important that the school takes ownership of the Travel Plan. It is also encouraged to
work with Shinfield Primary and Nursery Schools to development a comprehensive
Travel Plan to cater for linked trips to the schools. This should include assessing school
start/finish times for all schools to help minimise parking and traffic. Targets within the
Travel Plan should be regularly monitored and it should also include measures to be
taken if targets are not met. The Travel Plan will be subject to continual review and the
Council’s Travel Plan co-ordinator will work with the school to ensure that it is robust
and effective.
26. New cycle parking areas have been proposed within the school grounds for both

97

staff and pupils (secured by condition 8). Detailed design of these storage areas will be
required by condition ensuring that they are secure, covered and of sufficient size to
cater for children’s scooters as well as bicycles. The usage of the cycle storage
provision should be monitored as part of the Travel Plan. It is suggested that the trigger
for additional cycle storage should be when demand exceeds 85% of supply and this
should be delivered at a level which corresponds with the target included in the Travel
Plan.
Drainage & Flooding:
Drainage:
27. The proposals will lead to an increase in built form on the site which would
potentially increase surface run off, as such it is recommended that the development
should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) and a condition is
recommended to this effect. (condition 5)
Flooding
28. The existing & proposed replacement playing fields are located in Land Liable to
Flooding. As the existing provision is located in land liable to flooding it is considered
that there will not be any decrease in the quality of playing field provided (with regards
flooding or drainage impact). The Environment Agency has informally indicated that it is
unlikely to object to the playing field relocation as no significant development is located
within the Land Liable to Flooding; the EA is hoping to provide a formal response by the
committee date.
Provision of Playground/Playing field Space
29. Due to the increase in the site size as a result of the acquisition of the additional
land the amount of play space and playing fields on the site is actually increased. The
proposal includes a new 0.8 hectare sports pitch, new multi-use games areas and a
new studio hall and as such the proposal is considered to significantly increase the
quality of the play facilities available at the school.
30. As the existing provision is located in land liable to flooding it is considered that
there will not be any decrease in the quality of playing field provided (with regards
flooding or drainage impact)
Atomic Weapon Establishment Zone (AWE)
31. The site falls within the 5km of the Burghfield AWE. MDD Local Plan policy TB04
requires that potential impact upon safety with proximity of the AWE. Policy TB04
requires that schemes over certain thresholds require the production of additional
information to demonstrate that there will not be an unacceptable impact upon safety
and emergency response. This application does not trigger these thresholds as it will
not increase visitors to the site by more than 500 people, and as such no further

98

information on the potential impact on the AWE off-site emergency plan is required at
the planning stage.
Mineral extraction consultation zone
32. The proposed development is located in an area of the Borough where extraction of
minerals could be possible. The Replacement Minerals Local Plan for Berkshire sets out
the approach to planning for minerals which states that Local Planning Authorities will
oppose development that would cause the sterilisation of minerals deposits, unless:- the mineral deposit is of no commercial interest
- it can be demonstrated that there is an overriding need for development
- there is likely to such strong environmental or other objection that extraction of
minerals would be unlikely to be permitted
33. There is evidence of historic mineral working in the wider area but there are no
operational mineral workings in or adjacent to the site at present and there are no
dormant mineral permissions or allocated preferred areas for future minerals working at
this site.
34. The site is currently a school and the land surrounding it is identified as a strategic
development location, as such it is unlikely to ever be utilised for mineral extraction. The
proposal could affect access to potential mineral reserve if any were on site, however
the proposal is considered to have a negligible potential significance to mineral
provision in Berkshire and the modular classroom could be removed meaning the
impact is only temporary. Given the above constraints and the demonstrated overriding
need for the development it is considered that the proposal is not unacceptable in terms
of impact on mineral extraction.
Archaeology:
35. The Borough Archaeologist notes that Shinfield C of E School is in a location within
an area of archaeological potential. There are numerous records in the Historic
Environment Records that indicate the possible presence of archaeology within this
area dating to the prehistoric, Iron Age, Roman and medieval periods.
36. Excavations to the east of the site revealed a number of undated ditches, whilst
excavations slightly further away to the north-west at Hollow Lane/Church Lane
uncovered evidence for prehistoric settlement, dating to Iron Age. The sire therefore has
the potential to contain buried remains which may be impacted by the proposed
development.
37. In order to assess the potential for archaeology and the impact of the development
the Borough Archaeologist recommends that a small scale scheme of archaeological
work is undertaken in the form of trial trenching.

99

Ecology
Bats
38. The submitted report identified potential roost features in Building 3 and rates this
building as having medium potential to support bats. In order to discount these features
it is recommended in Bat Surveys: Good Practice Guidelines to follow up the preliminary
ecological appraisal with activity surveys – and this is a recommendation in the
report. This preliminary ecological appraisal was undertaken at a time when bats are
not active. Consequently needs to submit activity survey findings of the features
identified made in the optimal season (May - August inclusive) and an outline bat
mitigation strategy (including drawings to show any specific modification to the
replacement dwelling to accommodate bats) should bats be discovered. The ecologist
recommends that though the risk is relatively low this work is undertaken before formal
planning permission is issued. As such it is recommended that the committee reach a
resolution to delegate the application to the Head of Development Management to
approve subject to know significant issues arising in the ecological surveys.
Reptiles
39. The preliminary ecological appraisal has identified the site as having potential to
support reptiles and identified specific features in the target notes that would be of
interest to reptiles for hibernation, basking, and cover. The report classifies this
potential as ‘low’ but then recommendations then include further survey work for reptiles
in the active season in order to inform appropriate mitigation measures. The Ecologist
notes that there has been little assessment of the scale and scope of the proposed work
and the potential impact on reptiles if they are present. The ecologist states that, in
order for the local planning authority to be confident that favourable conservation status
can be maintained for reptiles and that the risk of injury and killing of reptiles is
minimised, the fall-back position is for the survey work for reptiles to be undertaken and
the results are submitted along with any relevant mitigation strategy. Similar to the bat
issue above this will need to be done in the relevant survey period and as such it is
recommended that the committee reach a resolution to delegate the application to the
Head of Development Management to approve subject to know significant issues
arising in the ecological surveys.
Breeding Birds
40. The Borough Ecologist is satisfied that the preliminary ecological appraisal has
accurately identified the level of risk to birds and that the protection of nesting birds can
be secured by condition (Condition 16).
Great Crested Newt

100

41. Whilst the terrestrial habitat on site may have the potential to support foraging great
crested newt if it were in proximity to a suitable breeding pond the Borough Ecologist
considers that it is unlikely that there is a local population present due to the
remoteness of the site from any pond.
Dormouse
42. The ecologist considers that that the risk to dormouse from this development would
be negligible and no further survey work is required for this species.
Invertebrate Species
43. A data search was undertaken to inform the preliminary ecological appraisal and
has revealed that a species of principal importance, Stag beetle (Lucanus cervus), has
been recorded within 50 metres of the site. The removal of some mature trees, that are
on their way to providing suitable saproxylic conditions, will be an impoverishment of
habitat for this species in the area. The provision of invertebrate habitat although given
as a potential enhancement, is a suitable compensation for the tree loss and could be
secured by condition (Condition 17).
CONCLUSION
It is considered that the creation of the new school facilities and additional teaching
accommodation is acceptable in principle and is strongly supported by the current
Planning Policy Context. The proposal would not be significantly harmful to the
streetscene, countryside or the character of the area. Neighbouring properties will not
be adversely affected by significant loss of amenity as a result of the proposal.
The Highway Authority is satisfied, subject to a travel plan, that the proposal will not
have a significant unsatisfactory impact on highway safety and significant additional car
parking is provided as part of the scheme.
The proposal therefore accords with the policies contained within the Core Strategy
national and regional policy and this application is recommended for conditional
approval subject to the resolution of the ecological matters and the Environment Agency
raising no objection to the proposal.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Development
0118 974 6445
Management

Email
development.control@wokingham.gov.uk

101

This page is intentionally left blank

103

104

105

106

107

This page is intentionally left blank

Shinfield Parish Council planning observations:
F/2014/2633
Proposal

Planning Officer
Comment

Shinfield C Of E Junior School Chestnut Crescent Shinfield
Proposed erection of additional 860sqm floor space to include 6 new classrooms
SEN/group room improved library facilities and studio hall. Also the change of
use of 8858sqm of agricultural land to non-residential institution for use by the
school with parking and additional features.
Ashley Smith
Comments by
1 January 2015
The parish council supports this application provided that officers agree a
boundary treatment for the new south eastern perimeter of the site that
effectively screens the extension from the flood plain SANG areas.
The parish council has major concerns over the travel plan for the school. The
Transport Statement prepared by WSP fails to acknowledge the existence of
Shinfield Nursery and Infants School which feeds St Mary’s Primary School and
therefore many parents/carers. are delivering and collecting children from both
schools and park anywhere to enable them to carry out this function. So you
have to view the overall parking and traffic in the areas of School Green,
Chestnut Crescent and immediate surrounding roads and places.
The nursery and infant school is also undergoing expansion and serious parking
issues have been identified at that school and will become worse, therefore it is
essential that the two schools work together and develop a combined travel
plan, this should be a condition of approval of any planning approval. There is
no evidence to suggest that any cooperation has taken place between the two
schools and indeed the longer stays indicated at 15.30 are as a direct result of
staggered school times and parents/carers collecting children from both schools
and forced to wait. The parish council has been working with the Nursery and
Infant School to address these parking problems problem and considers the
situation to become much worse over the coming year or so especially during
the construction of additional accommodation at both schools.
We question the figures produced by WSP which assume that there can be a
reduction in travel to school by car from the current percentages using
comparisons from other schools. This totally ignores the fact that many
parents/carers using this method then go on to another destination, such as
employment which cannot be accessed by existing or even improved public
transport. The figure of 65% Car/van is roughly equivalent to the the
percentages experienced at the Nursery and Infant School.
There should be a condition on approval requiring WBC to introduce one way
traffic around Chestnut Crescent and consideration given to enforceable parking
restrictions at key points in this road and roads serving the Nursery and Infant
School.
The transport statement ignores the proposed changes to the School Green
area as a result of development of the Village centre, the sale of Shinfield House
and the recent opening of the Coop food store on the site of the former Royal
Oak public house which will affect ability to park outside these buildings and the
impending sale of the British Legion which again will reduce the number of
existing parking spaces.
Overall we consider this report to be a poor reflection of what actually happens
in the area given that the two schools combined will have some 660 pupils once
expansion has taken place. We suggest that WSP are requested to reconsider
their report taking account of the total numbers of pupils being delivered to this
general area

109

110

Agenda Item 122.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/0940

Applicant

No weeks on
day of
committee
44/13

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Swallowfield

Swallowfield

Scheme of
Delegation

Bellway Homes Thames Valley Limited

Location

Willow Tree Works Swallowfield Street
Postcode RG7 1QX
Swallowfield Reading
Proposal
Proposed redevelopment of site to provide 38 dwellings including
affordable housing, hard and soft landscaping, open space, parking
provision and associated
Type
Full
PS Category 7
Officer
Cris Lancaster
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 1st April 2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
This application was deferred at the Meeting held on 10th December 2015 in order for
full hydrodynamic modelling of all surface water routes on site for both the pre and post
development levels to be submitted and considered by the Council’s drainage
consultants, WSP. This has now been undertaken and is considered in the report.
This is a full application and proposes redevelopment of the site to provide 38 dwellings
including affordable housing, hard and soft landscaping, open space, parking provision
and associated infrastructure. The principle means of access is via the existing main
access onto Swallowfield Street with six dwellings served by two independent accesses,
also from Swallowfield Street.
The developed part of the site is within Swallowfield which is identified in Policy CP9 of
the adopted Core Strategy as a Limited Development Location where development is
acceptable in principle.
The access, open space etc are outside the settlement boundary within Countryside.
However, the proposals utilise the existing access and site road, albeit modified and the
impact on the countryside is therefore not considered to be significant. The open space
and play area will be available for use by the wider community.
The application has attracted a large number of local objections, principally in respect of
flood and drainage impacts but also in terms of the density and scale of development,
traffic impacts and detailed matters such as loss of privacy and adverse impacts on
wildlife.
The Council working with its flood and drainage consultants, WSP, have
sought to engage with the resident’s Flood Resilience Group (SFRG) in order to
address local concerns. WSP is satisfied that the additional modelling undertaken by
the applicant is acceptable and has no objections to the proposal subject to conditions.

111

The NPPF identifies three sustainability roles, environmental, social and economic.
Environmental
It is considered that the development will result in an appropriate design and density
which would not materially harm the character and appearance of the surrounding area
and would not undermine the spatial distinction between the settlement and the
countryside
Whilst the distance from services and facilities would weigh somewhat against the
proposal, this must be balanced against the fact that the Policy CP17 of the Core
Strategy identifies Swallowfield as a village that can accommodate developments of
generally 25 units.
Therefore, the Core Strategy accepts that Swallowfield is not
unsustainable, albeit that this is limited. It must therefore follow that the general location
of the site is acceptable for residential development.
In addition, the relative
sustainability of the site must be measured against the current use of the site where
available evidence suggests that recent occupiers relied heavily on use of private
vehicles. The site was also relatively underused by the previous occupiers. The site is
largely unrestricted by planning controls and whilst current evidence suggests that there
is no demand for the site, if it were to re-open it could operate in a relatively unrestricted
manner. In contrast, the current application is subject of full control with an opportunity
to impose restrictive conditions as well as secure mitigate and local improvements by
way of a Section 106 agreement. There are no highway safety issues and the
developer has agreed to make contributions to improve the local footpaths to the front of
the site.
The applicants’ commitment to Code 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes, thereby
moving to low carbon energy, is positive.
Whilst this aspect of the development has caused most local concern, the Council’s
consultants, WSP confirm that the development would not pose a flood risk and
therefore recommend approval subject to conditions.
Social
The development would contribute to the support and strengthening of the local
community and would provide housing to meet local needs by providing a mix of
housing types and tenures. Concern has been expressed by several residents and the
Parish about physical linkages to the centre of the village. However, this is not an
isolated location and the development proposed is within the developed edge of the
village. The development does not preclude additional linkages were third party land to
become available. The development would create an area of open space and a
children’s play area open to local residents. Contributions are made by S106
agreement towards libraries, schools, children’s play, pitches and recreation,
countryside access, sports and swimming pool provision.
Economic
The development would enhance the economy of the community. New residents are
likely to support local services and businesses.
The application is before the Committee as it is major development. The proposals are
considered to be acceptable and therefore it is recommended that planning permission

112

be granted subject to conditions and completion of a satisfactory Section 106 Legal
Agreement.
Community Infrastructure Levy Community Infrastructure Levy has been adopted
with effect from 6th April 2015. Whilst the recommendation assumes completion of the
legal agreement prior to that date any delay will inevitably take the decision after 6 th
April.
As such, the Council and the developer are working to produce a legal
agreement which allows for both scenarios. An update will be given at the Committee.
PLANNING STATUS
 Limited Development
 Great Crested Newt Consultation Zone
 SSSI 500m buffer
 Sand and Gravel
 Nuclear Consultation Zone
 Affordable Housing 40% (5 or more dwellings or 0.16ha)
 Flood Zone 1 (Note: The EA’s consultation response note that it previously reviewed
and approved the hydraulic modelling report for the site which demonstrates that the
site is in Flood Zone 1 and not Flood Zone 3, as shown on its Flood Maps for
Planning)
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION
subject to the following:
A.
Prior completion of a section 106 agreement as outlined in this report
to provide for contributions to local services, amenities, infrastructure and
affordable housing.
B.
In the event of the application becoming CIL liable, the Head of
Development Management be authorised to approve the application and
issue a CIL liability notice in conjunction with the prior completion of a
section 106 agreement to secure the provision of affordable housing.
C. Conditions and Informatives
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
2. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
buildings and all hardstandings shall have first been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory. Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.
3. This permission is in respect of the following drawings:

113

Drawing Title
Site Plan
Location Plan Recent
Housing Development
Site Plan Proposed
Development
Site Plan Boundary
Treatments
Street Elevations Sheet 1
Street Elevations Sheet 2
Street Elevations Sheet 3
Street Elevations Sheet 4
Street Elevations Sheet 5
House Types

Dimensioned Gardens
Site Plan
Plot 12 Floor Plans
Plot 12 Elevations Sheet
One
Plot 12 Elevations Sheet
Two
Plots 16-18 Ground Floor
Plan
Plots 16-18 First Floor
Plan
Plots 16-18 – Elevations –
sheet 1
Plots 16-18 – Elevations –
Sheet 2
Plots 16-18 – Elevations –
Sheet 3
Plots 13,14&15 – Floor
Plan
Plots 13,14&15 –
Elevations – Sheet 1
Plots 13, 14&15 –
Elevations – Sheet 2
Plots 13, 14&15 –
Elevations – Sheet 3

Drawing No
2521-10
2521-13

Revision
L
C

2521-15

H

2521-16

H

2521-17
2521-18
2521-19
2521-20
2521-21
2521A01-A03

A

2521 A101-103
2521 B01-B03
2521 C/D01-03
2521 C101-03
2521 F01-03
2521 G01-03
2521 H01-03
2521J01-03
2521K01-03
2521 L01-03
2521- 24
2521-25
2521-A-01
2521-A-02

F
B
A
A

2521-A-03

A

2521-A1-03

A

2521C_D-01

A

2521C_D-02A

A

2521C_D-03A

A

2521C_D04
2521C_D-05
2521 D-01 (Terrace)

A

2521 D-02 (Terrace)

A

2521 D-03 (Terrace)

A

114

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
4. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and
approved in writing a scheme of landscaping which shall specify species, planting
sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs to be planted. The works approved
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the
occupation of buildings. Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years
from the date of planting, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
or species
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core
Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21
5. No trees or hedges within the site which are shown to be retained shall be
felled, uprooted, wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in any way or removed
without previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority; any trees,
shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being severely damaged
or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the completion of the
development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge
plants of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives
written consent to any variation
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is
being carried out of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area, in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policies:
NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21
6. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges
growing on or adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837:2012 has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (The
Approved Scheme); the tree protection measures approved shall be implemented
in complete accordance with the Approved Scheme for the duration of the
development (including unless provided by the Approved Scheme) demolition, all
site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access, construction and or widening or any other operation involving
use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery;
b) No development (including tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation
involving the use of motor vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence
until the Local Planning Authority has been provided (by way of a written notice)
with a period of no less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the
measures identified in the Approved Scheme on-site;
c) No excavation for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or

115

otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme;
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not
be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external
works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials
removed from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority
has first been sought and obtained
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is
being carried out of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area, in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policies:
NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21
7. No works related to the development hereby approved, including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than
between the hours of 8.00am and 6.00pm Monday to Friday and 8.00am to
13.00pm on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority
Reason: To safeguard amenity of neighbouring properties. Relevant policies:
NPPF, Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3
8. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all
boundary treatments shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to
the first occupation of the development or phased as agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be maintained in the approved form
so long as the development remains on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety. Relevant policies: NPPF,
Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
9.No development shall take place until a measured survey of the site and a plan
prepared to scale of not less than 1:500 showing details of existing and proposed
finished ground levels in relation to a fixed datum point) and finished floor levels
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
the approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the
building
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to
surrounding buildings and landscape. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy
policies CP1 and CP3
10. No development shall take place including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
iv) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway and details of
wheel washing facilities;

116

v) measures to inform local residents of commencement of development by letter
and provide appropriate contact details for residents to contact the developer if
they have concerns or issues
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, safety and convenience and to ensure
that neighbourhood amenity is preserved.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy
policies CP3 and CP6
11. No part of the building hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved
plans. The vehicle parking spaces shall be permanently retained and remain
available for the parking of vehicles at all times
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway
safety, convenience and amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3
and CP6 and MDD Local Plan policy CC07
12. Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of
secure and covered bicycle storage/parking facilities for the occupants of the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The cycle storage/parking shall be implemented in accordance with
such details as may be approved before occupation of the development hereby
permitted and shall be permanently retained in the approved form for the parking
of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities
are provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy
policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 and MDD Local Plan policy CC07.
13. Prior to the demolition of the existing buildings and structures and prior to
development of the site, an assessment shall be carried out to determine whether
any harmful materials are present and where such materials are found then
measures shall be taken to prevent such materials from contaminating the land to
be redeveloped. No building shall be occupied until a report detailing the
assessment and where necessary mitigation measures undertaken, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. Relevant
policy: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3
14. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local
Planning Authority. Any subsequent investigation/remedial/protective works
deemed necessary by the LPA shall be carried out to agreed timescales and
approved by the LPA in writing. If no contamination is encountered during the
development, a letter confirming this fact shall be submitted to the LPA upon
completion of the development.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. Relevant

117

policy: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3
15. a) The applicant shall seek to build the development to achieve Code Level 4
in accordance with the requirements of the Code for Sustainable Homes:
Technical Guide (or such national measure of sustainability for house design that
replaces that scheme. No dwelling shall be occupied until a Final Code
Certificate has been issued for it by an accredited assessor certifying that Code
Level 4 has been achieved.
b) If it is intended that the houses be built at less than Code Level 4, full details of
why Code Level 4 is not achievable on site must be provided to the Local
Planning Authority and approved in writing. No dwelling shall be occupied until a
Final Code Certificate has been issued for it by an accredited assessor certifying
that the agreed level has been achieved
Reason: To ensure the development contributes to sustainable development.
Relevant Policy: NPPF Section 10, Core Strategy policy CP1 and MDD Policy
CC04.
16. No development shall commence until a programme of archaeological work
(which may comprise more than one phase of work) has been implemented in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to
and agreed in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: The site lies in an area of archaeological potential. Relevant policy:
NPPF.MDD Policy TB25.
17. No development shall take place until the Employment Skills Plan has been
implemented in full in accordance with the details submitted.
Reason: In the interests of securing sustainable local employment. The
development is in a rural location and its benefits to local employment help to
justify the development. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy CP15, MDD
Local Plan Policy TB12.
18. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) the garage accommodation
on the site identified on the approved plans shall be kept available for the parking
of vehicles ancillary to the residential use of the site at all times. It shall not be
used for any business or as habitable space
Reason: To ensure that adequate parking space is available on the site, so as to
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking, in the interests of highway safety and
convenience. Relevant Policy: Core Strategy policy CP6 and MDD Local Plan
policy CC07.
19. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no buildings, extensions, or
alterations permitted by Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1 of the Second
Schedule of the 1995 Order shall be carried out without the written approval of
the Local Planning Authority.

118

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties,
preserve the character of the settlement and to ensure proper planning of the
area. Plots are generally at or around the minimum separation distances and
amenity space sizes so the Local Planning Authority wishes to assess the
potential impact of such development. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy
Policy CP1, CP3 and the guidance set out in the adopted Borough Design Guide.
20.
Prior to commencement of the development details of the extent,
implementation, retention and management of the open space and children’s play
space shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter managed and
retained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of ensuring the future retention of the open space and
the children’s play space for the benefit of occupiers of the development herby
approved. Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3.
21. Prior to commencement of the development details of the play equipment and
measures to ensure the security and safety of children shall be submitted and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such equipment and
measures shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the development and
thereafter retained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and safety of users.
Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3.
22. The mitigation and enhancement measures contained within the submitted
Ecological Assessment – 5516.EcoAss.vf1 (Ecology Solutions, October 2014)
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise
approved in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: To ensure the continued protection of protected species.
policies: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7

Relevant

23.Groundwater monitoring for the site shall be undertaken for no less than 6
months, and will include winter months November through to March.
Reason: To ensure that drainage measures are designed appropriately. Relevant
Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD Local Plan policies CC09
and CC10.
24. The Local Authority shall be notified of the construction programme for any
SUDS measures which are to be constructed within Private Gardens, prior to the
associated residence being sold.
Reason: To allow the Local Authority to designate these as Flood Defence
Structures under the Floods and Water Management Act, and ensure that the
necessary registration of the Local Land charge at the time of designation is
completed prior to the sale of the property. Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core
Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.

119

25. The development shall be delivered in accordance with the approved FRA
and supplementary Flood Flow hydraulic analysis detailed/ documented in the
Odyssey Markides Technical Note dated 6th February 2015
No development shall take place until full details of the Drainage System(s) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
These shall include:
■
Full details of all phasing and/or measures proposed to mitigate risks of
flooding and/or pollution incidents arising to receiving watercourses/bodies or
neighbouring development throughout construction.
■
Demonstration of where and how surface water attenuation and infiltration
shall be provided across the site and that the attenuation features are adequately
sized to serve the development (i.e. will not flood any of the proposed dwellings
or neighbouring development) for all events up to the 1 in 100 year storm plus
allowances for the effects of climate change, taking account of achievable
discharge rates over the lifetime of the development.
■
Demonstration that the design of the drainage system accounts for the
likely impacts of local groundwater levels (including seasonal variation), climate
change and changes in impermeable area, over the design life of the
development.
■
Demonstration that the proposed development will not exacerbate the risk
of surface water flooding off-site for all surface water flood events up to and
including the 1 in 100 year event.
■
Full details of all components of the proposed drainage system including
source control, conveyance, storage, flow control and discharge. Details shall
include dimension, locations, reference to storm simulation files, gradients, invert
and cover levels and drawings as appropriate. This shall be identified for all
catchments.
■
Full details of water quality treatment components of the proposed
drainage strategy. Details of component(s) including type, dimension, locations,
capacity, maintenance requirements and frequency, gradients, invert and cover
levels and drawings as appropriate. This shall be identified for all catchments.
■
Full details of the maintenance and/or adoption proposals /agreements for
the development covering every aspect of the proposed drainage system
including a schedule of inspections and issue of an annual inspection report.
Reason: To ensure that drainage measures are designed appropriately. Relevant
Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD Local Plan policies CC09
and CC10.
26. No development shall take place until details of the implementation;
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. This shall include
details of how prospective owners will be informed of the presence of SUDS
structures in their Deed of Sales and what measures will be incorporated to
ensure that they are not modified in any way and are maintained in perpetuity.
The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in
accordance with the approved details. Those details shall include:
i.
a timetable for its implementation, and
ii.
a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable

120

drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.
Reason: To ensure that drainage measures are managed and maintained
appropriately. Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD
Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.
27. None of the dwellings shall be occupied until works for the disposal of
sewage have been provided on the site to serve the development hereby
permitted, in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority in consultation with the drainage authority.
Reason: To ensure that drainage measures are managed and maintained
appropriately. Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD
Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.
28. No development pursuant to this grant of planning permission shall take place
until such time as a Travel Plan to include measures to encourage use of public
transport and other methods of sustainable development together with a
timetable and management arrangements for the implementation of each element
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development. Relevant policies: NPPF,
Core Strategy Policies CP3 and CP6 and MDD Local Plan policy CC01
29.Before the development hereby permitted commences, a scheme shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which
specifies the provisions and details to be made to establish a Project Community
Liaison Group for the duration of the construction works. The scheme shall
include details of the dates of meetings and a name and telephone number for
residents to contact should any issues arise during the construction period
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and
disturbance during the construction period. Relevant policies Core Strategy
Policies CP1 and CP3.
Informatives:
1.
The applicants’ attention is drawn to the conditions of this decision which
must be complied with prior to commencement of development. Commencement
of development without complying with conditions may place the works outside of
the development permitted by this decision and may be liable to enforcement
action. The information must be formally submitted to the Council in writing
together with the relevant fee. Once the details have been approved in writing
the development shall be carried out only in accordance with those details.
2.
This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, the contents of which
relate to this development.
3. The applicant is reminded that this permission does not authorise any off-site
highway or other works and site access to the public highway. A separate legal
agreement (Minor Works Agreement) made with the Council under s184/278 of
the Highways Act 1980 is required. No work within or affecting the public highway

121

shall commence until the agreement has been concluded and the Council, as
local highway authority, has approved all construction and installation details
together including with a programme of works.
4. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m
head (approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum
pressure in the design of the proposed development.

PLANNING HISTORY
C/2010/0660 - Application for submission of details to comply with conditions 4 and 17
of planning consent F/2005/3962.4. Noise attenuation scheme.17.Timetable for the
demolition of office block. (Approved 20/04/2010)
C/2010/0529 - Application for submission of details to comply with the following
conditions of planning consent F/2005/3962:- 5 7 8 9. Submission of details of
surface water drainage works.- 14. Formation of vehicular access and visibility splays.
(Approved 20/04/2010)
F/2008/0308 - Application for renewal of planning consent O/2003/0586 for a further 3
years for the extension to factory building residential development (14 dwellings) and
ancillary development. (Refused: 25/06/2008)
RM/2007/0882 -Reserved Matters Application on Outline consent O/2003/0586 for the
proposed erection of 14 x 2 bedroom dwellings with associated parking and access.
(External appearance layout landscaping and scale to be considered). (Withdrawn
29/01/2009)
RM/2007/0881 - Reserved Matters on Outline application O/2003/0586 for the erection
of 14 x 2 bedroom dwellings with associated parking and access. (Withdrawn
29/01/2009)
F/2006/9217 - Proposed erection of 14 two bedroom dwellings with associated parking
(Withdrawn 25/01/2007)
F/2005/3962 - Proposed extension to factory buildings and ancillary works. (Approved
29/04/2005) (Officers Note: Condition 10 required the retention of the pond)
O/2003/0586 - Outline application for the extension to factory building residential
development ( 14 dwellings) and ancillary development (Approved 13/04/2004)
O/2003/8931- Outline application for the proposed residential redevelopment
(approximately 50 dwellings) of site with ancillary works and replacement factory
building (Refused 26/08/2003. Appeal withdrawn)

122

F/1998/67553 - Proposed Erection Of Building For B8 Storage Use (Renewal Of
Approval 40894) (Approved 29/07/1998)
F/1996/64830 - Proposed Single Storey Extension To Industrial Building For B8
(Storage Use) (Approved 03/04/1997)

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area – 2.6 ha / 1.34 ha (within settlement boundary)
Existing Units – 0
Proposed Units - 38
No of bedrooms - 133
Proposed density (dwellings per hectare) 14.6 / 28.3 (within settlement boundary)
Proposed density (habitable rooms per hectare) 91.9 / 178.3 (within settlement
boundary)
Existing density (dwellings per hectare) N/A
Existing density (habitable rooms per hectare) N/A
No of affordable: 6 (shared ownership)
Previous land use: Mixed B1/B2/B8
Public Open Space: circa 1ha
Existing car parking: N/A
Proposed car parking:113
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Swallowfield Parish
Council

Objects for the following reasons:













Not a sustainable location
Flooding and drainage. Does not believe the data
is reliable or accurate, supports the views of the
FRG
Unreliability of traffic data
Inadequate provision has been made for cars
Excessive in terms of scale and the density
Lack of village integration (believes that there
should be better links to the village)
Unacceptable transition between settlement and
countryside
Parking in front of affordable housing is out of
keeping with village, units should be integrated
Ecological data is out of date and therefore not
reliable
Use of Management Company to maintain open
space and balancing ponds is unacceptable.
Believe this should be a commuted sum and run
by Parish or WBC
No suitable SANG facility exists within the
necessary distance from Swallowfield.

.

123

Highways

Parking
 The amount of visitor/unallocated parking within
the affordable housing parking courts is sufficient
 The provision for the 32 private houses does not
satisfy the council’s recommended provision; only
6 spaces have been provided.
 Does not however, consider that the reduced level
of formal dedicated visitor/unassigned parking
spaces will lead to a highway safety issue. The
principal roadway is to be 5.5m wide which is wide
enough to safely accommodate an element of on
street parking.
Furthermore, many of the
properties could accommodate three cars parked
in front of the garages.
Sustainability
 The Transport Statement includes an evaluation of
the accessibility of the application site by walking,
cycling and public transport provision to local
facilities. Whilst the site is within a reasonable
walking distance of the village; the village facilities
are very limited with a small general store, post
office, a pub and a doctors’ surgery. There are no
primary or secondary schools within convenient
walking distance and employment opportunities in
the area are also limited.
Additional retail
facilities/services in a reasonable cycle distance
such as at Spencers Wood are generally of a
similar nature to those available in the village. The
village is served by bus services 72, 82 & 82K,
however, the frequency/timing and choice of
destinations of these services does not provide a
good level of provision.


Whilst footway improvements are proposed, the
scope of the improvements is restricted by land
ownership. Furthermore, the existing provision in
the vicinity of the site and in village is in the main
narrow and will not enable all types of pedestrians
or wheelchair users to comfortably use these
routes. The proposal does not include any
measures to improve cycling or public transport
facilities/provision. Swallowfield Street is for the
most part unlit, as are other roads in the vicinity of
the site; this will provide a further discouragement
to walking and cycling especially given the
distances involved. Therefore concerned that the
proposal will result in an unacceptable level of car
travel/dependence.
(Officers
note:
The
applicants transport assessment compares the

124

predicted traffic generation of the residential
development with the existing uses.
This
resulted in an estimated 7 – 10 additional
movements per hour (or one additional vehicle
every 6 – 9 minutes). By comparing the traffic
generation of the proposed use with the
potential traffic generation of the extant uses
on the site the report concluded that residential
development of the site is likely to result in a
small reduction in vehicle trips in the morning
and evening peak hours and approximately 100
fewer vehicle trips over the course of a 12 hour
day)


If minded to recommend approval of this
application the Section 106 Agreement should
secure the following off-site works
I)
A 2m wide footway fronting the application site
and adjoining Swallowfield Street
II)
A new section of footway to be constructed
along Swallowfield Street near the junction with
Basingstoke Road as indicated on drawing No.
ITB9178 Rev D entitled Proposed Footway
Improvements
(Officers note: A S106 agreement is being prepared
which secures the footway construction)
(Conditions 10, 11, 12,18 apply)
Affordable Housing

Affordable housing is 40% of total, of which 6 units are
being provided on-site and remaining 25% being provided
as a commuted which will need to be reflected in a
Section 106 agreement.

Policy

Development Limits
All of the proposed dwellings are within the development
limit boundary of Swallowfield. (Officers note: This issue
was subject of pre-application discussion where the
applicants previously proposed 3 units outside the
settlement)
Swallowfield is designated under Core Strategy policy
CP9 as a Limited Development Location. Under Core
Strategy policy CP17, those sites within Limited
Development Locations should not generally exceed 25
dwellings. The proposed quantum of 38 houses on this
site is therefore significantly more than the amount
envisaged within Swallowfield set within the Core
Strategy. Therefore the case officer will need to take into
consideration further assessments of the character,
design and density assessments regarding the layout in

125

order to be able to justify this number of dwellings in a
Limited Development Location.
CP8 – Thames Basin Heaths SPA
The site lies within 5km linear of the Thames Basin Heath
Special Protection Area. The development proposal is
therefore subject to Core Strategy policy CP8. In order to
accord with this policy, the case officer will have to ensure
that the applicant makes a SANG provision at the Clare’s
Green Field site, if the application is minded for approval.
The overall SANG provision that the applicant should be
making is approximately 0.792ha.
(Officer Note:
Addressed in Section 106 agreement)
Flooding
There were originally some concerns regarding flooding
considering the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment highlighted the site as being within flood
zone 3a. However, Council has received a copy of the
hydraulic modelling work which shows that the site is in
flood zone 1. The hydraulic modelling has been approved
by the Environment Agency and therefore, on the basis of
the information submitted, the planning policy team are
satisfied that the site is not at a high risk of flooding.
Loss of Employment Land to Residential
Winkworth Machinery vacated the Willowtree Works site
in August 2014 and have now re-located to a new site 10
miles away in Basingstoke. The buildings on the site are
therefore now vacant, but it is still classified as consisting
of 4,000sqm of B1, B2 and B8 land uses. The site is
therefore subject to Core Strategy policy CP15, which
states that:
Any proposed changes of use from B1, B2 and B8 should
not lead to an overall net loss of floorspace in B Use
within the Borough.
While recognising that the application if approved would
contribute to the Borough’s housing supply, the October
2014 SHLAA demonstrates that the Council has a 5.4
year housing land supply which is equivalent to a surplus
of 460 dwellings. The calculation for the Council’s five
year land supply figure includes a 20% buffer in light of
MDD Inspector’s conclusions that we had a persistent
record of under delivery. The October 2014 SHLAA also
shows that the expected 5 year supply at April 2015 will
be 5.6 years - surplus of 829 dwellings.
In light of the comments above in relation to CP15, the
additional housing proposed by this application should be
weighed against the loss of employment land.

126

CC04 – Sustainable Design and Construction and CC05
– Renewable energy and decentralised networks
Policy CC04 of the MDD states that:
Planning permission will only be granted for proposals
that seek to deliver high quality sustainability designed
and constructed developments
Policy CC05 of the MDD states:
Planning permission will only be granted for proposals
that deliver a minimum 10% reduction in carbon
emissions through renewable energy or low carbon
technology where the development is for:
a) Schemes of more than 10 dwellings
The submitted Energy Statement on page 24 states that
Code Level 4 will be achieved by the housing
development and that a 10.88% saving in carbon
emissions will be provided by renewables. On page 16 of
the submitted Sustainability Statement, the applicant
states that will achieve the internal potable water
consumption targets of 105 litres or less per person per
day (this was based on 39 units, the scheme has
subsequently been reduced to 38). Therefore the
proposed development is in accordance with policies
CC04 and CC05.

Thames Water

Waste Comment
Advises no objections in terms of sewer capacity
Water Comments
Advises no objections in terms of water infrastructure
capacity.
Recommends the following informative be attached to this
planning permission.
“Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a
minimum pressure of 10m head (approx. 1 bar) and a
flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take
account of this minimum pressure in the design of the
proposed development. (Informative)”
Supplementary Comments
Peak flow calculations provided by the developer indicate
that the development will result in a net reduction in peak
flows, providing betterment to the receiving foul sewer

127

network.
Officer comment: A meeting to discuss these issues
took place between Thames Water and local residents /
Parish Council on 24th October 2014.
During that
meeting residents expressed the view that the data TW is
relying on is inaccurate. TW maintains no objections.
Drainage Consultant
(WSP)

Hydraulic Modelling Scope
The revised modelling undertaken by Odyssey Markides
appears to have been undertaken in accordance with the
agreed scope. The modelling includes extension of the
catchment to take greater account of flows potentially
presented to the site from the south and to include
modelling of a wider variety of conditions to test the
sensitivity of the model results.
Further to a meeting with Odyssey Markides on the 3rd
February they have also included the significant elements
of the site drainage network that will convey surface water
through the site (from off-site areas to the south).
Assessment of Model Results
The modelling demonstrates that the proposed
development will not exacerbate flood risk to
neighbouring properties.
The sensitivity testing demonstrates that the results are
largely insensitive to variations in hydraulic model
parameters (urban / rural catchment type) (fluctuations of
+/- 4 cm) and as such can be considered robust. The
scale of change in flood levels as a result of the proposed
development is effectively measured in millimetres and is
therefore considered to be well within the confidence that
can be associated with such a hydraulic model and the
base data used to construct it.
On the basis of this information WSP recommends
approval of the application subject to the following
condition(s):
The development shall be delivered in accordance with
the approved FRA and supplementary Flood Flow
hydraulic analysis detailed/ documented in the Odyssey
Markides Technical Note dated 6th February 2015.
No development shall take place until full details of the
Drainage System(s) have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
These shall include:
■
Full details of all phasing and/or measures proposed to
mitigate risks of flooding and/or pollution incidents arising
to receiving watercourses/bodies or neighbouring
development throughout construction.

128

■
Demonstration of where and how surface water
attenuation and infiltration shall be provided across the
site and that the attenuation features are adequately
sized to serve the development (i.e. will not flood any of
the proposed dwellings or neighbouring development) for
all events up to the 1 in 100 year storm plus allowances
for the effects of climate change, taking account of
achievable discharge rates over the lifetime of the
development.
■
Demonstration that the design of the drainage system
accounts for the likely impacts of local groundwater levels
(including seasonal variation), climate change and
changes in impermeable area, over the design life of the
development.
■
Demonstration that the proposed development will not
exacerbate the risk of surface water flooding off-site for all
surface water flood events up to and including the 1 in
100 year event.
■
Full details of all components of the proposed drainage
system including source control, conveyance, storage,
flow control and discharge.
Details shall include
dimension, locations, reference to storm simulation files,
gradients, invert and cover levels and drawings as
appropriate. This shall be identified for all catchments.
■
Full details of water quality treatment components of the
proposed drainage strategy. Details of component(s)
including
type,
dimension,
locations,
capacity,
maintenance requirements and frequency, gradients,
invert and cover levels and drawings as appropriate. This
shall be identified for all catchments.
■
Full details of the maintenance and/or adoption proposals
/agreements for the development covering every aspect
of the proposed drainage system including a schedule of
inspections and issue of an annual inspection report.

Conditions are recommended (conditions 23-27)
Countryside Officer

Has considered the implications of this application against
EC Habitats Directive 1992 and the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. It is considered
that subject to the application of the following conditions
the actions authorised will not be detrimental to the
maintenance of the great crested newts or bats
concerned at a Favourable Conservation Status in their
natural range.

129

The mitigation and enhancement measures contained
within the submitted Ecological Assessment –
5516.EcoAss.vf1 (Ecology Solutions, October 2014) shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved plan
unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning
authority (Condition 22)
Advises that an on-site play area is not required and the
39 dwellings would only generate a policy requirement for
234m2 (38 x 2.4/1000 x 0.25ha). The Wokingham
Borough Council Open Space, Sport & Recreation
Facilities Strategy (Adopted 28th November 2013) states
that the minimum acceptable size for a children’s play
area is 600m2 (page 16) other than in exceptional
circumstances. This size is also below the standard FIT
guidance on minimum size of facility (400m2)
Consequently the developer will need to agree to either
the provision on site of a 600m2 children’s play area
(which would be controlled in the s106 or payment of the
PAN contribution for children’s play (which is currently
missing from the draft s106. Officer note: This aspect is
subject of further discussion and an update will be given.
Natural England

Assume that the proposals are meeting the requirement
of that plan (e.g. with regard to Strategic Access
Management and Monitoring (SAMM) and Suitable
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) contributions)
and provided that there is sufficient capacity at Clare’s
Green SANG. If the applicant is complying with this
Strategy, then Natural England do not object to this
application. (Section 106)

Trees and Landscape

The Landscape Architect has raised no objections subject
to conditions and submission of an amended landscape
plan to respond to a number of issues which have been
discussed with the applicant.
An amended plan has
been received and is subject of consultation. An update
will be given at Committee (Conditions 4,5,6,22)

Environment Agency

No objections subject to conditions. Note: The EA has
been re-consulted as a result of subsequent amendments
to the drainage strategy and comments will be reported to
the Committee in the update sheet. However, if not,
approval is recommended subject to no objection being
received.

Berkshire Archaeology

No objection subject to condition to secure the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation to be
approved by the Local Planning Authority. (Condition 16)

130

REPRESENTATIONS
Officer note on consultation: Following ongoing negotiations with the Councils
Drainage consultants (WSP) further hydrological work has been undertaken by
the applicant. As a number of residents have commented on these issues a
further period of consultation has been undertaken in order to allow residents to
express their views. In addition minor changes and clarification of garden
lengths have been submitted by the applicant. This further period of consultation
is in addition to previous periods undertaken on receipt of the application and as
a result of receipt of earlier amended details which reduced the number of units
proposed from 39 to 38 no. dwellings. Any additional comments and issues
raised after completion of this report will summarised in the Members update.
Ward Members

Concerns expressed about development principle and
drainage of the site.

Neighbour comments

45 letters of comment or objection were received at the time
of writing. The following is a summary of the material
planning issues raised:















Principle of development (see paras 1-9)
Unacceptable impact on character / locality (see paras
19-35)
Too high a density (see paras 19-35)
No construction management plan has been submitted
with the application. Without this there will be risks
during construction (see condition 7 – hours of
construction and condition 10 - construction
management)
More traffic on the junction of Swallowfield Street and
the B3349 increasing risk (see para 50)
Insufficient car parking is being provided given the
unsustainable location, this will result in on-street
parking (see para 58)
Disturbance of wildlife (see para 64)
Culverting of ditches could threaten
the Rivers
Blackwater and Loddon (see para 54 onwards)
The SUD proposal does not sound well thought out,
the siting of a deciduous willow tree beside the pond
will not aid the ecological balance within the pond.
(see para 54 onwards)
There is an existing pond on site, (which residents
suggest has been in existence for over 100 years) and
provides drainage from adjoining properties through
and across the site. The loss of this pond without
appropriate compensatory measures will result in
localised flood risk (see para 54 onwards)
Foul Drainage: During periods of heavy or prolonged
rainfall, the sewers in The Street and Swallowfield

131

Street back up and overflow from the manholes in the
street.
The problem is caused by too many storm
water drains being connected to the foul sewage
system, which overwhelms the pumping station
capacity (see para 54 onwards)
 The existing foul water system cannot cope with the
additional activity (see para 54 onwards)
 the proposed balancing pond will overflow during spells
of extreme weather and residential properties will be
put at risk (design standards are falling below rainfall
levels) (see para 54 onwards)
 the additional roof area will exacerbate problems (see
para 54 onwards)
 culverting of open-ditches is unacceptable (see para 54
onwards)
 a performance bond is suggested were the developers
calculations to prove inaccurate (see para 54 onwards)
 Play area and open space liable to flood (see para 54
onwards)
 The local infrastructure (schools, medical facilities,
village shop, bus services etc. cannot handle the
additional development) (see para 65)
 The dual intention to establish parkland and a
wildflower hay meadow on the parcel of amenity land
demonstrates a lack of understanding of these
features (see para 64)
 New householders may seek to remove trees (see
conditions 4-6)
Officer note: Any further comments received as a result
of the further period of consultation will be reported in
the Member’s update
Swallowfield Flood
Resilience group

Officer Note: A meeting took place on 9th March 2015 as
part of ongoing discussions between the FRG, WBC and
WSP as advisors to WBC.
A summary of this and further
comments received is attached as Appendix 1 of this report.

APPLICANTS POINTS
The Applicants points in support of the application are summarised in Appendix 2 of this
report

PLANNING POLICY
National policies:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy (NPPG)

132

Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework
Core Strategy
CP1 – Sustainable development
CP2 – Inclusive communities
CP3 – General Principle for development
CP4 – Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 – Housing mix, density and affordability
CP6 – Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP8 – Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 – Scale and location of development proposals
CP10 – Improvements to Strategic Transport Network
CP11 – Development outside settlement limits
CP17 – Housing delivery
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document
Cross Cutting Policies
CC01 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CC02 – Development Limits
CC03 – Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 – Sustainable Design and Construction
CC05 – Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06 – Noise
CC07 – Parking
CC09 – Development and Flood Risk
CC10 – Sustainable Drainage
Topic Based Policies
TB05 – Housing Mix
TB07 - Internal Space Standards
TB09 – Residential Development for vulnerable groups
TB21 – Landscape Character
TB23 – Biodiversity and development
Other guidance
Borough Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Sections 4 and 8)
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD
Affordable Housing SPD
Swallowfield Village Design Statement SPD
Planning Advice Note (Infrastructure Impact Mitigation Contributions for New
Development)

PLANNING ISSUES
APPRAISAL

133

Principle of Development
1) This is a full application and proposes redevelopment of site to provide 38 dwellings
including affordable housing, hard and soft landscaping, open space, parking provision
and associated infrastructure. The principle means of access is via the existing main
access onto Swallowfield Street with six dwellings served by two independent accesses,
also from Swallowfield Street.
2) The developed part of the site is within Swallowfield which identified in Policy CP9 of
the adopted Core Strategy as a Limited Development Location where development is
acceptable in principle. Policy CP17 states that in Limited Development Locations
where sites should generally not exceed 25 dwellings. Limited development locations
are those containing a basic range of services and facilities and are physically and
socially cohesive. Within the development limits of these settlements, limited
development would be acceptable.
3)A number of factors have influenced the recommendation to approve this
development. Firstly, the NPPF aims, within the context of a presumption in favour of
sustainable development, to boost significantly the supply of housing. It is considered
that no harms have been identified to justify refusal purely because the number of
dwellings exceeds the number generally identified under Policy CP17.
4)The NPPF promotes sustainable development, which has economic, social and
environmental dimensions. Core Strategy policy assumes that Swallowfield has a
degree of sustainability since otherwise it would follow that no development would be
allowed. It must be concluded that since Policy CP17 states ‘generally’ that
circumstances can apply where this level of development can be exceeded.
5)Concerns have been expressed about the sustainability of the site in terms of reliance
on the private car. In the context that Swallowfield has been identified for modest
development and taking into account the comparative traffic generation position
between the existing and proposed uses, it is considered that the proposed
development is appropriate. The applicant has advised that the previous owner did not
operate the site at full capacity and that none of the staff lived locally, with many
commuting from the Reading area. The site does not have any restrictive conditions and
could be occupied by one or a number of businesses over which there would be limited
control. The S106 will secure infrastructure and service contributions which will mitigate
against the impacts of the development.
On balance, it is concluded that the
development is acceptable in social sustainability terms.
6)The site is partly located within the Limited Settlement of Swallowfield and partly in
the countryside outside of the settlement. However, the built development (brownfield
site) is located wholly within the settlement. The countryside area is devoted to access,
open space balancing ponds and children’s play space. The development uses an
existing access and modified access road in the countryside. The impact on
countryside is therefore not considered to be significant.
7)The NPPF states a presumption in favour of brownfield land. This is a site that is
already extensively developed by large buildings and substantial areas of hard standing.
There is a footprint of approximately 4000 sq metres of existing buildings and 7250 sq
metres of hardstanding. This compares with a footprint of 3625 sq metres and 4880 sq
metres proposed in the development. There is therefore a betterment in terms of the
openness of the site and the opportunities for environmental improvement.

134

8)Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy states that planning permission will be granted for
residential development providing a mix and balance of densities, dwelling types,
tenures and sizes. In the context that a site is best developed comprehensively and
that the development provides a range of dwelling types, sizes and tenures, it is
considered that the overall approach is appropriate to the comprehensive development
of the site.
9)On the basis of the above it is concluded that the development is acceptable in
principle.
10)The adopted Core Strategy policy CP3 provides general principles for all
development, with the primary remit that development should be appropriate in terms of
scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area
together with a high quality of design without detriment to the amenities of adjoining
land users including open spaces or occupiers and their quality of life.
11) The adopted Borough Design Guide provides guidance for residential schemes
under Section 4 and development in rural locations and settlement edge in Section 8.
Criterion RD9 of the Borough Design Guide states that the location, siting and design of
new development on the edge of settlements must be carefully designed to:



Create an edge to the built up area with a character that relates to the
local pattern; and
Incorporate soft landscape to soften the edge of settlements and to help
integrate new housing into its rural setting.

12) The area of the site outside the settlement (incorporating the open space, structural
landscape, ponds and children’s play area falls to be determined within the remit of
Core Strategy Policy CP11 of the Core Strategy which states that development outside
defined settlement boundaries will be strictly controlled. Where acceptable in principle
the countryside can accommodate some forms of development without detriment
provided that the development type, form and design are sensitive to the location. The
NPPF indicates that Local Planning Authorities should seek to protect the intrinsic
beauty of countryside locations.
13) The NPPF requires that proposed dwellings should be well integrated with, and
complement local buildings in relation to scale, density, layout and access. Policy CP3
of the Core Strategy outlines that development should be appropriate to the surrounding
street scene and without detriment to the amenity of neighbouring residents. Planning
policy overall encourages character led development. The Borough Design Guide
provides substantial advice on layout best practice. It is considered that the
development is acceptable under both local design policy and guidance
Housing Land Supply
14) While recognising that the application if approved would contribute to the Borough’s
housing supply, the October 2014 SHLAA demonstrates that the Council has a 5.4 year
housing land supply which is equivalent to a surplus of 460 dwellings. The calculation
for the Council’s five year land supply figure includes a 20% buffer in light of MDD
Inspector’s conclusions that we had a persistent record of under delivery. The October
2014 SHLAA also shows that the expected 5 year supply at April 2015 will be 5.6 years
- surplus of 829 dwellings. The site is not allocated for housing. The proposal is

135

therefore a windfall development and should be balanced against the loss of
employment and other material issues
Loss of employment
15) Winkworth Machinery vacated the Willowtree Works site in August 2014 and has
now re-located to a new site 10 miles away in Basingstoke. The buildings on the site are
therefore now vacant, but it is still classified as consisting of 4,000sqm of B1, B2 and
B8 land uses. The site is therefore subject to Core Strategy policy CP15, which states
that:
16) Any proposed changes of use from B1, B2 and B8 should not lead to an overall net
loss of floorspace in B Use within the Borough. Provision will be made for a range of
sizes, types, quality and locations of premises and sites in order meet incubator/start
up, move on, expansion and investment accommodation needs and having regard to
the needs of specific sectors of the business community.
17)Paragraph 4.70 to policy CP15 of the Core Strategy refers to an Employment Land
Study (2005) which sets out that the supply of floor space for industry and warehousing
needs to increase by 51,000sqm to meet forecast B use growth in the Borough over the
Plan period to 2026.
18) The Employment Land Monitoring Report for April 2013 – March 2014 demonstrates
that there has been a net gain of 3,649 sqm of Class B use floor space in the Borough
since 1st April 2006. The report also shows that the borough has 88,099m² of extant
permissions for B use floorspace this monitoring year which could be completed in the
next six years based on historic completion rates, but the likelihood of this rate of
completion being realised is uncertain due to the recent recession. Therefore if the
proposal is to be given permission; this would lead to a loss of 4,000sqm of employment
land floorspace and would therefore lead to an overall net loss of B use floorspace.
Furthermore, the loss of employment land at the Willow Tree Works site would lead to a
loss in the range of sizes, types and locations of B use premises. Therefore the
proposed change of the Willow Tree Works site to residential would contravene policy
CP15.
19) The Council however recognises that the site has been widely marketed since the
end of 2013 as illustrated by the submitted marketing strategy from Haslams written in
April 2014. This report shows that there has been no interest in the site from alternative
occupiers. It is therefore concluded that there is no realistic prospect for re-use for
employment purposes.
20) Policy CP15 of the Core Strategy seeks most employment being concentrated in the
Core Employment Areas. Other sites, such as the application site, are seen as having
limited scope for expansion. The site currently has 4,000sqm of Class B1, B2 and B8
land uses. The site could be- used for these purposes. The planning history of the site
suggests that the uses are relatively unrestricted. This is a relevant consideration when
assessing the relative sustainability of the existing and proposed uses.
Housing mix
21) The proposal for 38 dwellings incorporates the following mix:



5 x 2 bed dwellings
15 x 3 bed dwellings

136



18 x 4+ bed dwellings

22) This incorporates several different house types to cater for a range of household
sizes. It includes the following affordable housing dwellings



4 x 2 bed dwellings
2 x 3 bed dwellings

23) The Affordable Housing Officer is satisfied that the mix above allows for adequate
housing to meet local need and as such is acceptable together with an off-site
contribution to reflect the 40% requirement.
Impact on the character of the area
24) The site occupies an edge of village location and its current authorised use is
general industry. The long term occupiers have recently vacated the site and have
relocated to Basingstoke. The distance they have moved is 10.18 miles door to door.
25) The new site is a large commercial industrial park close to the M3 & A33 that is fully
serviced and accessible for heavy industrial businesses with room to expand and all
under 1 roof. Their new site is less than 5 minutes from the mainline station to London
Waterloo.
26) The existing site is long established and in that sense is a part of the character of
the area. However, the prevailing character of this part of the village is residential and
in this regard residential re-use is considered to be appropriate in principle.
27) The density of the development (excluding the open space which is regarded as
structural landscaping and would normally be excluded from calculations and is also
outside the settlement) is 28dph. This is slightly higher than the village as a whole,
which the applicants have calculated as between 10 and 21dph. However, density
alone is not a good basis on which to judge the impact of a development in terms of its
overall impact or character. This is recognised in criterion R10 of the Borough Design
Guide which comments that, of itself, density does not help with assessing whether a
proposal will fit into a place since it takes no account of the size of each dwelling. In
practice a block of flats or a single dwelling can have a similar floorspace and create a
similar scale building, although the density could be very different.
28) This development must be seen in the context of the NPPF which encourages the
efficient use of land and in this respect, the site is brownfield land which comprises a
series of large scale existing buildings and substantial hard surfacing. The existing site
coverage in terms of buildings and hard surface is 43% which compares with 32% for
the proposed development. There replacement of large buildings will also allow for long
views through and across the site and opportunities for new planting. In this regard
there is a significant betterment.
29) A useful comparison would be the target density for the Strategic Development
Locations (SDLs) of 30-35dph much of which will be built on greenfield sites adjoining
existing settlements. This is also a relevant consideration in terms of best use of
brownfield land. It is also material that due to substantial screening around much of the
site that there is a significant level of self-containment.

137

Scale Layout and Design
30) The layout takes a modern form. The development responds to the need to contain
dwellings within the settlement area and to the need to retain trees and other mature
landscape.
31) The proposed dwellings are of traditional scale using materials reflective of those
found in the village. The applicant’s Design and Access Statement sets out how the
detailed design has been approached.
32) The developer explains that development will provide a sense of local character and
identity relevant to its setting and location to Swallowfield Village.
33) General Key features identified include:










Visually ‘strong’ and varying roof forms with hipped roofs, cropped gable roofs
and gable ends.
Varying roof finishes, clay plain tiles and natural slates.
Dormer windows with lower roof eaves heights.
‘Rich’ detailing of eaves, dormers, windows, doors and porches.
Window head and sill detailing.
Variety of external materials to be found on one house, brick, tile hanging and
render surfaces.
Soft red/orange clay face brick to elevations with contrasting decorative face
brick ‘banding’.
Large chimneys in prominent locations throughout the development.
Houses orientated to overlook Open Space.

34) The use of these local architectural features and materials will reinforce the richness
of detail and thus the quality of the development.
35) There have been several comments by the Parish Council and others on the
character of the affordable units fronting Swallowfield Street. The applicants state that it
is proposed that the dwellings should follow the siting of the existing houses to this road
thereby supporting the character of buildings along the historic linear routes through
Swallowfield Village.
36) The cottages are therefore set well back from the highway edge to retain the
existing building line (there is an administrative block currently on this frontage albeit
partially hidden by trees.
37) The cottages are set as pairs to increase their ‘footprint’ area and mass to replicate
the size of the surrounding existing houses. The introduction of brick faced dormer
windows with a lower roof eaves level to these dwellings duplicates a typical
Swallowfield village detail which additionally provides the benefit of reducing the
proposed ridge heights to that of the existing two storey building facing Swallowfield
Street, and reduces its overall visual impact from the street scene. Comments have
been made about the communal car parking spaces. It is noted that there is a group of
four cottages (Russell Cottages – which are pictured on page 8 of the Swallowfield
Village Design Statement SPD) just to the east along Swallowfield Street which have an
extensive level of hard-standing to the frontage. As such it would be extremely difficult
to defend a refusal based on harm to the character of the village.

138

38) At the entrance to the site the developer is retaining a mature Oak tree with open
space. They consider that this creates an appropriate assimilation of the housing with
the open countryside; in particular, it creates a fitting sense of arrival to the village when
approaching from the west along Swallowfield Street. They have also sought to ensure
that all housing fronts the open space in the western half of the site. This again allows
for a suitable transition from open countryside to built form. The retention of the open
land allows for a transition to the more natural countryside beyond. This approach is
considered to be appropriate in terms of the guidance in criterion RD9 of the Borough
Design Guide.
39) Various roof materials of natural slate and clay plain tiles are proposed, and these
are indicated on the site plan. In addition areas of tile hanging and rendered elevations
have been introduced as identified by the village character assessment to some of the
houses, which have been shown on the street elevations.
40)Where the proposed houses are in proximity to the surrounding existing houses, the
Design and Access Statement confirms that care has been taken to introduce gable end
walls with cropped or hipped roofs to reduce the visual height and additional to ensure
that no first floor windows are introduced which might introduce material overlooking.
Impact on the countryside
41) The western part of the site is located within the designated countryside outside of
the settlement limit. This part incorporates the open space for the site, utilising land
already in open use and an existing access. This also includes a swale, balancing
ponds and a children’s play area. These are considered appropriate uses and will
maintain the open character of the countryside. As such no conflict with Core Strategy
Policy CP11 is considered to arise.
Amenity space and internal space standards
42) The Borough Design Guide establishes requirements for private amenity space.
Amenity space should generally have a ‘roughly rectangular shape’ and good access to
sunlight, with usable garden of at least 11 metres in depth. The development follows
this approach and it is considered that an appropriate level of amenity space is
proposed, with some dwellings substantially exceeding the minimum standard.
Coupled with the substantial area of open space which is within two or three minutes’
walk of all properties, it is considered that this element of the proposals is acceptable.
Officer note: Drawing 2521-24F shows garden dimensions.
43) MDD policy TB07 seeks to achieve minimum internal space standards in new
dwellings. This requirement is reflected in the guidance in Section 4 of the Borough
Design Guide. These standards have been met or exceeded on all units including the
affordable units.
Residential amenities
44) The Borough Design Guide sets out minimum recommended separation distances
between dwellings in order to preserve amenity and character. The recommended
distances are as follows:





Front to front across street 10m
Rear to rear of dwellings 22m
Flank wall to boundary 1m
Flank wall to rear of dwelling 12m

139

45) All the dwellings meet or exceed this standard. Residents adjoining the site have
raised issues of potential loss of privacy, particularly if existing screening and/or fences
were to be removed. There have been some references to ownership of screening
(boundary dispute). Whilst this is not a matter for consideration by the Council, it is
worth commenting that irrespective of this, there is sufficient distance between
properties to retain privacy and also to provide additional intervening screening if
required and the matter can be dealt with by conditions covering both boundary
treatment and retention of and new planting.
Noise Disturbance and other Environmental Health considerations
46) The proposals are unlikely to have any significant impact on the existing residential
properties with regards to noise and disturbance. It is worth commenting that the site
enjoys a relatively unrestricted General Industrial Use meaning that the potential for
noise and disturbance could be that much greater were it occupied by another or
several businesses.
47) The proposed properties are not considered to cause any significant or unusual
impacts compared to other residential developments. If any out of the ordinary noise
arose, for instance during construction, this would be separately controlled by
Environmental Health legislation. Impacts in terms of construction can be controlled by
an hours and days of construction and construction management conditions.
Land affected by contamination
48) The proposal site has been occupied by a number of commercial and industrial land
uses including a depot and engineering works. Such land uses have the potential to
cause significant contamination at the site. The proposed end use is sensitive in nature
being residential with private gardens. In accordance with Paragraph 121 of the
National Planning Policy Framework 2012 the Local Planning Authority must be
satisfied that the land will be suitable for this proposed new use.
49) A contamination risk assessment including a Phase 1 Desk Study and Preliminary
Phase 2 Site Investigation has been carried out and submitted as part of the application
(Report Ref: J12151/c01/DB dated 11th February 2013 by Wilson & Bailey
Geotechnical & Environmental).
50) The report presents a basic conceptual site model which identifies that potential
pollutant linkages may exist on site which could present a risk to controlled water
resources and current/proposed end users. A preliminary intrusive investigation
comprising 11 windowless sample boreholes and 6 hand dug pits was undertaken and
samples submitted for a range of chemical analysis. Olfactory evidence of hydrocarbon
contamination was observed in soils during the investigation and exceedances of the
residential guideline values were recorded in several locations. The report recommends
that further detailed instructive investigation is undertaken following demolition of the
existing buildings to further delineate the hydrocarbon contamination encountered and
to investigate areas not previously investigated. Where contamination is found the
report states that this would need to be remediated. Gas monitoring wells were installed
in 6 locations on site but that these had not been monitored at the time the report was
written. No specific further works in this regard have been mentioned and no further
submissions made.
51) The Councils’ Environmental Health Officer is satisfied that the applicant has made

140

a sufficient preliminary assessment of the risks posed by contamination at the site and
is aware of the level of works and potential costs associated with making the site fit for
the proposed end use. Further intrusive investigation with soil sampling, chemical
testing and gas monitoring is required and it is likely that remediation will be necessary.
Conditions and informatives are advised and are included in the Recommendation.
Air quality
52)Having regard to the nature of the proposal the Environment Heath Officer not
consider it necessary for a detailed air quality impact assessment to be undertaken (the
number of dwellings proposed and predicted traffic impact are below the threshold that
would trigger the need for assessment).
53) The demolition and construction phases are likely to give rise to significant dust and
particulate generation. No information has been provided in this regard. In accordance
with Wokingham Borough Council’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPD the
proposal would require a Construction Environmental Management Plan, and the
demolition and construction phase air quality mitigation, could be managed in this plan.
A Condition is advised and is included in the Recommendation.

Light
54) External lighting has the potential to cause light nuisance and affect the amenity of
neighbours. Details of external lighting have not been submitted with the application.
The Environmental Health Officer has recommended inclusion of a condition. The
proposal is a residential scheme with the majority of the units being private.
A
condition of this nature is unusual and potentially onerous since it would potentially
apply to each individual household. The only other envisaged form of lighting is street
lights which is generally a matter for the Highway Authority. As such no condition is
recommended.

Access and movement
55) These matters have been subject of ongoing discussions with the applicant during
the life of the application and a series of amendments were made to the layout.
56) A central issue of this proposal is the sustainability of the site. In traffic terms both
the existing and proposed uses produce comparable traffic generation. The applicant
compared the predicted traffic generation of the residential development with the traffic
survey results of the existing site access and estimated that the proposed development
will result in a small amount of additional traffic over and above that generated by the
previous occupier. The applicant suggests that this will equate to approximately 7 – 10
additional movements per hour (or one additional vehicle every 6 – 9 minutes).The
applicant confirms that in discussion with the former occupiers, advice was given that
the majority of employees did not come from the Village (it was suggested that most
came from the Reading area) meaning that the existing use was of itself an
unsustainable activity which must be given weight in determination of this application,
as must the fall-back position that the site could be re-occupied by industrial uses at
some point in the future. .
57) The Core Strategy identifies Swallowfield as a Limited Settlement where
development of sites should not generally exceed 25 dwellings. In identifying this level
of development there would have been an assumption of a level of sustainability. It is

141

also relevant that Policy CP17 refers to ‘sites’ not a finite number of additional dwellings
within the Village or on any one site
58) The previously refused renewal of the outline planning permission envisaged a
mixed development both retaining and extending the employment development in
addition to 14no new dwellings (F/2008/0308). Currently the entire site is now subject
of redevelopment. The previous decision precedes the NPPF and the adoption of the
Core Strategy and MDD Local Plan. This is a brownfield site, The NPPF expects
previously developed land to be used in an efficient and effective manner.
Flood risk, Drainage and Water
59) It is clear that this remains a major concern for local residents and this has been
strongly expressed in most of the letters of representation and in a major report from the
Swallowfield Flood Resilience Group (SFRG). Examination of the planning history also
indicates that this has been an ongoing concern for many years, although clearly the
recent flood events have provided further focus on this matter which, quite rightly, is a
major consideration in determination of this application.
60)The applicants have responded to the deferral and to ongoing concerns expressed
by residents by undertaking full hydrodynamic modelling of all surface water routes on
site for both the pre and post development levels to be submitted and considered by the
Council’s drainage consultants, WSP. The SFRG has been kept fully informed of
ongoing discussions and both the applicants report and WSPs conclusions have been
made available to them. A meeting held between the parties on 9 th March 2015.
Following this meeting SFRG were invited to submit a summary statement of their
position. This is set out in full in Appendix 1
61) Both the Environment Agency and Thames Water have raised no objection in
principle. In determining this application it remains the position that in order to justify
refusal it would need to be demonstrated that the development is not capable of
managing the risk of flooding.
62)Since the item was deferred, the matter has been the subject of extensive
negotiation with the applicant and further discussion with the FRG. WSP has considered
the full hydrodynamic modelling of all surface water routes on site for both the pre and
post development. WSP concludes that the revised modelling undertaken by Odyssey
Markides appears to have been undertaken in accordance with the agreed scope. The
modelling includes extension of the catchment to take greater account of flows
potentially presented to the site from the south and to include modelling of a wider
variety of conditions to test the sensitivity of the model results. and has no objections
and recommends a number of conditions (Conditions 23-27)

Car parking
63)The amount of visitor/unallocated parking within the affordable housing parking
courts is sufficient. The provision for the 32 private houses does not satisfy the
council’s recommended provision; only 6 spaces have been provided. However, it is
not considered that the reduced level of formal dedicated visitor/unassigned parking
spaces will lead to a highway safety issue. The principal roadway is to be 5.5m wide
which is wide enough to safely accommodate an element of on street parking.
Furthermore, many of the properties could accommodate three cars parked in front of
the garages. Overall, the level of car parking proposed is appropriate in terms of the

142

standards set out in the MDD Local Plan.
Conditions are included in the
Recommendation to ensure provision and retention of car parking. (Conditions
11,12,18)
Sustainable Design and Construction
64)Core Strategy Policy CP1 and the MDD Local Plan policy CC05 requires new
development to contribute towards the goal of achieving zero carbon development by
including on-site renewable energy features and minimising energy and water
consumption. These requirements are amplified in the Council’s adopted Sustainable
Design and Construction SPD and accompanying Developer’s Guide.
65) The applicants Design and Access Statement consider Energy Efficiency in Section
18. This confirms the following design philosophy:


The orientation of the houses has been informed by the shape of the site and the
access from Swallowfield Street. However, all the principal habitable rooms have
been provided with windows, the position and proportions of which have been
designed to maximise both solar gain and natural light to penetrate into these
rooms.
 The houses will be constructed to meet the thermal standards of Level 4 of the
Code for Sustainable Homes. These standards require that carbon emissions
due to the energy requirements for heating and cooling are minimised by
ensuring that the whole building envelope incorporates a building fabric that is
thermally efficient, and building properties of low emission glass and light fittings,
heat recovery systems and boiler systems with individual zones and controls.
 Micro-renewable technology in the form of roof mounted solar thermal panels to
assist in the provision of energy to each of the houses has been included within
the submission drawings, and which it is considered will not have a detrimental
effect on the appearance of the houses.
 Full consideration will be made of the BRE Green Guide for the embodied
environmental impact of construction materials. The external wall construction of
the houses will achieve an ‘A+’ rating, the timber roof construction will achieve an
‘A’ rating or better and the intermediate floors will achieve a ‘B’ rating.
 To meet the consumption of potable water within the house, water efficiency
fittings and appliances will be installed to meet the minimum requirements of the
current Building Regulations.
 All houses will have the provision for the storage of waste and recycling
containers.
 All fitted white goods within each house will be energy efficient to a minimum of
‘An’ energy rating.
 The private driveway areas will be constructed in a permeable block pavior finish
with the hard landscape finishes of the patio areas designed to discharge surface
water onto the adjacent soft planting areas.
These provisions are considered to be acceptable under the terms of Policy CC05.
(Condition 15)
Archaeology
66) An archaeological desk-based assessment has been submitted in support of this
application (Wessex Archaeology, reference 103410.01, dated March 2014). This is a
thorough and authoritative report that sets out the archaeological background to the
application site and makes a thorough assessment of its archaeological potential based
on currently available information. The report concludes that, while no known heritage

143

assets are recorded within the site, there is an archaeological interest in the site by
virtue of the known archaeological resource within the wider area.
67) The site lies close to the confluence of the Rivers Loddon and Blackwater, where
increasingly there is evidence demonstrating that these river valleys were the focus of
prehistoric and Roman settlement and agriculture.
68) The report therefore comments that exploratory archaeological investigation through
a programme of trial trenching may be merited. Berkshire Archaeology concurs with this
conclusion. In view of current land use within the site, Berkshire Archaeology advises
that such a programme of archaeological work could be secured through an
appropriately worded condition following the granting of planning consent. Berkshire
Archaeology therefore recommends that a condition requiring an archaeological
investigation is attached to any planning permission granted, to mitigate the impact of
the development. (Condition 16)
Biodiversity
69) The Council’s Ecologist has considered the implications of this application against
EC Habitats Directive 1992 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010. It is considered that subject to a condition the actions authorised will not be
detrimental to the maintenance of the great crested newts or bats concerned at a
Favourable Conservation Status in their natural range. (Condition 23)
Infrastructure Mitigation and Affordable Housing
70) In line with Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and the Planning Advice Note (PAN)
contributions would be required for this scheme based on the provision of a net 38
dwellings. The applicant is currently finalising a Section 106 agreement with the
Council. The required levels of contributions are set out below.
Affordable Housing
Education:
Primary
mainstream:
Primary SEN
Secondary
mainstream
Secondary SEN
Post 16
Highways
Library
Children’s Play
Pitches and
recreation ground
Country Parks
Biodiversity
Countryside access
Swimming pool
provision
Sports Hall
provision
SPA Access
Management

£1,314,000 (allowing for the 6 units provided on site) *
£212,100.00
£50,444.00
£157,472.00
£24,876.00
£38,940.00
Measures to secure off-site footpath improvements.
£9,170.80
£74.068.80
£8,060.52
£13,572.00
£2,184.00
£6,786.00
£10,027.29
£18,871.32
£29,868.25

144

SANG Delivery &
Management
Contribution

£178,080.39 (towards Clare’s Green)

Affordable Housing
71) To meet the requirements of Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy a minimum of 40% of
the total number of units (net) should be provided as affordable housing.
The
developer is proposing 6 no. affordable units on site and the remaining will be subject of
a commuted sum.
Community Infrastructure Levy
72) Wokingham Borough Council will adopt CIL on 6th April 2015. As such, this would
replace the infrastructure mitigation provided through the signing of a section 106
agreement. In addition Vacant Property Credit has now come into force and the figure
for affordable housing will need to be reviewed since the buildings have become vacant
since the application was submitted.
Officer comment: The S106 agreement is
currently being amended to allow for the changes in circumstances if the decision is
taken post 6th April 2015 and an update will be given.

CONCLUSION
This is a full application and proposes redevelopment of this employment site to provide
38 dwellings including affordable housing, hard and soft landscaping, open space,
parking provision and associated infrastructure. The principle means of access is via the
existing main access onto Swallowfield Street with six dwellings served by two
independent accesses, also from Swallowfield Street.
The developed part of the site is within Swallowfield which identified in Policy CP9 of the
adopted Core Strategy as a Limited Development Location where development is
acceptable in principle. Policy CP17 states that in Limited Development Locations
sites should generally not exceed 25 dwellings.
The development exceeds the general limit of 25 dwellings. However, the policy does
not state a maxima for any site. There is no realistic prospect of the site being re-used
for employment purposes. This is previously developed land which the NPPF identifies
redevelopment for residential purposes as acceptable in principle.
Turning to whether the proposed development is sustainable, the NPPF identifies three
sustainability roles, environmental, social and economic. The determining issue is
whether any adverse impacts would significantly and demonstratively outweigh the
benefits.
Environmental
It is considered that the development will result in an appropriate design which would
not materially harm the character and appearance of the surrounding area and would
not undermine the spatial distinction between the settlement and the countryside. The
applicant has produced a detailed character assessment which has sought to
demonstrate how the development has taken account of local design characteristics.
Although this has been criticised by the Parish Council and some objectors, no issue is
taken over the design of the development in terms of its layout, use of materials and mix

145

and style of units.
The development would make full and effective use of previously developed land. The
scheme would deliver an acceptable density whist ensuring that the development would
have its own private amenity space conforming to Council standards and many of the
properties would look out onto an area of open space that would occupy a large
proportion of the site. All of these factors would ensure that the proposal would not
appear cramped or out of keeping with the existing built environment and would help
assimilate the development into the village. The opportunities to provide landscaping
along all the boundaries of the site and within the open space area will help to provide a
defined edge between the village boundary and the countryside beyond. This accords
with the guidance set out in Section 8 of the Borough Design Guide.
It would provide an area of open space and a play area for use by the whole
community.
Whilst the distance from a full range of services and facilities would weigh somewhat
against the proposal ,this must be balanced against the fact that the Core Strategy
identifies Swallowfield as a village that accommodate developments of generally 25
units. Therefore, the Core Strategy accepts that Swallowfield is not unsustainable,
albeit that this is limited. It must therefore follow that the general location of the site is
acceptable for residential development. In addition, available evidence suggests that
the most recent use of the site was unsustainable with heavy reliance on the private car.
There are no highway safety issues and the developer has agreed to make
contributions to improve the local footpaths to the front of the site.
The commitment to Code 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes, thereby moving to low
carbon energy is positive.
Whilst this aspect of the development has caused most local concern, the Council’s
consultants, WSP confirm that the development would not pose a flood risk.
Social
The development would contribute to the support and strengthening of the local
community and would provide housing to meet local needs by providing a mix of
housing types and tenures. Concern has been expressed by several residents and the
Parish about physical linkages to the centre of the village. Whilst this would be an ideal,
it would require acquisition of third party land which the applicant has confirmed is not
available. However, the development would not preclude this being achieved in the
future were an opportunity to arise. Additionally, it is not an isolated location and the
development proposed is within the developed edge of the village. The Section 106
agreement will deliver an appropriate level of contributions to mitigate against the
impacts of the development.
Economic
The development would enhance the economy of the community. New residents are
likely to support local services and businesses.
In conclusion, the benefits of the social and economic elements of the scheme weigh
heavily in favour of this application where there are no adverse impacts that would
outweigh the benefits.
The application is before the Committee as it is major development. The proposals are

146

considered to be acceptable and therefore it is recommended that planning permission
be granted subject to conditions and completion of a satisfactory Section 106 Legal
Agreement.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

147

APPENDIX 1
MEETING WITH SWALLOWFIELD FLOOD RESILIENCE GROUP HELD 9TH MARCH
2015

Cris Lancaster WBC
Steven Riley
Andy Keith
Lee Atkins
Bill Fitzpatrick
Ryan Saul
James McConnell

Chair
WSP on behalf of WBC
SFRG
SFRG
SFRG
Odyssey Markides on behalf of Bellway Homes
Bellway Homes

AGENDA

1
2
3
4

Latest submission of flood modelling to WBC
Absolute depths of flood modelling results, with and without drainage features
Plots of differential flood depths without drainage features
Results of groundwater level survey

QUESTIONS CONSIDERED
1
Modelling: How has the outflow from the site to the floodplain been treated in the
model?
2
Modelling: What groundwater level has been assumed in the model?
3
How has the model been calibrated against the 2007 flood event?
4
Please explain why the 100mm “discard” level has been applied
5
When the FRG met Bellway on 4th December 2014, an on site sewage holding
facility was agreed. We cannot see this on the revised scheme. Are we right?

As a result of the meeting the SFRG issued the following comments:

Scheme Design
Swallowfield Flood Resilience Group were first introduced to the scheme proposals at a
public consultation in 2013, following which a meeting occurred between the Chair of
the SFRG in February, 2014 and Roger Gibbs of Bellway Homes, the applicant.
Despite requests to be consulted formally prior to the planning submission, Bellway
submitted a formal application to WBC without doing so citing their concerns that until
an application was submitted other statutory stakeholders, notably WBC would not put
the scheme to the top of the pile.
Since the early design concept was shown in the public meeting SFRG have not seen a
substantive change in respect to the flood measures or sewer design at all. In this
respect, as a group, we cannot see any of our requested proposals or concerns
properly addressed. Consultation has taken the form of the SFRG comments being
made via WBC Planning Department and then replies relayed via Bellway’s consultants,

148

most recently a meeting occurred in March 2015 at which Bellway’s flood risk
consultants Odyssey Markides and WSP acting for WBC were present.
The proposed scheme sits across a historical pluvial flood / drainage route heading in a
northerly direction along Trowes Lane, across The Street through existing houses and
along the eastern site fringes to Swallowfield Street where the drainage is culverted
across to the Blackwater and Loddon flood plain beyond.
We are proposing what was requested at the outset that the applicant and the planning
authority to provide not just neighbouring properties but also the properties subject to
the planning application with the best possible chance of avoiding future flooding
events, both pluvial, fluvial, ground and from foul sewer discharge. The current scheme
does not achieve this and we believe it can and should.
WBC is currently being asked to review plans where potentially some fifteen or so
homes out of a planned thirty eight have designed floor heights at or below flood heights
previously measured in properties at the perimeter of the site. In addition there is no
emergency capacity in the scheme sewer designs for periods when the main sewers
are inundated and backed up, this is a situation which the developer has been informed
about but choses instead to rely on a theoretical peak flow design calculation which TW
have accepted.
We suggest that WBC request the applicant to relocate some of the proposed
properties away from the eastern boundary line such that the historic flood route could
be re-opened and be properly designed and improved for the benefit of both existing
and the proposed new homes. Soil from this area could be re-used within the site
obviating the need for excessive lorry movements. This change would require WBC to
provide an exception to the village boundary and permit this limited development only to
sit outside. The applicant would inevitably seek some compensation for the additional
time and design costs which may be provided with the provision of one further market
priced dwelling back into the scheme.
This proposed solution would, subject to design, meet with the local residents objectives
and provide the new occupants of the site and the village with a proper, positive design
legacy.
Foul Sewers
The SFRG believes that the proposed development will have a material and detrimental
effect on the foul drainage system in the village. We consider that the criterion for
assessing the betterment being claimed by the developer is seriously flawed.
It is
based on the Sewers for Adoption design guide for modern industrial sites and does not
reflect the actual discharge from the factory site. Our main criticism is that the
betterment only considers peak flow rates. The sewage system has for many years
been at full volumetric capacity. There will be more than 3 times the volume of
sewage entering the system from the new housing development every day, which will
increase the number of times and the length of time the sewers are overloaded, all of
which will make matters worse. This is not betterment.
Flooding
Fluvial flood risk to the site and to neighbouring properties is not changed by the
proposed development. Bellway have commissioned modelling work that shows the
site could in fact be classified as Zone 1, rather than Zone 3 as at present. FRG do not

149

dispute this and intend to build on this work to challenge the EA flood zone assessment
for other parts of the village.
In contrast, FRA believes the pluvial flood risk to the village, and to neighbouring
properties in particular, is significantly increased by the proposed development. The
modelling carried out by the developer ignores the extreme transient nature of recent
flood events, such as that in 2007. It also ignores the likely physical effect during such
transient events of raising the site by as much as a metre on the southern and eastern
boundaries.
While strongly supporting the residential development of the Willowtree site, FRG
believe that there are alternative solutions to the surface drainage issues that should
adopted to avoid exacerbating the consequences of pluvial events.
Flood Modelling
We have reviewed the additional flood modelling work that has been carried out in
January, and have provided a report on our findings. In summary, we have low
confidence because:
•
The model has not been calibrated. We have taken professional advice and
have been told that this is an essential first step in any hydrological modelling process.
•
The modelling has not been rigorous, e.g. mixing summer and winter events.
The model gives inconsistent results when changing landscape.
•
If anything, the model supports concerns that improvements in flooding at
Swallowfield Street are to the detriment of the rear gardens of The Street.
The model results have not been reviewed by the Environment Agency, the statutory
consultee on flooding.
We are awaiting a third party professional review of the material submitted. This will be
completed by 27th March.

150

APPENDIX 2

APPLICANTS POINTS

Loss of employment
The previous occupiers vacated the site in September 2014. The site has been
continuously marketed for over a year with little interest received.
Core Strategy Policy CP15 states that any proposed change of use of B1, B2 and B8
uses should not result in a net loss of B use within the Borough. The Council’s analysis,
contained in the Employment Land Monitoring Report (Aug 2014) shows a net gain of
3,649sqm of B use floorspace within the Borough since 2006 against the baseline
figure. In addition, there is a further 88,000sqm of B class floorspace with planning
permission but not yet implemented. This confirms that the Borough has a surplus of
Class B employment floorspace and that even if all employment land allocated for
residential development in the Managing Development Delivery DPD is re-developed, in
addition to this site, there would remain a surplus. The redevelopment of this site would
not therefore result in a net loss of employment floorspace and the proposal does not
conflict with Policy CP15.
The NPPF encourages the use of previously developed land and taking account of the
ability to overcome the loss of employment policy, it is considered that the re-use of the
land for residential development is appropriate.
Limited Development Location (Policy CP9 of the Core Strategy)
Whilst CP9 identifies Swallowfield as a limited development location, Policy CP9 does
not restrict the number of dwellings to be built in these locations and it is noted that the
Inspector in examining the Core Strategy removed the restriction on the number of
dwellings from the wording of Policy CP9. Policy CP17 refers to “sites to be identified
(emphasis added) in Limited Development Locations where they should not generally
(our emphasis) exceed 25 dwellings”. The application site is not an ‘identified’ site and
as such, as a windfall site, the proposed development should be assessed on its merits
and against other material considerations. This was discussed and agreed with policy
officers during the pre-application process.
Character and density
The design of the proposed development has been developed having regard to the
Borough Design Guide and the Swallowfield Village Design Statement. Trinity
Architecture has carried out a village character assessment to analyse the existing
development within the village in order to develop the design of the proposed
development so that it reflects the character of Swallowfield.
The density of the proposed development id 28dph or 14.6dph when taking account of
the open space. The density study shows that the density of the Curley’s Way
development is 16dph and Foxborough is 21dph. The ‘Village Core’ is 15dph and ‘The
Street’ is 14.5dph.
The density of the Strategic Development Locations is between 30-35dph, which is
considered to be a useful benchmark for new development

151

Flooding and drainage
Hydraulic modelling has demonstrated that the site is within Flood Zone 1 (low risk –
outside the floodplain), and even if we apply the exception test, there are wider
sustainability benefits to the community, the proposals are for the redevelopment of a
brownfield site, and there will be no safety issues arising from the development that
cannot be mitigated through the use of planning conditions. The EA has raised no
objections to the proposed application.
The risk of flooding from the rivers, groundwater, sewers, surface water ditches has
been assessed and mitigated through the development proposals and supporting Flood
Risk Assessment and Drainage strategy to ensure that the new development is not at
risk of flooding and the risk of flooding elsewhere does not increase as a result of the
new development.
Odyssey Markides on behalf of the applicant has undertaken detailed overland flood
flow analysis to assess the impact of the proposed development to flood risk offsite.
This involved creating a 3D model of the existing and proposed development allowing
for drainage in each model. The proposed drainage model excluded the attenuation
provided by the proposed filter drains, permeable paving, swales and pond reflecting a
worst case proposed scenario.
The 3D models were set within a circa 50 hectare offsite upstream catchment, with the
entire model assuming a 50% urban and 50% rural ground surface. The existing
upstream catchment is predominately rural and the proposed development will reduce
the hardstanding area. Therefore the ‘mixed’ urban and rural assumption in the model
further assessed a worst case scenario and reflected the likely maximum overland flows
which could pass through the site during extreme flood events. These models were
subject to intense rainfall events to assess the routes and depths of flood waters from
overland flow through the site. A comparison of flood depths pre and post development
for several flood events were determined.
All comparison models were undertaken at the request of WSP (acting on behalf of
WBC) and the SFRG. The modelling scenarios included the comparison of 3 no. SFRG
recorded flood levels from the 2007 flood event vs flood depths generated in the
existing site model. The 1 in 100 year plus 30% climate change 8 hour duration event
flood depths provided the closest matches to the SFRG recorded 2007 depths, resulting
in further confidence in the model results and providing an element of validation. For
this storm analysis, the impact of the proposed development showed reductions to flood
risk in Swallowfield Street and land east of the site.
In summary, across all modelled storm events and scenarios modelled (including
modelling a surcharged outfall to represent groundwater), the results demonstrate that
the site will not exacerbate flood risk to neighbouring properties during the lifetime of the
development. WSP has undertaken a comprehensive audit of all modelled events.
WSP concluded that the modelling was robust and that the findings demonstrate that
the development will not increase flood risk offsite.
With regard to foul drainage, due to the removal of the existing surface water
connections and the change in operational hours as a result of the proposed
development (commercial to residential), the estimated peak foul flow discharging

152

downstream into the existing Thames Water system will be reduced. As a result,
Thames Water has no objections to the foul drainage proposals.
In response to this additional work, WSP has confirmed that it has no objections to the
proposed development subject to the imposition of planning conditions.
Six dwellings are proposed to be served from two private driveways onto Swallowfield
Street. The remainder of the proposed dwellings will be accessed via the existing site
access onto Swallowfield Street. Visibility splays have been provided that are
acceptable for the recorded speed of traffic using Swallowfield Street.
Highways and Traffic
Car and cycle spaces meet WBC standards.
By comparing the predicted traffic generation of the residential development with the
traffic survey results of the existing site access, it is estimated that the proposed
development will result in a small amount of additional traffic over and above that
generated by the previous occupier. The increase however is minimal, equating to
approximately 7 – 10 additional movements per hour (or one additional vehicle every 6
– 9 minutes).
The NPPF is clear that development should only be prevented or refused on transport
grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. By
comparing the predicted traffic generation of the residential development with the traffic
generation of the permitted use on site, in our view, there is no case that the residential
redevelopment of the site will create significant additional traffic movements.
It should be noted that this application proposes the redevelopment of a brownfield site
located within the settlement boundary of Swallowfield to provide new housing. The
existing use of the site generates a significant level of vehicular movements as a result
of employees, deliveries and customers. The proposed development will not increase
the number of vehicular trips to an extent that would have a material impact on the
capacity or operation of the local highway network, these trip levels have been agreed
with the Council’s Highways Officer.
James Winkworth, former owner of the application site has confirmed that when the site
was in employment use, the staff travelled to work by car. We believe that the redevelopment of the site for residential purposes would result in more use of public
transport services than when the site was in employment use. This is on the basis that
the 72 bus service goes directly into Reading, which is the main employment and
transport hub (for access into London) for the sub-region and therefore likely to be the
main location where future residents would travel to work. This bus service is every 30
minutes both in the morning peak into Reading and from Reading in the evening peak
from Monday to Saturday and so is quite a frequent service.
These services operate in the early morning and late evening and so provide a realistic
opportunity for future residents to be able to access Reading for daily employment
purposes. Also, the 82/82K service operates in the evening throughout the week, so
that Reading is accessible in its capacity as the key sub-regional shopping and cultural
area of the sub-region.
The sustainability of the site will be enhanced in the following ways:

153

A new length of new footway along the frontage of the site to connect the development
with the existing footway network within the village. This enables residents of the
development to walk to services in the village and provides easy access to the bus stop
adjacent to the site;
A new length of footway to complete the existing footway provision between
Swallowfield village and the Basingstoke Road. This is to enable both residents from the
proposed development and existing residents of Swallowfield village to walk to
neighbouring services and facilities including those within Spencers Wood; and
A Travel Plan Pack will be provided to new residents of the proposed development to
inform them of opportunities to travel by means other than the private car. This will
include a package of measures to encourage sustainable travel including both
information on local services and facilities and promotional vouchers for discounted bus
travel.
Open space, amenity space, trees and landscape
The proposed development meets the WBC standard in respect of private amenity
space.
In addition, the proposal provides a large piece of open space to the west of the
proposed dwellings. This will be publicly accessible and managed by the management
company for the development, delivering a key benefit to the village.
The proposed site layout allows for the retention of the key trees within the site and
those that are considered of value with a long life span. Where it has not been possible
or appropriate to retain trees, semi mature replacements are proposed.
In addition, the proposals include extensive tree and hedge planting and the
management and maintenance of this will be secured by condition.
The open space within the development will include a new permanent pond and
landscape feature at the site entrance.
Surveys have been carried out across the site and there is little of ecological value and
the pond to the rear of the site has no species of ecological importance within it.
The proposed development will provide extensive open space and planting, together
with the pond which will provide ecological and biodiversity enhancements in
accordance with paragraphs 109 and 118 of the NPPF.
Bellway are prepared to provide for a full range of payments provided in the Heads of
Terms.
A management company will be appointed to maintain communal areas of the
development and also to ensure future maintenance of any drainage systems that
traverse individual properties. There will be the relevant positive obligations put upon
individual plot purchasers by way of the plot transfer which are protect by a Deed of
Covenant.
Infrastructure and services mitigation
WBC has adopted its CIL charging schedule which will come into force on 6th April
2015. As outlined under Part 40 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010
(as amended), the existing floorspace can be offset against the proposed development
when calculating the CIL liability provided that it has been in lawful use for a continuous
period of 6 months within the three years before planning permission is granted. In this
regard, there is approximately 4,967.9sqm of existing floorspace on site. The previous

154

occupiers vacated the site in September 2014. They had previously occupied the site
for at least the preceding three years.
The application proposals will result in an additional 5,552.8sqm (4,402sqm private
housing) of floorspace. Within WBC’s CIL charging schedule, new private residential
floorspace is charged at £365 per sqm and as such the proposed development is liable
to pay £206,553.50 of CIL. This takes account of the potential to apply for affordable
housing relief on the 6 shared ownership units within the scheme.
Due to short length of time between planning committee and the CIL coming into force,
the s106 agreement has been drafted to include an appropriate mechanism to allow
flexibility for CIL to replace the agreed s106 contributions covered by the Regulation
123 list should CIL come into force in advance of the decision notice being issued.

155

This page is intentionally left blank

Informal footpath link for
pedestrian and wheelchair use

Existing dense and
mature hedge planting

Beaver Cottage
Proposed wet ponds creating
biodiversity habitat

Alltdearg

Footpath Link

Timber sleeper
footbridge

Play Area

N

Existing English Oak
tree to be retained

S

157

1m wide service
margin

SU
MM
ER

Open Space

SE
T

Little Gables

W

Swale with grass banks to
form water course to feed
large landscape pond feature
of open space

MI
D

Timber sleeper
footbridge

SET
TER
WIN
MID

Existing dense and
mature hedge planting

MI
D

VS

VS

VS

Existing 1.8m high fence
retained / repaired with new
1.8m high close boarded fence
introduced as required

VS

BCP For
Plots
33-37

31

H

G

30

13.3m
44 Feet
Approx.

One bathroom window only with
obscure glass to be provided at
first floor to side elevation

20m
66 Feet Approx.

G

Proposed drainage
ditch, refer to drainage
strategy for details

Existing drainage
ditch regraded, refer
to drainage strategy
for details
One bathroom window only
with obscure glass to be
provided at first floor to
side elevation

19

F

F

22

23

24

3

possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces
possible spaces

Total possible spaces =
Additional unallocated spaces =
Total =
Average car parking spaces per house =

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

G
09

A
A

H

BCP For
Plots 17-22

C
B

VP

03

17

VP

C
16

D

Green Acres

VP

2.0x2.0m pedestrian visibility
splays to Swallowfield Street

Orchard
house

D
D

No first floor windows
to end gable wall

13

Position of existing houses
taken from Ordnance Survey

Existing 1.8m high
fence to be retained

New entrance to
form private drive

Existing dense conifer screen
hedge to be retained

15

6No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
2No
2No
4No
3No
4No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
3No
4No
3No
3No
4No
4No
4No
4No
4No

Line of existing surface
water ditch to be culverted

01

Existing Purple
Maple tree to
be retained

New picket palisade fence
to rear line of footpath
Existing Silver Birch tree
to street scene retained

A

D

Position of existing houses
taken from Ordnance Survey

Oaklands

02

C
18

The
New
House

Existing Willow trees
to be retained

2.0x49m visibility splay
from Private Driveway
Access (to a 1m offset)

Charlton
House

New 2.0m wide
footpath to highway

2.0x69m visibility splay
from Private Driveway
Access (to a 1m offset)

2.4x100m visibility splay
from Principal Site Access
(to a 1m offset)

Old
Cottage
Coles
Cottage

Little
Haddon

Holly
Tree

VS

2.0m x 2.0m Visibility splay

VP

Visitor parking bay

BCP

Refuse / recycling bins collection point only
on day of road side collection. (No bins to be
permanently stored in this location).
Permanent refuse / recycling storage for
houses to be within individual plots.

Affordable Housing

A

D
11

Legend

Accommodation Schedule

Hedge to be
retained to
street scene

VP

10

12

7m
80 t
23 Fee x.
78 pro
Ap

Proposed dwellings on line
of existing office building

04

Shared Surface Road

A1

Reinforced grassed
area turning head for
fire appliance use only

2.0x106m visibility splay
from Private Driveway
Access (to tangent point)

VP

B

BCP For
Plots 13-16

Existing Ash
trees to be
retained

VP

05

2m wide service
margin

Existing site entrance
reduced in size and
modified to accommodate
residential development

Proposed dwellings on line
of existing office building

06

07

Existing London
Plane trees to
be retained

Park Villas

2.0x133m visibility splay
from Private Driveway
Access (to tangent point)

08

14

Double garage plus 4 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car space =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 1 car spaces =
Single garage plus 1 car space =
Single garage plus 3 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Double garage plus 2 car space =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Double garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Single garage plus 2 car spaces =
Double garage plus 2 car spaces =
Double garage plus 2 car spaces =
Double garage plus 2 car spaces =
Double garage plus 2 car spaces =
Double garage plus 2 car spaces =

VP

Open Space

VP

G

VP

1

Internal dimension of single garage size 6.0m(19’9”)x3.0m(9’10”)
Internal dimension of double garage size 6.0m(19’9”)x6.0m(19’9”)
Minimum garage door size 2.4m(8’11”)x2.1m(6’11”)

Chalgrove
Existing English
Oak tree to be
retained

F

Single garage

Serenade

Private Housing
Plot Numbers 07 to 38
Number of houses = 32
All houses to be provided with either a single or double garage to
provide both car and cycle parking and general storage.
Additionally all houses with single garage to be provided with domestic
shed within rear garden to accomodate additional cycle parking.

Private Driveway

35

All houses to be provided with domestic shed within rear garden
to accomodate cycle parking.

Schedule
Plot No.07
Plot No.08
Plot No.09
Plot No.10
Plot No.11
Plot No.12
Plot No.13
Plot No.14
Plot No.15
Plot No.16
Plot No.17
Plot No.18
Plot No.19
Plot No.20
Plot No.21
Plot No.22
Plot No.23
Plot No.24
Plot No.25
Plot No.26
Plot No.27
Plot No.28
Plot No.39
Plot No.30
Plot No.31
Plot No.32
Plot No.33
Plot No.34
Plot No.35
Plot No.36
Plot No.37
Plot No.38

K

Applehurst

Shared Equity Affordable Housing
Plot Numbers 01 to 06
Number of Houses
=6
Number of Car Parking Spaces
= 11
Unallocated Car Parking per House = 1.8

VS

VS

25

G

Kimberley

VS

G

Side windows to ground floor
Living Room and Dining Room
to provide dual aspect

=2

26

VS

ay

Open Space
Number of General Visitor Parking Spaces

VP

VS

20

Windy Ridge

27

28

2.4x100m visibility splay
from Principal Site Access
(to tangent point)

Open Space
Line of Settlement car parking
Boundary in Green

21

J

Proposed On Site Car Parking Provision

C2

H

33

34

Side windows to kitchen to
provide dual aspect to room

VP

D

C

29

VS

H

Private Drivew

Existing Ash to
be retained

New semi-mature replacement
tree to form natural 'gateway'
into development

New semi-mature
replacement trees

J

VS

L

4no. Sheffield
cycle stands

Sw
allo
wf
iel
dS
tre
et

J

36

VS

H
32

37

Halfway Up

VS

RISE
MER
SUM
MID

VS

RI
SE

VS

38

Existing truncated conifer
trees to boundary removed.
New native tree and hedge
dense screen planting to detail

New pond water and landscape
feature at site entrance and
approach to village.
Permanent depth 1.2m (4' 0")

Open Space

E

W
IN
TE
R

VS

L

House Type A @ 83.6m2
No garage

― 4No

House Type B @ 95.9m2
No garage

― 2No

Private Housing
House Type A1 @ 92.6m2
Single garage

― 1No

House Type C @ 96.9m2
Single garage

― 3No

House Type C1 @ 96.5m2
Single garage

― 1No

House Type C2 @ 96.9m2
Single garage

― 1No

House Type D @ 96.3m2
Single garage

― 6No

House Type F @ 120.1m2
Single garage

― 3No

House Type G @ 141.5m2
Single garage

― 6No

House Type H @ 148.9m2
Single garage

― 3No

House Type H @ 148.9m2
Double garage

― 2No

House Type J @ 176m2
Double garage

― 3No

House Type K @ 206.3m2
Double garage

― 1No

House Type L @ 233.86m2
Double garage

― 2No

Application Areas
Total Site Area
Development Area
(Within Settlement Boundary)
Minimum Public Open Space
(10% of Development Area)

105No
4No
109No
3.4No

0

Client • Bellway Homes Ltd (Thames Valley)
This drawing is the copyright of Trinity Architecture and must not be copied or reproduced without written consent. Scale for planning purposes only.

Drawing No
Scale @ A1
Drawn
Checked

•
•
•
•

38No Total

Title • Site Plan

= 2.6 ha / 6.4 acres
= 1.34 ha / 3.32 acres
= 0.134 ha / 0.332 acres

5

10

15

20

25

Project • Willow Tree Way, Swallowfield
date printed: 17/12/2014

2521-10L
1:500
mf
sjh

Marston House 2 Market Close Poole Dorset BH15 1NQ
Telephone +44 (0) 1202 687 676 Facsimile +44 (0) 1202 665 437
Email design@trinity-architecture.com Web www.trinity-architecture.com

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 123.
ITEM NO:
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2119

No weeks on Parish
day
of
committee
18/16
Arborfield

Ward

Listed by:

Arborfield

Scheme
of
Delegation

Reading Football Club (C/O Barton Willmore)
Former Bearwood Golf Course
Postcode RG41 5DB
Mole Road
Sindlesham
Wokingham
Berkshire
Proposal
Full application for the redevelopment of Former Bearwood Golf Course
to provide a new football training ground and academy facility,
comprising of 3 full size team pitches, 7 other pitches for use by various
under 18 age groups and a goal keeping practice areas. A single storey
extension and conversion of existing golf course clubhouse into security
gatehouse and visitors cafe, new maintenance shed and maintenance
store. Single storey changing block and medical suite. Refurbishment of
West Lodge for junior academy trialists, refurbishment of apple store,
retention and refurbishment of riding stables offices/stores to academy
offices, new single storey academy building to provide changing rooms,
medical suite, classrooms, player recreation and gymnasium area.
Refurbishment of Mole Lodge to provide accommodation for senior
academy trialists, new two storey first team building, single storey
headquarters building. The refurbishment/rebuilding of existing housing
and farm/industrial buildings to provide 26 residential units (net increase
of 18 residential units) with associated parking, landscaping and access.
Demolition of ancillary buildings plus garden wall to be made good and
associated works relating to Bearwood Lake dam.
Type
Full
PS Category EIA
Officer
Ashley Smith
Applicant
Location

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 01/04/15
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application is for the redevelopment of the site for use as the new training facility for
Reading Football Club as well as the creation of 18 new residential units within
converted or rebuilt buildings.
The site is located within the Countryside and with a Grade II* Historic Park and
Garden. The park is currently on English Heritage ‘at Risk Register’. In accordance EIA
regulations and Environmental Statement was received with this application.
The proposal does not significantly impact on neighbouring properties in terms of
overbearing, overlooking or loss of light, or from any new activity subject to conditions.

159

There are no objections from the Conservation Architect, Borough Ecologist or Trees
and Landscape Officer. The Highway Authority is also satisfied that the proposal will not
lead to significant adverse highway impact and provides an adequate level of vehicle
parking.
Subject to the securing of a Conservation, Landscape and Environmental Plan
(CLEMP), English Heritage does not object to the proposals. The proposal will require
referral to the National Planning Casework unit.
The proposal is considered to not fully accord with the development plan due to conflict
with countryside policy; however, on balance the scheme is recommended for approval,
as the harm to rural character and the impact on the designated countryside is
considered to be outweighed by the special circumstances and need of the applicant as
well as the benefits to the historic environment, ecology, landscape, and most
importantly the securing of a long term Management Plan for the park through the
CLEMP.

PLANNING STATUS
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Countryside
Grade II* Historic Park and gardens
Listed Buildings on site (Grade II)
Tree preservation orders
Contaminated land consultation zone
Landfill (small area in north of the site)
Minerals Consultation Zone
7km Thames Basin Heath SPA
Local Wild Life Site

RECOMMENDATION
A) That the Head of Development Management be authorised to GRANT planning
permission subject to the completion of a satisfactory S106 Legal Agreement,
referral to the NPCU and the following conditions:
B) That, should the legal agreement not be completed by the end of the 2nd April
2015, the Head of Development Management be authorised to GRANT planning
permission subject to the completion of a satisfactory S106 Legal Agreement
(Securing the CLEMP and Employment Skills Plan), CIL liability notice, referral to
the NPCU and the following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings shall

160

have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
3. This permission is in respect of the following drawings:
Drawing No

Title

Full schedule of all relevant plans to be included in Member’s update.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
4. With the exception of the residential development (which may be disposed of
separately), The permission hereby granted shall be personal to Reading Football Club
for the purposes outlined in the planning application only.
In granting this permission the local planning authority has had regard to the special
circumstances of this case, being the special requirements of Reading Football Club
within the Borough, and wishes to have the opportunity of exercising control over any
subsequent alternative use in the interests of the amenities of the area which may be
more harmful to the countryside.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3, CP11.
5. Development shall not commence until a drainage strategy detailing any on and/or off
site drainage works, has been submitted to and approved by, the local planning
authority in consultation with the sewerage undertaker. No discharge of foul or surface
water from the site shall be accepted into the public system until the drainage works
referred to in the strategy have been completed.
Reason - The development may lead to sewage flooding; to ensure that sufficient
capacity is made available to cope with the new development; and in order to avoid
adverse environmental impact upon the community. Should the Local Planning
Authority consider the above recommendation is inappropriate or are unable to include
it in the decision notice, it is important that the Local Planning Authority liaises with
Thames Water Development Control Department (telephone 0203 577 9998) prior to
the Planning Application approval.
6. No development shall take place until a measured survey of the site and a plan
prepared to scale of not less than 1:500 showing details of existing and proposed
finished ground levels (in relation to a fixed datum point) and finished floor levels shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority, and the
approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the buildings.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to surrounding

161

buildings and landscape. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery DPD policy TB21.
7. The dwellings shall achieve Code Level 4 in accordance with the requirements of the
Code for Sustainable Homes: Technical Guide [or such national measure of
sustainability for house design that replaces that scheme]. No dwelling shall be
occupied until a Final Code Certificate has been issued for it by an accredited assessor
certifying that Code Level 4 has been achieved.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery DPD
policy CC04
8. The buildings making up the Football Training facility shall Achieve the necessary
mandatory Building Research Establishment Assessment Method (BREEAM)
requirements or any future national equivalent. Furthermore the buildings shall meet or
exceed statutory requirements for water resource management.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery DPD
policy CC04
9. The measures for generating 10% of the predicted energy requirement of the
development from decentralised renewable and/or low carbon sources outlined in the
submitted Energy Statement shall be implemented before the development is first
occupied and shall remain operational for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy policy CP1 & the Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Document.
10. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification), no additional windows or similar
openings shall be constructed in the flank elevations in the first floor levels or above of
the residential dwellings hereby permitted except for any which may be shown on the
approved drawings.
Reasons: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy CP3
11. Those windows shown on the approved residential dwelling drawings as having
obscured glazing in part or full shall be so-fitted and shall be permanently so-retained,
and shall remain fixed closed at all times
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
12. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in

162

writing by the Local Planning Authority, a Communications Plan. The Plan shall specify
methods for communicating with local residents, including the creation of a liaison group
to meet in accordance with an agreed schedule. The Plan shall be carried out as
approved until the final completion of the development
Reasons: In order to minimise disturbance to neighbours during construction works
Highways Conditions:
13. No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the approved
plans. The vehicle parking and turning space shall be retained and maintained in
accordance with the approved details and the parking space shall remain available for
the parking of vehicles at all times and the turning space shall not be used for any other
purpose other than vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to allow
vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road safety and
convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe development and in the
interests of amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
14. The Football Club Training Facility shall not be occupied until the turning space has
been provided in full accordance with the approved plans. The turning space shall
thereafter be retained in accordance with the approved details and shall be used for no
other purpose.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to avoid adverse impact on
the public highway in the interests of highway safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP3 & CP6.
15. No residential building shall be occupied until the residential turning heads have
been demarcated in accordance with details to be submitted and approved by the LPA.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to avoid adverse impact on
the public highway in the interests of highway safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP3 & CP6.
16. The existing vehicular access to former Bearwood Riding Stables shall be stopped
up and abandoned, except for emergency vehicle access only, in accordance with
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to avoid adverse impact on
the public highway in the interests of highway safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP3 & CP6.
17. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted details of secure
and covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of and visitors to the
Football Club Training Facility shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in accordance with
such details as may be approved before occupation of the Football Club Training

163

Facility hereby permitted, and shall be permanently retained in the approved form for
the parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
18. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted details of secure
and covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of and visitors to the
residential element of the scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in accordance
with such details as may be approved before occupation of the residential element of
the scheme hereby permitted, and shall be permanently retained in the approved form
for the parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
19. Prior to the occupation of the development the proposed vehicular access shall
have been formed and provided with visibility splays shown on the approved drawing
number Drg No. 28289/001/SK004 Rev C. The land within the visibility splays shall be
cleared of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height and maintained clear of any
obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
20. No other development of the site as hereby approved shall take place until the
access road has been widened in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To ensure adequate access into the site for vehicles, plant and deliveries
associated with the development in the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6
21. No building shall be occupied until the accesses (and access roads) have been
constructed in accordance with construction details to be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
22. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification), no gates or barriers shall be erected
unless set back a distance of at least 15 metres from the highway boundary and so as
to open away from the highway
Reason: To ensure that vehicles do not obstruct the highway whilst waiting for gates or
barriers to be opened or closed, in the interests of road safety. Relevant policy: Core

164

Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
23. No building shall be occupied until the footpath as indicated on Drg No. 28289 /
SK007 has been constructed in accordance with details to be submitted and approved
by the LPA.
Reason: In order: to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel/walking.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
24. No development shall be occupied until the off-site works comprising footway
construction adjacent to Mole Road and associated footway dropped crossings
proposed on Mole Road have been provided in accordance with details to be submitted
and approved by the Council’s Minor Works Engineer.
Reason: In the interests of highway/pedestrian safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
25. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the
construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials,
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate,
v) wheel washing facilities,
vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
vii)
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works.
viii) measures to inform local residents of the commencement of development by letter
and provide appropriate contact details for residents to contact the developer if they
have concerns or issues.
ix) Demolition and Construction Traffic Routing Agreement
Reason: In the interests of highway safety & convenience and neighbour amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
26. Prior to the commencement of the development a Travel Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The travel plan shall include a
programme of implementation and proposals to promote alternative forms of transport
to and from the site, other than by the private car and provide for periodic review. The
travel plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as so-approved.
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policy
CP6.
Landscape Conditions:

165

27. Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished floor levels or
contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access
and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structure (e.g.
furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, external
services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include planting plan, specification
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass
establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation timetable.
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a
timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority. Any trees or plants which,
within a period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously
damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
species, size and number as originally approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03 and TB21 (and TB06 for garden development)
28. No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on the
approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in any
way or removed without previous written consent of the local planning authority; any
trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being severely damaged
or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the completion of the development
hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and
species unless the local planning authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to
the are. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
29. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme which
provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or
adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority (the Approved Scheme); the tree protection
measures approved shall be implemented in complete accordance with the Approved
Scheme for the duration of the development (including, unless otherwise provided by
the Approved Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning,
demolition works, soil moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any
other operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery.
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving
use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence until the local
planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice) with a period of no
less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the measures identified in the
Approved Scheme on-site.

166

c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the
Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority has first been
sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which are of
amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning authority
that the necessary measures are in place before development and other works
commence (Please note: An arboricultural method statement will need to be submitted
to provide more detailed information in accordance with BS5837:2012)
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03 and TB21
30. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all boundary
treatments (fences and walls) shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The details shall specify heights, materials, colours, types and
designs. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the
development or phased as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be maintained in the approved form for so long as the development
remains on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
31. Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned, domestic
gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance of
the landscaping hereby approved. (Please note this is different to the CLEMP as it will
relate to the management of the new planting within the site.)
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03 and TB21
32. Prior to the commencement of the development, details of earthworks shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details shall
include the proposed grading and mounding of land areas including the levels and
contours to be formed, showing the relationship of proposed mounding to existing
vegetation and surrounding landform. The Earthworks shall be carried out in

167

accordance with the approved details and permanently so-retained.
Reasons:In the interests of the amenity and landscape character of the area. (Although
details have been submitted in relation to proposed ground modelling across the site we
will require detailed engineering drawings of level changes / proposed ground
modelling, once these have been finalised as part of the detailed scheme)
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
Heritage Conditions:
33. Detailed Drawing And Schedule To Be Submitted – Mill Building
A detailed drawing and schedule showing all those parts of the building to be removed,
dismantled or stripped out (including the removal of internal features, machinery, floors,
and wall or ceiling surfaces) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing prior to the implementation of any works in pursuance of this
permission and shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved
scheme.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage asset.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
34. Schedule of repairs – Walled Garden, Mill Building, Estate Workers Cottages,
Proposed Laundry Building
Prior to the commencement of these works, a description of the steps and works to be
taken and carried out in relation to the repair and alteration of the Walled Garden, Mill
Building, Estate Workers Cottages and proposed Laundry Building, including any
additional elements to be inserted, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority in writing, and the development shall thereafter be undertaken in
accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage assets.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24

35. Re-pointing - Sample Area On Site
Prior to any re-pointing of the external brickwork to the Walled Garden, Mill Building,
Estate Workers Cottages or proposed Laundry Building, a sample area shall be
prepared on site to show the proposed mortar composition and colour, and method of
pointing, for the approval of the Local Planning Authority in writing. For the avoidance of
doubt, the use of Portland Cement within the mortar/pointing mix to be used on these
19th century buildings shall be avoided unless otherwise approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The works shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage assets.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
36. External Brickwork To Match Existing

168

Any areas of external brickwork required to be re-instated in accordance with the
approved plans shall match the original brickwork in brick colour and size, mortar
colour, and pointing and bonding detail.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage assets.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
37. Joinery Details
Prior to the commencement of development detailed plans, elevations and cross
sections of new or replacement external joinery, at a scale of 1:20 shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall thereafter be
undertaken in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage assets.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
.
38. Replacement Windows/Doors
Further details of any new or replacement windows and doors to be inserted in the
Walled Garden Buildings, Mill Building, Estate Workers Cottages or proposed Laundry
Building in accordance with the approved plans shall be submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority in writing prior to their installation.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage assets.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
39. Further Details Of Rainwater And Drainage
Further details of all external rainwater, drainage and ventilation goods shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and shall be
installed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage assets.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
40. Reuse Of Clay Tiles/Slates
Any 19th century building roofs to be stripped, shall ensure that the existing clay tiles or
natural slates are carefully removed from the roof and stored prior to re-use on the roof.
Any deficit of tiles or slates shall be made up with matching clay tiles or natural slate as
appropriate, a sample of which shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
written approval prior to the re-cladding of the roof.
Reason: To protect and preserve the character of the heritage assets.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
41. Recording (Plans/Photos) – Former Store Building to be demolished
Prior to the commencement of any work to demolish this building a detailed record of
the existing building in the form of 1:50 survey plans and elevations, photographs of all
elevations, and typical interior and exterior details shall be made and submitted to the
Local Planning Authority and to the Local Historic Environment Record maintained by
Reading Museum.

169

Reason: To ensure an appropriate record of the building is made and retained.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD Policy TB24
Archaeology Conditions:
42. No development shall commence until a programme of archaeological work (which
may comprise more than one phase of work) has been implemented in accordance with
a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that any archaeological remains within the site are adequately
investigated and recorded or preserved in situ in the interest of protecting the
archaeological heritage of the Borough.
Ecology Conditions:
43. Prior to commencement of development a detailed reptile mitigation strategy shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The detailed
reptile mitigation strategy shall be in accordance with the submitted Ecological
Consultation – Review and Update Response to Wokingham Borough Comments
(Aspect Ecology, March 2015) and the mitigation, contingency and enhancement
measures contained within paragraph 9.203 – 9.212 of the submitted Environmental
Statement (September 2014). The detailed reptile mitigation strategy shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing
by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure the continued protection of protected species
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7
44. Prior to commencement of development a detailed Landscape and Ecological
Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority for the development. The detailed Landscape and Ecological
Management Strategy (LEMS) shall be in accordance with the mitigation, contingency
and enhancement measures contained within paragraph 9.179 – 9.264 of the submitted
Environmental Statement (September 2014). The submitted Landscape and
Environmental Management Plan (LEMP) shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure the continued protection of protected species
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7
45. Prior to commencement of development a detailed Great Crested Newt Mitigation
Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority for
the development. The detailed Great Crested Newt Mitigation Strategy shall be in
accordance with the mitigation, contingency and enhancement measures contained
within paragraph 9.179 – 9.264 of the submitted Ecological Consultation – Review and
Response to Wokingham Borough Council (Aspect Ecology, December 2014). The
submitted detailed Great Crested Newt Mitigation Strategy shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local
planning authority.

170

Reason: To ensure the continued protection of protected species
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7

Environmental Health Conditions:
46. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than
between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 7:00p.m. Monday to Friday and 8:00 a.m. to
1.00p.m. Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or bank or national Holidays.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD CC06
47. No construction deliveries shall be accepted or dispatched outside the hours
of 8:00a.m. to 7:00p.m. Monday to Friday and 8:00 a.m. to 1.00p.m on Saturday
and at no time on Sundays or bank or national Holidays.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD CC06
48. No development shall commence until an Environmental Health Management
Plan (EHMP) has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority. The plan
should detail items such as phasing of construction, types of piling rig and earth
moving machinery to be utilized and measures proposed to mitigate the impact of
construction operations. In addition the plan should make note of any temporary
lighting that will be used during the construction phase of the development. The
plan shall be implemented in full and retained until the development has been
constructed. Any deviation from this Statement shall be first agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure disruption is minimised as much as possible during
construction.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD CC06
49. Before development commences the applicants shall submit for written
approval to the Local Planning Authority a scheme of works that sets out the
measures that will be taken to minimise dust arising from the development. The
dust mitigation measures identified in the scheme shall be carried out and
maintained until construction is complete. The control of dust can also be
included in a Environmental Health Management Plan (EHMP) for the site
Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents during the construction period
50. No sound reproduction equipment which conveys messages by voice or
otherwise which is audible outside the curtilage of the premises shall be installed
on the site.
Reason: In order to protect the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3.

171

51. Noise resulting from the use of plant, machinery or equipment during the
construction phase of this development shall not exceed a level of 5dB(A) below
the existing background level (or 10dB(A) below if there is a particular tonal
quality) when measured according to British Standard BS4142-1997, at a point
one metre external to the nearest noise sensitive premises.
Reason: in the interests of protecting the local residents from unreasonable noise
levels which would be detrimental to the residential character of the area.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD CC06
52. Before development commences details of any proposed external lighting
scheme shall be submitted for written approval to the local planning authority.
The scheme shall set out the steps that will be taken to ensure that external
lighting does not cause a nuisance to local residents including future residents of
the site. In particular this scheme shall detail proposed hours of operation for
flood lighting.
Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3
53. Development shall not begin until an air quality assessment has been carried
out and where necessary a scheme for protecting proposed sensitive receptors
from poor air quality has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. All works that form part of the approved scheme shall be
completed before any dwelling hereby approved is occupied.
Reason - To ensure that sensitive receptors are not subject to poor air quality as
a result of the development.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3
54. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other
than that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation
must not commence until conditions A to D have been complied with. If
unexpected contamination is found after development has begun, development
must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination
to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until condition 4
has been complied with in relation to that contamination.
Part A: Site Characterisation
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided
with the planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to
assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it
originates on the site. The scope of the assessment must be submitted to an
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of
the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in
writing of the Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include:
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

172

(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
• human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland and service lines and pipes,
• adjoining land,
• groundwaters and surface waters,
• ecological systems,
• archeological sites and ancient monuments;
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR
11’.
Part B: Submission of Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and
other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, and
is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and
remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The
scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part
2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the
land after remediation.
Part C: Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to
carry out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. Following
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried
out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority.
Part D: Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of
condition part A, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme
must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition part B, which
is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of

173

the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition part C.
Part E: Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance.
A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term
effectiveness of the proposed remediation over a period to be agreed with LPA,
and the provision of reports on the same must be prepared, both of which are
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following
completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the
monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the
Local Planning Authority.
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR
11’.
Reason (common to all parts): To ensure that risks from land contamination to
the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with
those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers,
neighbours and other offsite receptors.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3, MDD CC06
55. No development shall commence until a detailed investigation, to determine
the present and likely future impact of landfill gas on the site, has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The method and
extent of this investigation shall be agreed with the local planning authority prior
to commencement of work. Where a risk from migrating gas is identified, details
of appropriate measures to prevent ingress of landfill gas to inhabited spaces and
outdoor areas, including provision for future monitoring, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the planning authority, before the development
commences. The development shall proceed in accordance with the measures
approved.
Reason – To protect occupiers of buildings that are close to the site from the
risks associated with landfill gas.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3
56. Prior to the demolition and refurbishment phase, an Asbestos Management
report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The report shall provide full details of surveys, mitigation, and
verification of asbestos management, and as appropriate, provision of
contingency surveys, mitigation and verification to be adopted during the
construction phase. The details shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP3

174

Additional Drainage/Flood risk mitigation conditions:
57. To follow in members update
Informatives:
1. Whilst the development does not fully accord with the policies contained within the
adopted development plan, material considerations & the particular circumstances as
they relate to this case, warrant a different decision being taken. The reasons for this
are set out in the report.
2. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions which
must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. Commencement of the
development without complying with the pre-commencement requirements may be
outside the terms of this permission and liable to enforcement action. The information
required should be formally submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant
fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the development should be carried
out only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case
officer to discuss.
3. The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.
4. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act the contents of which relate to this
development. The applicant is particularly reminded of their obligations with regards the
CLEMP.
5. The Head of Technical Services at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham [0118
9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details before
any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and footways). This
planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access or works.
6. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information contact
the Highway Authority on tel.: 0118 9746000.
7. The developer’s attention is drawn to the fact that this permission does not authorise
the physical construction of the proposed off-site highway works and site access
connections to the public highway. A separate legal agreement made with the Council
under s.278 of the Highways Act 1980 is required. No work within or affecting the public
highway shall commence until the agreement has been completed and the Council, as
local highway authority, has approved all construction and installation details together
with a programme of works.
8. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and licensed as
required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in order to minimise

175

disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the highway.
Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any utility
to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the Borough’s Street
Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST three months in advance
of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination with other works so as to
minimise disruption.
9. This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent that may be
required for the display of advertisements on the site for which a separate
Advertisement Consent application may be required. You should be aware that the
display of advertisements without the necessary consent is a criminal offence liable to
criminal prosecution proceedings through the courts.
10. Thames Water wishes to inform the applicant that it will aim to provide customers
with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute
at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account
of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.
11. The requisite Travel plan would need to comply with the latest national and local
guidance:
1) NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport)
2) The Essential Guide to Travel Planning (DfT, March 2008)
3) Delivering Travel Plans Through the Planning Process (DfT, April 2009)
4) A Guide on Travel Plans for Developers (DfT)
5) Making Residential Travel Plans Work (DfT, June 2007) All accessible at:
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/sustainable/travelplans/
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-local-transport
Also:
WBC Transport Plan 3 and Active Travel Plan 2011 – 2026
WBC Workplace Travel Plan Guidance and Residential Travel Plan Guidance
Documents, covering workplace travel plans and residential travel plans provide local
guidance and are available on the Borough’s website.
12. The applicant is reminded that there are trees on site protected by a Tree
Preservation Order. It is a criminal offence to wilfully or knowingly cause damage to
those trees, including their roots unless in accordance with express planning
permission.

176

PLANNING HISTORY
There is no recent planning history pertaining to the site of relevance to the current
proposals.
The Heritage section below (and the Heritage Statement of Significance that
accompanied the application) provide an appraisal of the history to the site and its
surrounding area.
The site comprises a former golf club and nine hole course (Closed 31st March 2014)
with limited ancillary residential, equine and limited industrial/commercial uses. A
number of the buildings are no longer in use and in a state of disrepair. The site forms
part of the wider Bearwood Park Grade II* listed Historic Park and Garden and includes
two listed buildings (Park Lodge and West Lodge), a designated Local Wildlife Site, a
designated Area of Special Landscape Interest and a 17 hectare manmade Lake and
Dam.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Commercial Football element
Site Area
Previous land use

Proposed parking spaces

Circa 50 Hectares
Defunct golf course, some residential,
equine uses and some business uses.
c. 5700m2 increase
At least 60 Jobs maintained with in the
Borough (excluding players), some
positions will be new, many will be
transferred from the Hogwood Site.
198 Car + 4 Coach

For Residential Element
Existing units
Proposed units
Number of affordable units proposed
Previous land use
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

8
26
Commuted Sum (£300,000)
Existing residential
Informal parking arrangements
51

Change in non-residential floorspace (+/-)
Number of jobs created/lost

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
English Heritage
Removed previous objections, subject to conditions and the
securing of the CLEMP through the S106 agreement. (Conditions
33-41)
Conservation Architect No Objection, subject to conditions and the securing of the
CLEMP through the S106 agreement. (Conditions 33-41)
Trees and Landscape No Objection, subject to conditions and the securing of the
CLEMP through the S106 agreement. (Conditions27-32)
Ecology
No Objection, subject to conditions and the securing of the
CLEMP through the S106 agreement. (Conditions 43-45)
Highways Authority
No Objection, subject to conditions (13-26)

177

Highways Agency

No Objection

Environmental Health

No Objection, subject to conditions (46-56)

Affordable Housing

No objection raised. Provided advice on the required level of
affordable housing provision required at the site.
Awaiting Comments on revised drainage details. To be reported
in members update.
Revised comments to follow. It is hoped that these will be
received in time for members update.
No Objection, subject to conditions (5)

WBC Drainage Officer
Environment Agency
Thames Water
Natural England

No objection, Offered general advice on landscape and
ecological matters and recommended the Authority utilise the
advice of relevant officers. Recommended the use of an
Ecological Management Plan.
Borough Archaeologist No Objection, subject to condition (42)
Sport England

Rights of Way

Objected to the scheme due to the loss of a golf course (Please
note that this is a non-statutory objection and therefore no referral
to the National Planning Casework Unit is required)
The rights of way officer supported the views of Loddon
Ramblers, and noted that opportunities may be available to
enhance

REPRESENTATIONS
Arborfield
Parish Commented on the application.
Council
- Arborfield Parish would like to see the speed limit outside
the development reduced to improve highway safety.
-

Highlighted that public transport was not very good near
the site so pedestrian and cycle links should be provided.

-

Requested that listed building applications be particularly
carefully reviewed by conservation architect.

-

Floodlights should be carefully used/controlled

-

As much vegetation as possible should be retained.

-

Arborfield PC also highlighted the work it does with
regards football in the parish and indicated that any
assistance Reading FC could provide would be gratefully
received.

Winnersh
Parish Noted the proposed development in an adjoining Parish. Did not
Council
offer formal comment on plans.
Ward Member(s)
Cllr Gary Cowan offered the following comments:
“I support this Planning Application as I did for the previous one
in their current site, but there are a few areas I feel need to be

178

addressed or at least considered as part of the process.
•

•

•

•

•

•

Resident Comments

Public Transport; The only public transport is the 145 bus
which is a once a week service so public transport is very
limited.
Mole Road is unsuitable for a national speed limit
especially as it is used by horses, cyclists and walkers.
(Officer Note: This cannot be addressed through the
planning process. Highways have been made aware of
Cllr Cowan’s concerns and if members share this concern
could be minuted at the committee.)
A reduction of the speed limit and considerably better
signage/road markings especially at the junction of Copse
Barnhill lane and Gravel Hill Pit Lane which forms part of
an extensive network well used by riders and walkers is a
necessity.
(Officer Note: This cannot be addressed
through the planning process. Highways have been made
aware of Cllr Cowan’s concerns and if members share this
concern could be minuted at the committee.)
Provision of a footpath from Arborfield Cross Roundabout
to Lockey Farm would also be an improved highway safety
feature.
On site I would like to ensure all the trees and hedges
where possible are protected and remain so as to retain
the rural character of the area.
Floodlights must be restricted in use and must be of a kind
that eliminates light spill for the benefit of the wellbeing of
the local residents. A Condition is requested to deal with
this issue.”

14 letters of objection and comment. The planning issues raised
were:
-

-

Proposal will lead to the closure/forced relocation of
Bearwood Riding centre. Bearwood Riding Centre offers
riding opportunities to up to 25 disabled riders. This will
disadvantage disabled groups. The charity was relocated
here in October 2013.
Walled garden area might not be structurally suited for
development
Will lead to loss of jobs at the equine centre
Golf Course was a valued facility
Will increase traffic
Will lead to the loss of attractive features
May lead to general disturbance
Will reduce highway safety
Could be cumulative traffic problems with Arborfield
Garrison development.
WBC shouldn’t approve building everywhere
Development is too modern and would be detrimental to
the historic park
May effect ecology

179

-

-

Floodlights could lead to a loss of amenity or affect rural
character
Would cause harm to the countryside
Potential for noise
Footpath Provision needs to be made for this development
(Officer note: This has been included in the revised plans)
An independent Environmental / Heritage ‘Clerk of the
Works’ should be appointed to oversee this project should
this development proposal be accepted. (Essential that
CLEMP is implemented)
Football Club has over represented the local enthusiasm
for the scheme
Could lead to competition for parking in the area
Could lead to increased flood risk
TPO’s and orchards should be protected
Hedges and vegetation should be retained
Football club will generate higher water usage than the
golf club
Risk of pollution

2 Letter of comment:
-

WBC should ensure that the parking is adequate
Speed limits should be reviewed on Mole Road
More Public Transport should be provided

2 Letter of support. The issues raised were:
-

Good use of land
Good for the community
Good for the profile of Wokingham Borough
Following discussions held with Reading Football Club
independently of the Planning Process the ‘Red Spinners
Angling Club’ who operate on Bearwood Lake offered their
support for the scheme.

Berkshire Garden Trust commented on the scheme. The
Garden Trust raised a number of concerns with regards historic
landscapes issues that would need to be considered. [Officer
note: These have been considered by officers and aspects of this
will be taken forward through the Conservation, Ecological and
Landscape Management Plan for the site]
The Mid and West Berkshire Local access forum highlighted
the needs of horse riders and also indicated that they considered
the Rights of Way S106 contributions should be spent improving
byway 4. This view was also put forward by the Loddon Valley
Ramblers.
Binfield Badger Group – Are unaware of Badgers on the site,
however there have been records of Badger road casualties in

180

the wider area. Advice on protected species should be sought
from the Borough Ecologist

APPLICANTS POINTS
• Would provide a world class training facility to enable the club to maintain FA
Category 1 status in line with the FA’s Elite Player Performance Plan.
• Reading Football Club is a large and successful football club with strong links to
the area and community.
• Will help with the restoration and provide a future for historic park and gardens
• Will continue to secure and improve the clubs links to Wokingham Borough,
including its young people and the wider community (including its school links
e.g. Forest School).
• New and enhanced facilities will allow the club to become more self-sufficient
and produce more of its’ own high quality academy players.
• Will deliver Employment Opportunities during construction
• Will ensure that existing jobs remain within the Borough
• Will restore redundant buildings and provide much needed housing.
• Will deliver Biodiversity benefits
• The club considers that the development is economically, environmentally and
socially sustainable.
PLANNING POLICY
National policies:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy (NPPG)
Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework – Core Strategy:
CP1 – Sustainable development
CP2 – Inclusive communities
CP3 – General Principles for Development
CP4 – Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 – Housing mix, density and affordability
CP6 – Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP8 – Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area
CP9 – Scale and location of development proposals
CP10 – Improvements to Strategic Transport Network
CP17 – Housing delivery
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document:
Cross Cutting Policies:
CC01 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development

181

CC02 – Development Limits
CC03 – Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 – Sustainable Design and construction
CC05 – Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06 – Noise
CC07 – Parking
CC09 – Development and Flood Risk
CC10 – Sustainable Drainage
Topic Based Policies:
TB05 – Housing Mix
TB04 – Development near Atomic Weapons Facilities
TB07 – Internal Space Standards
TB21 – Landscape Character
TB20 – Servicing arrangements for employment uses
TB23 – Biodiversity and development
TB26 – Buildings of traditional local character and areas of special character.
Other guidance:
 Borough Design Guide SPD
 Sustainable Design and Construction SPD
Planning Advice Note (Infrastructure Impact Mitigation Contributions for New
Development – Revised November 2010)

PLANNING ISSUES
The Proposal
1. Full application for the redevelopment of Former Bearwood Golf Course to provide a
new football training ground and academy facility, comprising of 3 full size team pitches,
7 other pitches for use by various under 18 age groups and a goal keeping practice
areas. A single storey extension and conversion of existing golf course clubhouse into
security gatehouse and visitors cafe, new maintenance shed and maintenance store.
Single storey changing block and medical suite. Refurbishment of West Lodge for
junior academy trialists, refurbishment of apple store, retention and refurbishment of
riding stables offices/stores to academy offices, new single storey academy building to
provide changing rooms, medical suite, classrooms, player recreation and gymnasium
area. Refurbishment of Mole Lodge to provide accommodation for senior academy
trialists, new two storey first team building, single storey headquarters building. The
refurbishment/rebuilding of existing housing and farm/industrial buildings to provide 26
residential units (net increase of 18 residential units) with associated parking,
landscaping and access. Demolition of ancillary buildings plus garden wall to be made
good and associated works relating to Bearwood Lake dam.
The Principle of Development

182

2. Policy CP9 of the Core Strategy (Scale and location of development proposals)
states that ‘The scale of development proposals in Wokingham Borough must reflect the
existing or proposed levels of facilities and services at or in the location, together with
their accessibility’. The application site is located within an area classified as outside of
development limits within the countryside, and therefore Core Strategy policy CP11
(Proposals outside Development Limits) is relevant. Development proposals will not
normally be permitted except where one or more of the specified exceptions apply:
•

Criteria 1 of CP11 states that development will be permitted if it ‘contributes to
diverse and sustainable rural enterprises within the borough, or in the case of
other countryside based enterprises and activities, it contributes and/or promotes
recreation in, and enjoyment of, the countryside’.

•

Criteria 2 relates to encroachment and expansion of development away from
original buildings, and Criteria 3 to conversion of ‘suitably located buildings’ and
replacement buildings that would bring about environmental improvement.
Criteria 5 goes on to state that replacement dwellings must not result in
‘inappropriate increases in the scale, form or footprint of the original building’.

3. Section 3 of the NPPF (Supporting a Prosperous Rural Economy) also applies and
states that planning policy should support economic growth in rural areas by taking a
positive approach to sustainable new development. This includes the requirement to
‘support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise in
rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new
buildings’.
4. The proposed scheme will primarily provide a new football academy and
headquarters for Reading FC (to replace the existing site at Hogwood Park in
Finchampstead) with associated football pitches and goalkeeping practice areas,
campus buildings and 26 residential units - formed from the refurbishment / rebuilding of
existing housing and farm/industrial buildings - as well as the demolition of some
existing ancillary buildings associated with Bearwood Golf Club and Bearwood Riding
School. (Works to listed buildings have been applied for separately).
5. A football academy would not be classed as a rural enterprise and it is not considered
that this development would strictly constitute a community facility, given the nature of
proposed private use (though the club provides some wider community benefits). The
existing site of the Club’s training ground (Park Lane, Finchampstead) was already in
use for sports activities by Arborfield Garrison before being developed by the Football
Club in 2003. However, the submitted Design and Access Statement notes that the
proposed site at Bearwood is also in established sports/recreational use (the golf club
and stables) and its continued use as a sporting facility could be considered to
contribute to/promote recreation and sport in the countryside even if the use is largely
private. In addition, the DAS refers to the retention and development of local services
and community facilities (see paragraph 7.1.12, page 22) as well as strong links to the
community (parts 7 and 8, page 23) in line with section 3 (paragraph 28) of the NPPF.
6. It is important to consider as part of the balancing exercise whether potential benefits
to the historic environment, wider community, employment, sport and economy (as well
as the applicant’s special circumstances) would be sufficient to justify the development
and related harm to the countryside. Chapter 4 of the Environmental Statement states

183

that alternative approaches were considered prior to the decision to redevelop the
Bearwood Golf Course site, including alternative locations, uses and site layouts and
these alternatives have been discussed with officers, the needs of the club are
considered further below.
7. In this case the creation of additional housing in the countryside – 26 dwellings, a net
increase of 18 - would not be contrary to policy CP11 as it would consist of replacement
dwellings / conversions of existing buildings. Policy CP11 of the Core Strategy is
consistent with para 55 of the NPPF in stating that Local Authorities should avoid
isolated new homes in the countryside except where there are special circumstances
such as the re-use of redundant or disused buildings that would lead to an
enhancement of the immediate setting, or development that would secure the future of
heritage assets. MDD policy TB05 (Housing Mix) requires that residential development
should provide an appropriate mix of accommodation reflecting the character of the
area; the proposed residential development will consist of a mix of 2/3 bedroom
properties and one 4 bed dwelling (Table 3.1 - Schedule of Accommodation of the
Residential Units, Chapter 3: Site and Development) which is considered to be in line
with this policy.
8. In accordance with Core Strategy Policy CP3 (General Principles for Development),
proposals must conform to the conditions listed, being of ‘an appropriate scale of
activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area’. In addition
Core Strategy policy CP11 criteria 2 states that should not lead to ‘excessive
encroachment or expansion of development away from the original buildings’ within the
countryside (as noted above). Policy TB21 of the MDD (Landscape Character) requires
that proposals shall retain or enhance the condition, character and features that
contribute to the landscape.
9. It is noted that the proposed football academy will involve the erection of new
buildings (some of which will be two storey) and the conversion (with some extension)
of existing buildings, as well as the provision of a significant number of formal pitches
with associated facilities (including fencing and lighting). The scheme includes the reuse
of some existing buildings and demolition of others. Whilst the proposal involves an
increase in built form in this location through the establishment of the academy buildings
and football pitches, it is noted that attempts have been made to lessen the visual
impact e.g. by reducing the scale and height of the HQ building and removing the indoor
pitch from the proposal.
10. Para 70 of the NPPF indicates that “To deliver the social, recreational and cultural
facilities and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should:
•

plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities
(such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public
houses and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the
sustainability of communities and residential environments;SS”

11. Para 74 indicates that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and
land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless:
•
•

an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space,
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or
the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by

184

•

equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable
location; or
The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs
for which clearly outweigh the loss.

The land has been used for sport (golf and equine uses). However as the proposed use
also supports sport, and the provision is considered to be of higher quality no conflict
arises with regards this paragraph.
12. Paragraph 34 of section 4 of the NPPF (Sustainable Transport) states that decisions
should ensure developments that generate significant movement are located where the
need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes will be
maximised (taking into account policies set out elsewhere in the Framework, particularly
in rural areas). In the same vein, policy CP6 (part b) of the Core Strategy (Managing
Travel Demand) requires that permission should be granted for schemes that are
located where there are choices in the mode of travel available and that minimise the
distance people need to travel. The accessibility of the site is further explored in the
transport section of this report.
13. The site is designated as a Grade II* Historic Park and Garden (Bearwood College)
and also contains Grade II listed buildings. The site includes a Local Wildlife Site
(Bearwood Estate – Woods and Lakes). Core Strategy policy CP7 (Biodiversity) states
that development in designated areas or that may harm habitats will only be permitted if
it has been clearly demonstrated that the need for the proposal outweighs the harm,
that there is no alternative site or that no harm will be caused, and that appropriate
mitigation measures can be put in place where necessary. Policy TB23 of the MDD
(Biodiversity and Development) builds on this by requiring that schemes demonstrate
measures to enhance biodiversity, including ensuring that sites are ecologically
permeable, which would be of relevance in this rural location.
14. In summary there are a wide range of factors to be given consideration with regards
this proposal. The use of the land for an alternate sporting purpose to golf or horse
riding is broadly acceptable. The use however is not purely sporting and is also a
business and training use that significantly increases built form in a rural locality. As
such there is a degree of conflict with the Development Plan by virtue of the use not
entirely conforming with rural exception policy and the significant new volume of
buildings introduced. However this conflict must be balanced against the special
circumstances and needs of the applicant, heritage benefits and other material
considerations that are explored below.
Heritage Principle:
15. The site is designated as a Grade II* Historic Park and Garden (Bearwood College)
and also contains Grade II listed buildings. Policy TB24 of the MDD Local Plan
(Designated Heritage Assets – including listed buildings and Historic Parks) states that
the Council will require development to demonstrate how it will seek to preserve and
enhance the affected heritage assets and/or their setting. Chapter 6 of the submitted
Environmental Statement deals with Cultural Heritage and the Planning Statement
notes that the scheme has been developed in conjunction with English Heritage and will
‘retain the existing character and key landscape features of the site’ (paragraph 7.30).
Significant negotiation has been undertaken with English Heritage and this is detailed
further in this report.

185

16. Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF”) (Conserving and
enhancing the historic environment) advises LPAs to recognise heritage assets as an
“irreplaceable resource” and to “conserve them in a manner appropriate to their
significance” (para. 126).
•

•
•

When determining planning applications, LPAs are advised to take into account
of: “the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and
the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness” (para.131)

17. Paragraph 132 confirms that it is the significance of the heritage asset upon which a
development proposal is considered and that “great weight should be given to the
asset’s conservation”. LPAs need to consider whether a proposed development will lead
to substantial harm to or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset.
Proposals that lead to substantial harm or loss to a designated heritage asset should be
refused unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm or loss, or it meets with the
test identified at paragraph 133. Where a development will lead to less than substantial
harm, the harm is to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including
securing its optimum viable use (para. 134).
18. Paragraph 135 provides guidance in relation to non-designated heritage assets. The
development proposal must also be assessed against the significance of the heritage
asset, and “a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset”. In addition, at paragraph 137,
LPAs are also advised to look for opportunities for new developments within
conservation areas and within the setting of heritage assets to better reveal their
significance. Where a proposal preserves those elements of the setting that make a
positive contribution to or better reveal the significance of the asset should be treated
favourably.
19. The NPPF provides a glossary of terminology at Appendix 2. The relevant heritage
terms include:
•

•

•

“Heritage Asset: A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified
as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions
because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated heritage
assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local
listing).
Setting of a heritage asset: The surroundings in which a heritage asset is
experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its
surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative
contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate
that significance or may be neutral
Significance (for heritage policy): The value of a heritage asset to this and
future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest may be
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only
from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.”

186

20. The National Planning Practice Guidance (“NPPG”) provide some guidance on the
term “public benefit” at paragraph 20:
“Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that
delivers economic, social or environmental progress as described in the National
Planning Policy Framework (Paragraph 7). Public benefits should flow from the
proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public
at large and should not just be a private benefit. However, benefits do not always have
to be visible or accessible to the public in order to be genuine public benefits.
Public benefits may include heritage benefits, such as:
•
•
•

sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution
of its setting
reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset
securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term
conservation”

Landscape and siting Principle:
21. The Landscape Character Assessment identifies the site as falling within Type L1 –
Bearwood Wooded Sand and Gravel Hills – which is described as a self-contained,
relatively sparsely populated area of undulating wooded landscape (page 367 – 378).
Much of the area is taken up by the ‘private’ landscape of the 19th Century historic
Bearwood Park and the artificial lake, and is in recreational use (e.g. Bearwood Golf
Club and Riding School). It is noted that the ‘lack of settlement in the heart of the area is
a key characteristic’ (paragraph 16.20). The landscape is defined as high quality, having
strong character and good condition: ‘The good condition of the landscape relates to the
privacy and secrecy resulting from the relative absence of intrusive infrastructure and
development (including roads)’ (paragraph 16.26).
22. The overall strategy is to conserve and strengthen the existing character focused on
the woodland and historic park. However, the landscape is considered to have
moderate sensitivity and the ‘wooded context and ‘private’ secluded character may
mean that some changes can be accommodated without being visually apparent.
However, the area is particularly sensitive as a result of its function as the wooded
backdrop to the western edge of Wokingham town. Any large scale change such as
clear felling on construction of tall, visually dominant structures would have an impact
on these important views from the town’ (paragraph 16.28). Where there is pressure for
formal recreation facilities, the Landscape Character Assessment recommends that
these should be sympathetically sited and integrated into the landscape. Built
development must be planned to conserve the unsettled character of the area and avoid
wooded ridgelines, and the creation of new roads should be avoided.
Background and need of Reading Football Club:
23. Reading Football Club is a football club who currently play in the Championship
(The second tier of English Professional Football). The Club have also played in the
Premier League for 3 seasons since 2006, most recently in the 2012-2013 season). The
Club plays its matches at the 24,161 capacity Madjeski stadium, located in the Reading
Borough Council administrative area just outside of Wokingham Borough. The club

187

have previously received planning permission to increase their stadium to approximately
38000 Capacity. The club currently trains at Hogwood Park in Finchampstead which is
sited adjacent to the boundary of the Arborfield Strategic Development Location.
24. Despite investment, expansion and refurbishment the Club’s existing facilities at
Hogwood are no longer fit for purpose. When the Elite Player Performance programme
(EPPP) was announced, Reading Football Club states that it made the strategic
decision to invest a huge amount of time and effort in ensuring that it gained the best
possible grading. On 12th July 2013, the Club’s Academy was awarded provisional
Category One status, the highest ranking under the Premier League’s Elite Player
Performance Plan (EPPP). “The Royals Academy is one of only six outside the Premier
League to receive the Category One award. The award followed a rigorous FA auditing
process which found that the Club met the highest standards in football and coaching
philosophy, facilities and personnel and player development”. The club state that
Category One status was granted partly on the basis of existing enhancements to the
current training facilities and Academy but was largely informed by the Club’s future
development plans which are the subject of the submitted planning application.
25. The club has stated that once categorised, reviews begin every two years and
failure to meet key criteria could affect Reading’s Category One Status. As such the
club believes there is a pressing need to secure planning permission for the new
Academy and training facility at a new site which has the potential to achieve the
requisite long term standards which Hogwood is unlikely to be able to achieve. The club
has also identified the following benefits of moving to Bearwood Park.
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Would provide a world class training facility to enable the club to maintain FA
Category 1 status in line with the FA’s Elite Player Performance Plan.
Reading Football Club is a large and successful football club with strong links to
the area and community.
Will help with the restoration and provide a long term sustainable future for
historic park and gardens.
Will continue to secure and improve the clubs links to Wokingham Borough,
including its young people and the wider community (including its school links
e.g. Forest School).
New and enhanced facilities will allow the club to become more self-sufficient
and produce more of its’ own high quality academy players.
Will deliver Employment Opportunities during construction
Will ensure that existing jobs remain within the Borough
Will restore redundant buildings and provide much needed housing.
Will deliver Biodiversity benefits
The club considers that the development is economically, environmentally and
socially sustainable.

26. Officers have reviewed the club’s submissions and the relevant FA standards as
well as the facilities available to other clubs in the Premiership, which is the level that
the club should reasonably be aspiring to compete at. New training facilities for Premier
League and Championship clubs are regularly located in rural locations, indeed the
training facilities for Chelsea Football Club and Tottenham Hotspur have been relatively
recently been accommodated in green belt locations which is subject to more stringent
safeguards than countryside locations.
27. Having reviewed a significant number of new training facilities in other boroughs, it

188

is considered that the level of facilities proposed are broadly comparable to other
training grounds recently constructed at similar clubs. Having training facilities of a
lesser standard may make RFC a less attractive prospect for future investment and also
can be an issue when it comes to attracting talent to the club both at academy and
senior playing levels, additionally lesser facilities can affect training and development
outcomes.
28. The indoor training facility has been removed from the proposal at the request of
officers, as on reviewing FA standards this could not be justified as Reading Football
Club have an existing indoor pitch by the Madjeski Stadium and this met the FA’s
criteria for alternative indoor facilities. All other facilities provided appear reasonable and
proportionate for a high level professional club and should ensure that the club’s current
and future needs and are met.
29. It is acknowledged that the existing site has been selected because of its proximity
to Reading and it having the potential to meet the Football Association requirements for
a Category One training facility (which are detailed in the submission). The club has
explored alternative options including a site near Aldermaston outside the Borough as
well as a number of other sites that were discounted due to poor suitability. Sites that
have sufficient land, prospect of approval and are of sufficient quality are infrequently
available and very few have established sporting/leisure uses and usable buildings on
them.
30. The quantity of land required for football pitches means that locations within
settlement limits are unlikely to be able to provide sufficient land to accommodate the
use, particularly given the competition for housing land and the greater market value of
settlement land for housing. It is considered by officers that there is a need for Reading
Football Club to improve its training facilities and this should be given reasonably
significant weight in determining the application.
Environmental Statement
31. Reading Football Club sought screening and scoping opinions from Wokingham
Borough Council (REF: SO/2013/2484). It was agreed that the development constituted
EIA development. The application has been advertised as EIA development and an
Environmental Statement has been provided with the application.
Referral to the National Planning Casework Unit
32. The proposal introduces over 5000m2 of additional floor space outside of a town
centre location and has a business/leisure use. In accordance with the referral guidance
contained in the NPPG, the proposal will need to be referred to the National Planning
Casework Unit before final approval.

Layout, character, scale and design:
33. The development has two distinct elements to it, the parts that are required for the
football club’s needs and an effectively separate residential element. Whilst the future
use of these two parts will be largely separate, the developments are intrinsically linked
as the redevelopment, restoration and maintenance of the residential area of the site is
an important part of bring this part of Bearwood Park in to a long term sustainable and

189

well maintained use. This is particularly important with regards the importance of the
restoration of the Mill Building.
Bearwood Park Training Ground Proposed Masterplan
34. Below is the overall masterplan for the park. Which shows the location of the football
pitches and ancillary structures in the northern part of the park, the main
training/administrative building, academy and HQ building clustered in the centre of the
site and residential elements in converted, rebuilt and restored buildings in the Southern
part of the park.

35. The proposed football facility will involve the conversion (with some extension) of
existing buildings and the erection of new buildings (some of which will be large and two
storey), as well as the provision of a significant number of formal pitches with
associated facilities (including fencing and lighting). The scheme includes the use of
some existing buildings and demolition of others which, which on balance, would not
have a detrimental impact on the existing landscape. Whilst the proposal involves an
increase in built form in this location through the establishment of the academy buildings
and football pitches, attempts have been made to lessen the potential visual impact.
Main Football Club buildings:

190

36. The main buildings making up the football club buildings are the First Team
Building, the Academy building, the Headquarters Building and a number of supporting
facilities including visitor changing rooms, groundskeepers facilities and other similar
structures.
37. The principle buildings for both the First Team and Academy have been carefully
located on the site of the historic farm, vegetable garden and gas works. Historically this
is an area of the site which has always had buildings within it and also been a centre of
activity for the estate. The applicant states that they are looking to regenerate this area
of the site, whilst bringing back into use the significant heritage buildings.
38. The new buildings have been arranged around a series of courtyards to create
functional pockets of space. They have been carefully located to ensure that they don’t
sit too close to the existing buildings such as the West Lodge and the walled garden.
Root protection zones of retained trees have also been considered with none of the
proposed buildings encroaching into these areas.
39. Both the first team and academy buildings are large buildings of modern
appearance with significant quantities of glazing incorporated into their design. It is
considered that both buildings are sited in the best possible location on the Bearwood
Park site in order to minimise their visual impact. The First team building is the largest
building proposed, at a full two storeys with a flat roof, and has been sited within the
main building cluster.
40. To the North, east and west it will benefit from significant vegetative screening which
will mean that it is not unduly visible from long or medium views. The academy building
is single storey and discreetly located within the former orchard. As can be seen in the
images below the building is of lesser height than the ‘lean to’ building to the north of it,
however will be more visible from the South. Due to the screening available in this area
it is however considered that the academy building is well sited and will be of more
attractive appearance than the barn that it replaces.

Proposed First Team Building

191

Academy Buildings

HQ Building
41. Both the main first team building and the academy building are considered to be of
acceptable design (however the materials used will be determined by condition 2). The
HQ building is set within a densely wooded area which provides an intimate setting for
the building and is also acceptably designed. The building has corporate entertainment
and food facilities as well as an office and will mainly be utilised for corporate matters
and negotiations and is significantly smaller in scale than the other buildings. Other
minor buildings include a visitor changing room and groundskeeping facility, these are
considered to be of acceptable design and form and appropriately located. The site will
be supported by a range of car parks and ancillary paraphernalia which are all
considered to be reasonable and proportionate.
42. These buildings will house all the training and development facilities for all of
Reading FC’s teams as well as the administrative and ancillary functions for the club. As
previously detailed above, the level of accommodation and its form is considered to be
proportionate to other clubs in the top two tiers of English Football.
43. It is considered that the main club buildings are generally well sited and of
acceptable design and form to accommodate the identified needs of the club.
Lodges and Converted buildings:
44. Where possible existing buildings have been retained and sympathetically
converted. These include:
•
•
•
•
•

West Lodge (To be used as ancillary accommodation for trialists and academy
players)
Park Lodge (Security and visitors building)
Mole Lodge (Ancillary residential for senior academy players)
The academy ‘lean to’ building
The historic apple store

45. The amendments and restoration of the lodge buildings are considered acceptable
in planning terms and listed building applications for these proposals are being
considered separately. The reuse of these buildings is considered to be acceptable and
there are no significant character or layout concerns with regards this element of the

192

proposal.
Pitches and paraphernalia:
46. It is proposed that a range of artificial & natural pitches will be provided of varying
sizes to meet the needs of both the Academy and First Team squads. These will be
sites on the former 9 hole golf course and will be built to a very high standard. The
layout of these pitches has been subject to significant negotiation in order to maintain
the most appropriate amount of vegetation in line with the historic vegetative layout of
the park. This retention has been informed by historic maps of the park. The layout and
form of the pitches are considered acceptable in planning terms subject to final
agreement of the landscaping and contouring of the land by planning condition. The
pitches will attract a certain amount of paraphernalia such as goals, netting, flood lights
etc., the level of paraphernalia shown in the illustrative plans and DAS is considered
reasonable and these are easily removed from the site, as such any harm caused by
ancillary paraphernalia is largely reversible.

Artist’s impression of the site
(Please note the indoor pitch in the background has been withdrawn from the
application)
Housing
47. In this case the creation of additional housing in the countryside – 26 dwellings, a
net increase of 18 - would not be contrary to policy CP11 as it would consist of
replacement dwellings/conversions of existing buildings. Policy CP11 of the Core
Strategy is consistent with para 55 of the NPPF in stating that Local Authorities should
avoid isolated new homes in the countryside except where there are special
circumstances such as the re-use of redundant or disused buildings that would lead to
an enhancement of the immediate setting, or development that would secure the future
of heritage assets. MDD policy TB05 (Housing Mix) requires that residential
development should provide an appropriate mix of accommodation reflecting the
character of the area.
48. The proposed residential development will consist of a mix of 2/3 bedroom
properties and one 4 bed dwelling (Table 3.1 - Schedule of Accommodation of the
Residential Units, Chapter 3: Site and Development) which is considered to be in line
with this policy. The majority of the proposed dwellings would meet the minimum gross

193

internal area stated in MDD Policy TB07 (Internal Space Standards) apart from units 6
and 7. However, this shortfall is relatively small and is not considered significant enough
to warrant changes to the proposal. This is because these dwellings are single storey
conversions and effectively have the characteristics of flats, and whilst technically
terraced housing, they comfortably exceed the minimum requirements for two bedroom
flats and would still provide good amenity for occupants. Plots 11-13 require a little more
rebuilding than would usually be allowed for a rural conversion as the framework of
these buildings is relatively poor, however more significant rebuilding is considered
justified in the context of the historic benefits delivered on the site, as the conversion of
this part of the site secures its long term future and brings a long term and sustainable
use to the mill buildings. The private residential development has its own access road
which is separated from the principle site entrance. This keeps the majority of vehicle
movements for each site separated and allows them to function without impacting on
each other.
49. Plots 1-14 are all catered for with gardens, these are all usable and of reasonable
size however five of these are significantly shorter than the Borough Design Guide
requirements, however as they serve the existing cottages, and several of these do not
have existing gardens this is considered to be a betterment of the existing situation and
so would not warrant refusal. The Mill conversion of 8 residential flats and 3 Courtyard
properties do not have their own dedicated private amenity space, though they will have
access to several communal grass areas to the south of the mill. Normally some form of
amenity space would be expected to be provided, however in the context of securing
the long term future of the mill and park it is considered that this should be allowed, due
to the special circumstances of the case.

Housing Layout
Residential Amenity of neighbours and occupiers
50. The nearest residential dwellings are located over 80m away from any of the
proposed new buildings, as such no significant issues with regards loss of light,
overbearing or overlooking are considered likely to arise with regards neighbouring

194

properties. All relationships within the converted properties are considered to be broadly
acceptable given the converted nature of the units and importantly the existing
relationships on site (e.g. overbearing from plot 11 is already an existing issue for the
Garden Cottages from the existing building). Noise, light and environmental matters are
addressed later in this report in the Environmental Health section.
Impact upon the Countryside
51. As previously detailed in the principle of development section, the application site is
located in the countryside where development is strictly controlled. The development
does not fall within the permitted forms of development allowed by the exceptions listed
in policy CP11 and therefore the development is considered contrary to the
development plan.
52. The proposal leads to large new buildings being erected on the site introducing
approximately 5700m2 of new floorspace to a countryside location. The buildings will be
of significant size and therefore significant harm is caused to the character of the rural
locality and the openness of the countryside due to introduction of significant new
volume, mass and bulk within the countryside. This would urbanise the rural locality and
contributes significant weight against the proposal.
53. The NPPF does encourage developments for sport in rural areas, this adds some
weight in favour of the development, however the quantity of buildings and floor space
proposed is substantial, and the use is not a traditional community sport and
recreational facility. As the harm to the countryside is considered great and other
material considerations in favour will have to be significant to overcome this harm.
Heritage and Historic Environment:
Background
54. The current 192 acre historic park is bounded to the west by Mole Road, to the east
by Bearwood Road and to the north by a lane that connects the two roads. To the
south, the park is bounded by Coombe Lane and Gravelpit Hill Lane. The house and
park became the seat of the Walter family in 1816 when Walter II (owner of the Times
newspaper) bought the estate and, in 1822 built a classical villa on the site of the
current house. The overall form of the park, 20 hectare lake and brick walled kitchen
garden 800m to the southwest of the house date from around 1820. John Walter III
inherited the estate in 1847 and replaced the classical villa with the current (Robert
Kerr) house, formal terrace and south lawns (1874), and created other notable features
such as the main entrance drive (Wellingtonia Avenue) and rock garden (Gilpin;
Pulman). The coachhouse and stables to the west of the house are also evident by
1872.
Designation and Significance
55. Both the historic park and garden, and the main house at Bearwood are listed at
grade 2*, being of national or international importance. In addition, two Mole Road
entrance lodges (West Lodge and Park Lodge), and within the application site, are
individually listed at grade II.
56. The basic area and shape of the woodland is little changed from the 1820’s and,

195

with the intervening fields, are large scale features which form a naturalistic setting, and
frame views to and from the lake and house. The lake and its islands form the dominant
feature of the park. The informal pleasure grounds are split into two areas to the south
east and south west of the house. Tracks and rides within these grounds and around
the lake are shown on the 1872-9 Ordnance Survey Map, many of which survive. The
area to the north and northwest of the house has largely retained its parkland character.
The brick walled kitchen garden and single storey lean-to to the north wall have been
used by a pony club since the 1970’s. The estate workers cottages to the south east of
the walled garden also remain in use (and are proposed for restoration and conversion
as part of this application), and a number of the workshop buildings next to the mill have
a relatively low key commercial use, although the mill building itself is disused and rundown. The complex of entrance and approach drives from numerous points around the
park largely survive, albeit in a simplified form. The survival of the basic structure of the
park as it was in the late C19th, together with notable landscape features and designed
views, contribute to the understanding and significance of the park and its buildings.
57. There are also areas and features which have been lost or have declined,
undermining the significance of the park. These negative impacts include:
•

•
•

•
•
•

A lack of co-ordinated management of the park during the C 20th leading to
the overgrowth of gardens around the house and the intrusion of scrub
woodland into open areas, partially obscuring designed views of, and around,
the lake;
The 1950’s and 1960’s Forestry Commission conifer planting to the east of
the lake;
The operation of two golf clubs, to the west and east of the house, resulting in
an intrusion of fairways and greens and their separation through the planting
of stands of unsympathetic tree species. Part of an historic orchard to the
west of the coach house has also been lost to a fairway;
The loss of the chestnut avenue to the east of Gravelpit Hill Lane and the
avenue of limes to the north of Coombe Lane;
The squaring off of the soft edge to the south-western boundary of woodland
south of the lake;
The loss of the historic orchard to the south of the walled garden.

58. The establishment in the early C 20th of the Royal Merchant Navy Foundation and
school initially secured the future of the house and immediate setting, but since then the
subdivision of the park into two golf courses and lack of specialist guidance and
resources have challenged the integrity and survival of the historic landscape. This has
resulted in English Heritage putting the park on its Heritage at Risk Register.
English Heritage Involvement & Conservation, Ecological and Landscape
Management Plan (CLEMP):
59. This scheme has involved significant consultation with English Heritage. English
Heritage initially objected to the proposals; primarily due to harm caused by the indoor
pitch building, various impacts of features proposed within the historic park, and due to
insufficient mitigation and management for the park.
60. Following a significant amount of discussions a number of changes and
improvements have been made to the scheme which have satisfactorily overcome
English Heritage’s initial objections to the proposal (subject to the securing of a CLEMP

196

via the S106 agreement).
61. English Heritage comment that the removal of the indoor pitch and changes to the
fencing are highly positive amendments which markedly reduce the level of harm
entailed to the registered park and comment that the revised landscaping plans have
overcome concerns they had with the treatment of the area to the South of the walled
garden.
62. When carrying out works and building within a Historic Park a certain degree of
harm is likely to be caused and this has been acknowledged by English Heritage and
Officers. English Heritage commented:
“Despite the amendments the level of harm to the significance of the park still remains
relatively high: the historic interest and character of the western parkland would
effectively be lost by the creation of pitches and however well designed the large first
team building and extensive parking would severely compromise the historical interest
and character of this area. However, the proposed development is not sited in an area
of amenity land essential for the setting of the house, and is not located in an area that
unacceptably compromises the main landscape structure and features of the park, or its
overall original design intentions. Furthermore, the development proposals are set
within a section of the park where previous change has weakened the strength of
character and affected it's setting, lessening its significance. English Heritage could
therefore accept the harm entailed if the scheme also delivered real benefits to the rest
of the registered landscape and helped secure the long term future.
The applicant is now offering to fund a Conservation, Landscape and Ecology
Management Plan (CLEMP) and make contributions through a section 106 agreement
towards restoration works to key vistas and the Pulhamite Garden, both of which are
within the School’s landholding. While a CLEMP cannot offset the harm that this
development would entail if appropriately resourced it could providing the first positive
steps for all parties to understand the site, prioritise funding and guide future change
that protects, conserves or enhances its historical significance. This would help secure
the future of the landscape left which is at risk because of lack of understanding,
maintenance, fragmented ownership and development. To achieve these aims the
CLEMP and s106 agreement will need to be a robust document and the s106
contributions sufficient to both restore the Pulhamite Garden and Lake views and
ensure that they are maintained in the short term.”
63. As previous identified above, the NPPG indicates that “Public benefits may include
heritage benefits, such as “sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset
and the contribution of its setting, reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset,
securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term
conservation”
64. English Heritage comments that :
“The proposed Conservation, Landscape and Ecology Management Plan and Section
106 contributions are very welcome and if the structure of the plan can be refined in
accordance with our advice and contributions can be extended to cover maintenance of
the restored elements for 5 years we believe that they would go a considerable way to
addressing the problems faced by this landscape at risk.

197

Therefore, if the outstanding design elements are satisfactorily resolved and agreement
can be reached on the form of the CLEMP and the Section 106 contributions we would
be content to recommend this application is approved. Any approval would need to be
very carefully conditioned and the s106 agreement would need to be carefully drawn up
in order to secure the potential benefits to the registered landscape.”
65. The outstanding design issues mentioned in this comment relate to the materials
used in the training building and academy and this is addressed by condition 2 which
requires all materials to be agreed prior to commencement, other landscape matters
have been addressed by revised plans.
66. A framework for the CLEMP is being agreed and this framework will be delivered by
the S106 agreement. English Heritage is advising Wokingham Borough on the
requirements of the CLEMP and its goals. The S106 agreement will require a fully
detailed CLEMP to be submitted and agreed by WBC and English Heritage prior to the
commencement of development in accordance with the framework agreed within the
S106 agreement.
67. Following on from English Heritage’s advice and the advice of WBC Conservation
Architect it is considered that the proposal will, through the details agreed already and
through the CLEMP, secure heritage benefits and importantly secure a managed future
for this the Historic Park. These measures would help secure the future of the
landscape left which is at risk because of lack of understanding, maintenance,
fragmented ownership and development. This is considered a relatively significant
benefit and it is considered that this should be given significant weight in making a
decision over whether or not to award planning permission.
Landscape consideration:
68. The main landscape features have been identified above in the landscape
principle section. Whilst the proposal involves an increase in built form in this
location through the establishment of the academy buildings and football pitches, it
is noted that attempts have been made to lessen the visual impact e.g. by reducing
the scale and height of the HQ building and changing the design of the indoor pitch.
Significant information on landscape and visual impact has been included in the
Environmental Statement
69. The Tree and Landscape Officer has reviewed the application and considers that
that there are no significant long distance views from outside the estate due to the
heavily wooded landscape within and surrounding the site. The Landscape Architect
is generally content with the proposal subject to final material and planting details.
70. The pitch contouring and other landform alterations are assessed as having a
potential significant moderate adverse effect by the Landscape Architect. As such it
is important that all final; details of pitch lay out are agreed at the conditions stage to
preserve both the landscape & historic character of the site (condition 32).
71. The Tree and Landscape Officer notes that the applicant has made a number of
changes to the proposal, notably the removal of the indoor pitch and realignment of
the security fencing and changes to the boundary treatments within the site. This
has now addressed previous landscape concerns with regards the introduction of
the large buildings into this sensitive site. Subject to the provision of the CLEMP and

198

a separate Landscape management plan (Condition 31) the Landscape Architect is
satisfied with the scheme. The proposal is considered to accord with policies CP3,
TB21 with regards landscape and form.

Employment, Training and other benefits
Employment
72. The proposal will ensure the retention of at least at 60 jobs within the Borough from
support staff positions and will create significant employment during the construction
phase. Additionally a significant number of academy and professional first team players
will be employed at the site.
73. The quantity of new jobs generated is not significant, and as such this is afforded
only limited to moderate weight, however it is considered to be advantageous to retain a
significant number of jobs within the Borough. Some jobs will be displaced from the site
from the loss of the existing riding centre and the limited commercial uses around the
mill. The number of jobs lost at the site is however significantly offset by the jobs
retained and created by the proposal.
74. Furthermore the academy does offer training, education and personal development
within a sporting context, and a number of the clubs academy members come from the
local area. The opportunity for training and education at the site adds additional weight
in favour of the development.
Employment Skills Plan:
75. MDD policy TB12 (Employment Skills Plan) states that proposals for major new
development should be accompanied by an Employment and Skills plan in line with the
Council’s Economic Development Strategy (2010). Employment at the construction
phase and the ongoing retention of the training facility in the Borough are cited as
benefits in the Design and Access Statement (page 22) and the applicant has proposed
to provide a Construction Employment Skills Plan (ESP) at least one month prior to the
implementation of development and an End User ESP at least six months prior to the
occupation of the development for the Borough Council’s approval as part of the Section
106 agreement to meet the requirements of policy TB12 and this has been included in
the legal agreement.
Loss of equine centre and golf course:
76. A number of letters have been received with regards the loss of the riding school.
The riding school is located at the courtyard where the academy building is proposed to
be built. The loss of the riding centre is regrettable; however the riding centre only
operates on this site on a short term lease and does not own the site. Whilst it would be
preferable that provision for riders was able to be retained there is no requirement
legally or in planning terms for this use to be retained. Some limited weight can be
placed against the scheme for the loss of a community riding centre however the
amount attached to it should not be significant. For the avoidance of doubt the 9 hole
golf course closed in March 2014 and was suffering significantly in viability terms at the
time. It is considered that the replacement of one non-viable sporting facility with a
sporting facility of significantly higher quality is acceptable and it should be noted that

199

the Football Club proposals have their own community benefits which help to offset this
unfortunate loss.
Highways

Highway Safety & Road Design
77. The application site was formerly occupied by Bearwood Golf Club, Bearwood
Riding Stables and a mixture of residential/light industrial use. There are three separate
accesses from B3030 Mole Road into the site which serve each of these uses.
78. Mole Road (B3030) is subject to a 50mph speed limit requiring visibility splays of
2.4m x 160m. There have been a number of personal injury accidents on Mole Road in
the past. These accidents have been reviewed within the Transport Statement (TS) and
it has concluded that these were primarily attributed to driver error and that road layout
was not a contributory factor.
79. As a result of the development there will be intensification in use of the existing
accesses. Currently visibility at these accesses is restricted. It is proposed to stop up
the existing riding centre access which is not considered suitable to accommodate
additional traffic; this will remove conflict at this location. However the access would
remain available for emergency use only and removable bollards provided and set back
from the highway boundary.
80. This would leave two accesses serving the site. The northern access (currently
serving the golf club) would be retained as the main entrance to the training facility. The
Transport Statement states that visibility will be improved at this access by cutting back
vegetation (Drg No. 28289/001/SK004/C). The layout of the junction will be amended to
provide a simplified priority junction large enough to accommodate coaches.
81. The southern access (currently serving the residential/commercial uses) would be
retained to serve the proposed residential units. It is proposed to widen the junction to
4.8m and improve visibility by cutting back vegetation (Drg No. 28289/001/SK004/C).
The proposed housing would be for general market and therefore the access road
should be designed to an appropriate standard.
82. The applicant has provided revised plans (28289-001-007 Rev B, 28289-001-006
Rev B) which improve the width of the residential and service vehicle access road. The
drawings indicate a number of passing places and it has been demonstrated by swept
path analysis that these are suitable to accommodate the Council’s refuse vehicle
passing a 7.5t delivery vehicle. Based on the applicant’s service strategy information
this is likely to represent the worst case scenario. It is considered that the improvements
to the access road are now suitable to accommodate the increase in residential traffic.
It will also provide a potential quiet route for pedestrians/cyclists to access public rights
of way.
83. Turning areas have also been increased in size (28289-001-008 Rev A) to
accommodate turning for service/delivery vehicles and these are now considered
acceptable. There will need to be demarcation of the turning areas to ensure that they
remain available for this purpose (secured by conditions 14-15)

200

84. The internal road and car park layout for the training facility has been designed to an
appropriate standard. The proposed use is likely to generate movements by coaches
and other delivery vehicles and these have been catered for with turning area provided.
Traffic Impact
85. Reading Football Club has an existing training facility at Hogwood Lane,
Finchampstead. The traffic generation associated with this facility has been surveyed
and the data used to provide a baseline figure for the traffic generation anticipated from
this proposal. Allowance has been made for the proposed facility which includes
improvements to academy age groups and the overall development traffic has been
assessed. The Transport Statement concludes that there will be a net gain of 23 AM
peak hour movements arising from both the training facility and residential uses
(combined).
86. The Transport Statement has assessed the likely impact of development traffic and
has taken into account other predicted development traffic (which includes SDL’s) for
assessment year 2015. It is considered that the training ground facility would generate
the majority of vehicle movements outside of the peak hours. The Transport Statement
anticipates that there will be a 4.2% increase in northbound traffic during the AM peak
hour on Mole Road arising from both the training ground and residential uses of the site.
An increase of 1.25% is anticipated within the AM peak on Mill Lane. After reviewing
this data the Highway Authority considers that the traffic could be accommodated
without a material impact on the local road network.
87. There is likely to be a number of vehicle movements associated with the
construction period, including HGV’s and LGV’s. This has been assessed and the
predicted peak period for construction is considered to be in the month of July when
approximately 36 two-way HGV movements will occur over a 1 month period. A
construction traffic management plan and routing agreement is recommended to be
provided by condition (Condition 25).
Parking
88. In respect of the proposed training facility, the development has assessed the level
of parking provided for the existing Hogwood training facility (155 parking spaces) and it
is acknowledged that this operates satisfactorily without impact on the public highway.
The proposal has also made an allowance for anticipated increase in use for this facility.
A total of 198 car spaces are provided and 4 parking spaces for coaches. The level of
parking is considered to be acceptable by the Highway Authority.
89. In terms of residential parking this has been assessed against the Council’s parking
guidance and a mixture of allocated and unallocated parking has been provided. The
overall level of parking is considered acceptable in this instance.
Sustainable travel
90. The site is not in a particularly sustainable location however some allowance has to

201

be made for the redevelopment of the existing uses (which are already located in an
unsustainable location).
91. The applicant is preparing a framework Travel Plan to form the basis of a Travel
Plan to be taken forward upon occupation of the development and this will contain
targets to improve sustainable modes of travel to the site.
92. There is an existing footway along Mole Road to the north of the site and this
ceases approx. 120m from the proposed entrance to the training facility. The applicant
has submitted details of a new 1.2m wide private footpath (Drg. 28289/SK007) which
will link the proposed dwellings to the existing footway network adjacent to Mole Road
(to the north).
93. The footpath will run within the boundary of the site and shall consist of a
compacted rural finish surface suitable for use by pushchairs and wheelchairs. To
maintain security for the football training ground the applicant is proposing a residents’
gated entry system which the Highway Authority has no objection to.
94. At the point that the footpath links to Mole Road the highway will need to be
surfaced with a standard footway construction and dropped footway crossings provided
on both sides of Mole Road to link to the existing footway. These works will be subject
to a condition and Minor Works Agreement.
95. There has been suggestion that a full length footpath to Arborfield along Mole Road
would be beneficial. Whilst this is likely to be beneficial to the wider community, this is
not required as a result of this development and it would be unreasonable to require this
as part of this development and as such this cannot be required.
96. An appropriate level of secure, covered cycle storage will be required to cater for a
mixture of staff, players, visitors and residents. This is acknowledged within the
Transport Statement and detailed design and location of storage areas is recommended
by condition (Condition 17).
Sustainable Development:
97. Core Strategy policy CP1 requires that proposals contribute towards the goal of
zero-carbon development by including appropriate on-site renewable energy features
and minimise energy and water consumption (subsection 12a and b). Emerging policy
CC04 of the MDD Local Plan (Sustainable Design and Construction) requires that all
new residential development should seek Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 and
non-residential development (of more than 100m² gross floorspace) should seek to
achieve BREEAM requirements (those set through Building Control for all nonresidential buildings; the Council (as per paragraph 2.26 of the MDD) would encourage
the proposal to go beyond what it set out in Building Control Standards) as well as
requirements for water resource management. MDD policy CC05 (Renewable Energy)
requires that residential schemes of more than 10 dwellings and non-residential
schemes of over 1000m² gross floorspace should provide for a minimum 10% reduction
in carbon emissions through on-site renewable energy or low carbon sources. An
Energy Statement has been submitted which includes a series of measures to reduce
emissions and utilise low and zero carbon energy options in order to meet the
requirements of policies CC04 and CC05. These measures are secured by Condition 7,
8 and 9.

202

Environmental Health:
Land Affected by Contamination
98. The development site has been historically occupied by several commercial and
industrial land uses including sewage filter beds, a gas works, a saw mill, a blacksmiths
forge and farm buildings. The site has been most recently occupied by a golf course
and riding stables. There is also a known landfill site in the northern part of the site.
These land uses have to potential to cause significant contamination at the site. The
proposals include a sensitive end use being residential with private gardens. In
accordance with Paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
2012 the Local Planning Authority must be satisfied that the land will be suitable for the
proposed residential use. An assessment of potential contamination is therefore
required.
99. A preliminary risk assessment (Phase 1 desk study) has been submitted with the
application as part of the Environment Statement. The following reports have been
reviewed by the Environmental Health Officer:
•

Bearwood Park, Sindlesham, Wokingham Geotechnical and Phase 1 Ground
Condition (Contamination) Assessment dated July 2014 by Peter Brett
Associates.

The report provides a detailed Phase 1 assessment and site walkover survey including
a Conceptual Site Model. Several sources of potential contamination have been
identified on site which could present a risk to the proposed end users. The report has
classified risks to future users of the site as moderate/low and for construction workers,
surface water, property and buildings as low. Intrusive investigation is recommended to
confirm and refine the Conceptual Site Model.
100. The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) disagrees slightly with the risk
classification to future end users. The EHO considers that overall the risk should be
classified as moderate and even potentially high in the areas previously used for
commercial purposes such as the former gas works. However, further investigation is
proposed and this is acceptable to the EHO. To ensure these works and any necessary
remediation are carried out The Environmental Health Officer recommended inclusion of
the conditions 54.
Noise
101. The proposed football training development is close to existing residential
properties and has the potential to cause a nuisance if not managed correctly. As a
result a number of conditions have been recommended by the Environmental Health
Officer to control Noise at the site (Conditions 48, 50 and 51). Subject to the
implementation of these conditions it is considered that this issue can be adequately
controlled.
Lighting
102. The proposed development is relatively close to existing residential properties and
the Environmental Health officer notes that two of the football pitches are to have flood
lighting installed. A ‘lighting effects’ assessment has been carried out and that mitigation

203

measures have been highlighted (Section 8.215), however no confirmation that these or
any other mitigation measures will be implemented has been given. It is considered that
details of lighting, and the hours of use of flood lighting can be secured by condition
(condition 52).
Air Quality – Operational Phase
103. Having regards to the nature of the proposal the Environmental Health Officer
considers that a detailed air quality impact assessment is required in accordance with
the criteria set out in Appendix 3 ‘Air quality considerations for new developments’ of
Wokingham Borough Council’s Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary
Planning Document (2010). The assessment is required to determine if the proposal will
result in a deterioration of local air quality, to ensure that new receptors are not being
put into an area of existing poor air quality and to assess the impacts from construction
on nearby residents. No information on air quality has been provided with the
application. The Environmental Health Officer therefore has recommended the inclusion
of condition 53.
Air Quality – Demolition and Construction Phase
104. The demolition and construction phases are likely to give rise to significant dust
and particulate generation. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) is
required in accordance with Wokingham Borough Council’s Sustainable Design and
Construction SPD and measures to control demolition and construction dust should be
included in this. The Environmental Health Officer therefore has recommended the
inclusion of condition 49.
Land Affected by Contamination – Landfill Gas
105. There is a historic landfill on site known as Bearwood College (1) Filled Ground
and a second landfill site known as Gipsy Lane, Sindlesham Filled Ground within 200m
of the site. The proposal may be affected by migrating toxic or flammable gas from
these landfill sites. The Environmental Health Officer therefore has recommended the
inclusion of condition 55.
Asbestos
106. The proposal includes demolition and refurbishment of existing buildings on site.
Such structures and their demolition and refurbishment may give rise to contamination
of the site through the presence of asbestos in the buildings to be demolished and
refurbished. The Environmental Health Officer therefore has recommended the
inclusion of condition 56.
Ecology:
107. The Borough Ecologist is satisfied that subject to the inclusion of conditions (4345) and the provision of the CLEMP and LEMP, that the submitted Ecological
Consultation (‘Review and Response to Wokingham Borough Council’ Aspect Ecology,
December 2014) has addressed all of the potential issues for scheme on the Local
Wildlife Site, Bats, reptiles and great crested newts. As such the Borough Ecologist
does not object to the proposals.

204

S106 and Affordable Housing
Service, Amenity and Infrastructure impact:
108. In line with policies CP4 of the Core Strategy and the Planning Advice Note,
contributions would be required for this scheme based on the provision on a net
provision of 18 new dwellings. The applicant is currently negotiating a S106 agreement
with the Council for this scheme. The agreed level of contribution shall be reported in
the members update. Due to the CLEMP a legal agreement under S106 will be required
for this scheme even if it is approved post the implementation of CIL.
Potential CIL liability.
109. CIL comes into effect in Wokingham Borough on 6th of April. Should a S106 not be
completed in time for the committee date the CIL liability for the scheme will be reported
to members in the update.

Affordable Housing:
110. The threshold for affordable housing is 5 dwellings or more or residential sites of
0.16 hectares or larger. The site exceeds this threshold and therefore there is a
requirement for the provision of affordable housing.
111. To meet the requirements of Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy, a minimum of 40%
of the total number of units (net) should be provided as affordable housing. The
developer is proposing an off-site contribution to deal with the affordable housing
element. There are a number of viability issues with the housing element of the scheme
including high conversion costs due to the condition of the mill as works relating to the
dam and its surroundings. These have been reviewed by the Affordable Housing Officer
and relevant Executive members and resultantly a commuted sum of £300,000 indexlinked towards affordable housing in the borough has been negotiated.
Archaeology
112. Advice was provided at pre-application stage by the Borough Archaeologist
regarding this site, the response to which was to secure a more detailed Desk Based
Assessment for the site, which was submitted with the application. This assessment,
undertaken by Thames Valley Archaeological Services, provides a comprehensive
assessment of the archaeological potential of the site. The Borough Archaeologist
agrees with its conclusions that due to the general archaeological potential of the area,
the scale of the site and the unknown nature of previous landscaping, i.e. whether
ground levels have been reduced or raised, there is a significant potential for
archaeological remains from all periods to be present within the site.
113. As noted in the Desk Based Assessment the potential for remains to be present
and impacted upon varies across the site. The areas of standing buildings to be
retained would be least impacted upon and the areas outside of previous development
retaining a higher potential for archaeological remains to present. It is therefore advised
that in order to further inform decisions regarding the strategies required in order to
adequately mitigate the impact of the development on any archaeological remains that a

205

programme of exploratory archaeological investigation through trial trenching is
undertaken. This will provide further information on the presence or absence of
archaeological remains, their significance and the potential impact of the proposed
development. This programme of works is secured by condition 42.
Flooding & Drainage
Flood Zones and Flood risk
114. The NPPF carries forward the sequential approach to flood risk, establishing the
development should be directed away from the areas at highest risk and, where
development is necessary in areas at risk of flooding, it should be made safe without
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD submission policy
CC09 are consistent with this approach, requiring that new development should avoid
increasing and where possible reduce flood risk.
115. The Core Strategy, which was subject to a strategic Flood Risk Assessment,
identifies the area of the site where the dwellings are to be built in as being situated in
Flood Zone 1, where the risk of flooding is low and as such all forms of development including ‘more vulnerable’ uses - are acceptable. Therefore, the proposal complies
with the sequential test with regards flooding.
116. Both WBC Drainage and the Environment Agency have been consulted on the
proposals and have objected to the drainage strategy. The objections are not ‘in
principle objections’ and can be overcome by additional information with regards
drainage strategy, however given the scale of the development and the sensitivity of the
site it is important that the principles of the drainage strategy are agreed prior to the
award of permission. Both the EA and the WBC drainage officer are currently reviewing
a revised strategy and it is hoped that feedback will be available by the committee date.
Balancing material considerations
117. There are a substantial number of material considerations in favour and against
the proposal. Against the proposal is the harm to the rural locality by the introduction of
significant new volume and built form in a countryside location; it is considered that this
should contribute significant weight against the proposal. Moderate weight against the
proposal is also contributed by the negative historic impacts of the scheme (i.e. not
restoring it to its’ exact original form, and the introduction of large new buildings and
different landscaping to the site). Limited weight against is contributed by the loss of the
existing uses.
118. In favour of the development are the benefits to the historic environment. Most
notably through the securing of a viable long term use for the site and crucially the
securing of the Conservation, Landscape and Ecological Management Plan. This is
given very significant weight and the securing of the future of this heritage asset is
considered to be a significant public benefit. The needs and special circumstances of
the applicant are also given significant weight. Moderate weight is given to the
ecological and landscaping enhancements provided and the maintenance of jobs within
the Borough. Some very limited weight is provided by the provision of additional windfall
housing.
119. It is considered that on balance the main benefits of the scheme outweigh the
harm caused by the proposal and as such the proposal is recommended for conditional

206

approval.

CONCLUSION
It is considered that on balance the main benefits of the scheme outweigh the harm
caused by the proposal and as such the proposal is recommended for conditional
approval. The benefits to the historic environment and special circumstances of the
applicant have been given significant weight.
The proposal does not significantly impact on neighbouring properties in terms of
overbearing, overlooking or loss of light, or from any new activity. There are no
objections from the Conservation Architect, Borough Ecologist or Landscape Architect.
The Highway Authority is also satisfied that the proposal will not lead to significant
adverse highway impact and provides an adequate level of vehicle parking.
Subject to the securing of a Conservation, Landscape and Environmental Plan
(CLEMP), English Heritage does not object to the proposals.
The proposal is considered to not fully accord with the development plan; however, on
balance the scheme is recommended for approval, as the harm to rural character and
the impact on the designated countryside is considered to be outweighed by the special
circumstances and need of the applicant as well as the benefits to the historic
environment, ecology, landscape, and most importantly the securing of a long term
Management Plan for the park through the CLEMP.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

207

This page is intentionally left blank

209

210

211

212

213

214

215

216

217

218

219

220

221

222

223

224

225

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 124.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2353

No weeks on
day of
committee
23/13

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Twyford

Twyford

Major application

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Mr S Hicks
Land to the rear of 58 Hurst Road, Twyford
Postcode RG10 0AN
Proposed erection of 12no dwellings (including 4no affordable dwellings)
with access, parking, open space and landscaping.
Type
Small scale dwellings
PS Category 7
Officer
Graham Vaughan
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 1st April 2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application site is in a major development location and allocated for residential
development. It currently consists of a field behind existing houses on Hurst Road with
some trees on the site. The proposal is for the demolition of 58 Hurst Road to provide
an access into the site and the erection of 12 new dwellings. This would include offstreet parking and garages for the properties, visitor parking and a turning head.
The proposal would provide part of the housing for an allocated site and would achieve
all necessary standards. A sufficient mix of housing would be provided including
affordable housing and would be of an appropriate scale and density for the area. No
significant impact would occur on residential amenity and all other aspects can be
secured through conditions. The site is in proximity to flooding areas however a Flood
Risk Assessment has demonstrated the proposal would not have a harmful impact. As
such, the proposal is considered to accord with the development plan and is
recommended for approval subject to the signing of a section 106 agreement and
appropriate conditions.
PLANNING STATUS
 Major development location
 Allocated housing site
 Wind turbine safeguarding zone
 Bat Roost
 Groundwater zone 3
 Land liable to flooding
 Flood Zone 2
 Minerals consultation zone
 Contaminated land consultation zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Prior completion of a section 106 agreement as outlined in this report to

227

provide for contributions to local services, amenities, infrastructure and
affordable housing.
B. In the event of the application becoming CIL liable, the Head of
Development Management be authorised to approve the application and
issue a CIL liability notice in conjunction with the prior completion of a
section 106 agreement to secure the provision of affordable housing.
C. Conditions and informatives:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered ‘2174/10 Rev A’, ‘2174/100’, ‘2174/101’, ‘2174/102’, ‘2174/103’,
‘2174/104’, ‘2174/105’, 2174/106’ and ‘2174/107’ received by the local planning
authority on 27th October 2014 and the revised plans on 16th February 2015. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in
accordance with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished
floor levels or contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle
and pedestrian access and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor
artefacts and structure (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage
units, signs, lighting, external services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include
planting plan, specification (including cultivation and other operations associated
with plant and grass establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting
sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation
timetable.
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the
next planting season with others of species, size and number as originally
approved and permanently retained. Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery

228

Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
5. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all boundary
treatment(s) shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first
occupation of the development or phased as agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be maintained in the approved form for so
long as the development remains on the site. Reason: To safeguard amenity and
highway safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6.
6. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges
growing on or adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority (the
Approved Scheme); the tree protection measures approved shall be
implemented in complete accordance with the Approved Scheme for the duration
of the development (including, unless otherwise provided by the Approved
Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning,
demolition works, soil moving, temporary access construction and or widening or
any other operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction
machinery.
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation
involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence
until the local planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice)
with a period of no less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the
measures identified in the Approved Scheme on-site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not
be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external
works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials
removed from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority
has first been sought and obtained.
To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which
are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning
authority that the necessary measures are in place before development and
other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
7. Prior to the demolition of the existing buildings and structures and prior to
development of the site, an assessment shall be carried out to determine
whether any harmful materials are present and where such materials are found
then measures shall be taken to prevent such materials from contaminating the
land to be redeveloped. No building shall be occupied until a report detailing the
assessment and where necessary mitigation measures undertaken, has been

229

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. Relevant
Policy: Core Strategy Policy CP3
8. No development shall commence until a programme of archaeological work
(which may comprise more than one phase of work) has been implemented in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Reason: The site is
identified as being of archaeological potential. Investigation is required to allow
preservation and recording of any archaeological features or artefacts before
disturbance by the development. Relevant policy: National Planning Policy
Framework Section 12 (Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment)
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB25
9. No development shall take place until full details of the Drainage System(s) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These
shall include:
-

-

-

-

-

Results of intrusive ground investigations demonstrating the depth of the
seasonally high groundwater table and infiltration rates determined in
accordance with BRE Digest 365.
Full details of all components of the proposed drainage system including
source control, conveyance, storage, flow control and discharge. Details shall
include dimension, locations, reference to storm simulation files, gradients,
invert and cover levels and drawings as appropriate. This shall be identified
for all catchments.
Confirmation that the maximum discharge level of any infiltration SuDS
features has been kept as shallow as possible and is no deeper than 5
metres above the seasonally high groundwater level. There should be at least
1 metre between the base of the feature and the seasonal high level water
table.
Demonstration that the site drainage system will not be impacted by
groundwater flooding at the site.
Demonstration that the design of the drainage system accounts for the likely
impacts of climate change and changes in impermeable area, over the design
life of the development.
Demonstration that the layout of the site will not exacerbate surface water
flooding to existing property or dwellings at the proposed development.
Full details of overland flood flow routes including likely depths, velocities and
hazards.
Full details of the maintenance and/or adoption proposals /agreements for the
development covering every aspect of the proposed drainage system.

The submitted details shall be implemented as approved and thereafter
maintained unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development would not have an adverse impact on flood
risk for future occupiers and existing neighbouring properties.
10. No development shall commence until an Employment and Skills Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
Employment and Skills Plan shall show how the development hereby permitted

230

provides opportunities for training, apprenticeship or other vocational initiatives to
develop local employability skills and shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details. Reason: To ensure training opportunities are available for
local workers. Relevant policy: Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policy TB12
11. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials,
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate,
v) wheel washing facilities,
vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works. Reason: In the interests of highway safety & convenience
and neighbour amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6
12. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted details of
secure and covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of [and
visitors to] the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in
accordance with such details as may be approved before occupation of the
development hereby permitted, and shall be permanently retained in the
approved form for the parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities
are provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1,
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
13. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the construction of
roads and footways, including levels, widths, construction materials, depths of
construction, surface water drainage and lighting shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The roads and footways shall
be constructed in accordance with the approved details to road base level before
the development is occupied and the final wearing course will be provided within
3 months of occupation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that
would be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests
of providing a functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
14. No development shall commence until the off-site works comprising kerb
realignment and associated works proposed at A321 Hurst Road have been
provided in accordance with the approved plan drawing numbered 64013-TS003/C and any amendments required as part of a S278 Agreement.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy:
Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.

231

15. Prior to the occupation of the development the proposed vehicular access shall
have been formed and provided with visibility splays shown on the approved
drawing number ‘64013-TS-003/C’. The land within the visibility splays shall be
cleared of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height and maintained clear
of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy:
Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
16. No building shall be occupied until private driveways have been surfaced with a
permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the access for a
distance of 7.0 metres measured from the carriageway edge.
Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of
road safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6.
17. No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the
approved plans. The vehicle parking and turning space shall be retained and
maintained in accordance with the approved details and the parking space shall
remain available for the parking of vehicles at all times and the turning space
shall not be used for any other purpose other than vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe
development and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC07.
18. No building shall be occupied until details of bin storage area/ facilities have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The bin
storage area and facilities shall be permanently so-retained and used for no
purpose other than the temporary storage of refuse and recyclable materials.
Reason: In the interests of visual and neighbouring amenities and functional
development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy CP3 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC04.
19. The mitigation measures given in paragraphs 5.1.1 to 5.2.5 inclusive of the
submitted Reptile Survey (John Wenman, Ref: R879/e, February 2015) and
shown in the figures of appendices 3, 4 and 5 shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the
local planning authority. Prior to occupation of the dwellings, a report shall be
submitted by the supervising ecologist to show the mitigation measures taken.
Reason: To ensure that Slow-worms protected under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act (as amended) 1981, are not adversely impacted upon as a result
of the development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy CP7
20. The mitigation and compensation measures given in paragraphs 5.1.1 to 5.1.9
inclusive of the submitted Bat Emergence and Re-entry Survey (John Wenman,
Ref: R881/c, February 2015) and shown in the figures of appendices 3 and 4
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that bats, a European Protected Species, are not adversely

232

impacted upon as a result of the development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
CP7
21. No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local
planning authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or
dying or being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years
from the completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with
trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local
planning authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
22. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved FRA dated September 2014 compiled by
Herrington Consulting Limited and the following mitigation measures detailed
within the FRA:
1. Finished floor levels are set no lower than 36.20 metres Above Ordnance
Datum (mAOD).
2. Provision of flood resistance/resilience measures within the proposed
development as detailed in section 9.1 of the FRA.
3. No development will be located within the 1 in 100 year plus 20% allowance
for climate change flood extent (Flood Zone 2) on the site.
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and
subsequently in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied
within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in
writing, by the Local Planning Authority (LPA).
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants. Relevant Policy: Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC09 and CC10.
23. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than
between the hours of 08.00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00
Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policy CC06.
24. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the garage accommodation
on the site identified on the approved plans shall be kept available for the parking
of vehicles ancillary to the residential use of the site at all times. It shall not be
used for any business nor as habitable space.
Reason: To ensure that adequate parking space is available on the site, so as to

233

reduce the likelihood of roadside parking, in the interests of highway safety and
convenience. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
25. The dwellings shall achieve Code Level 4 in accordance with the requirements of
the Code for Sustainable Homes: Technical Guide [or such national measure of
sustainability for house design that replaces that scheme]. No dwelling shall be
occupied until a Final Code Certificate has been issued for it by an accredited
assessor certifying that Code Level 4 has been achieved.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change,
Flooding and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC04
26. Those windows shown on the approved drawings as having obscured glazing in
part or full shall be so-fitted and shall be permanently so-retained, and shall
remain fixed closed at all times. Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities
of neighbouring properties. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
Informatives
1. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions
which must be complied with prior to the development starting on site.
Commencement of the development without complying with the precommencement requirements may be outside the terms of this permission and
liable to enforcement action. The information required should be formally
submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant fee. Once the details
have been approved in writing the development should be carried out only in
accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case officer
to discuss.
2. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated [Insert appropriate
date], the obligations in which relate to this development.
3. The Head of Technical Services at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham
[0118 9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access construction
details before any work is carried out within the highway (including verges and
footways). This planning permission does NOT authorise the construction of
such an access or works.
4. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent
the deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further
information contact the Highway Authority on tel.: 0118 9746000.
5. The developer’s attention is drawn to the fact that this permission does not
authorise the physical construction of the proposed off-site highway works and
site access connections to the public highway. A separate legal agreement
made with the Council under s.278 of the Highways Act 1980 is required. No
work within or affecting the public highway shall commence until the agreement
has been completed and the Council, as local highway authority, has approved
all construction and installation details together with a programme of works.

234

6. If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority,
to adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public
expense, then full engineering details must be agreed with the Highway Authority
at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer is strongly
advised not to commence development until such details have been approved in
writing and a legal agreement is made with the Council under Section 38 of the
Highways Act 1980.
7. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87
New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and
licensed as required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in
order to minimise disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the
highway. Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the
connection of any utility to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in
liaison with the Borough’s Street Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take
place AT LEAST three months in advance of the intended works to ensure
effective co-ordination with other works so as to minimise disruption.
8. Should any great crested newts or evidence of great crested newts be found
prior to or during the development, all works must stop immediately and an
ecological consultant contacted for further advice and Wokingham Borough
Council informed before works can proceed. All contractors working on site
should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact details of a
relevant ecological consultant.
9. Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development,
all works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant or the Council’s
ecologist contacted for further advice before works can proceed. All contractors
working on site should be made aware of the advice and provided with the
contact details of a relevant ecological consultant.
10. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m
head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum
pressure in the design of the proposed development.
11. The applicant is advised that if infiltration as a surface water management
strategy is not possible, the Local Planning Authority would require the following
details to be assessed:
-

-

-

Confirmation that the proposed run-off rates off the site for the 1 in 1, 1 in 30
and 1 in 100 year storm events plus allowance for the effects of climate
change will be no greater than existing run-off rates for all return periods.
Demonstration of how discharges from the site will be restricted to the
existing run-off rates for all events up to and including the 1 in 100 year storm
plus allowances for the effects of climate change. This shall include
identification of where and how surface water attenuation shall be provided
across the site and that they are adequately sized to serve their respective
catchments for all events up to the 1 in 100 year storm plus allowances for
the effects of climate change.
Demonstration that all events up to the 1 in 30 year event will be contained

235

-

without flooding the site or adjoining property.
Confirmation from the appropriate regulator (Environment Agency or Thames
Water) confirming agreement in principal for the method of discharge for this
type of development.

PLANNING HISTORY
Residential applications relating to 58 Hurst Road but no applications made on the rest
of the site
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Thames Water
Environment Agency
National Grid
Southern Gas Networks
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue
SSE Power distribution
Berkshire Archaeology
NHS Wokingham Clinical
commissioning group
Crime Prevention Officer
Highways
Biodiversity
Tree and Landscape
Environmental Health
Drainage
Education
Waste Services
Housing
Land Use and Transport
Parks and Open Spaces
Sports Development
Community Infrastructure
Economic Development
Twyford Parish Council

Local Members

No objection subject to condition (9) and informative
(10)
No objection subject to condition (22)
No comments received
No comments received
No objection
No objection
No objection subject to condition (8)
No comments received
No comments received
No objection subject to conditions (11 – 17, 24) and
informatives (3 – 7)
No objection subject to conditions (19, 20) and
informatives (8 and 9)
No objection subject to conditions (4 – 6, 21)
No objection subject to condition (7)
No objection subject to conditions (9, 22) and
informative (11)
No comments received
No comments received
No objection
No objection
No comments received
No comments received
No comments received
No objection subject to condition (10)
Objection due to the following:
 Set a precedent for future development
 Use of a green field instead of a brown field site
 Development of the flood plain
Seek more information on:
 Surface water strategy
 Plans for additional secondary school places
 Plots 6 – 9 should be as affordable as the
properties on the previous plans
Listing request if the recommendation is for
approval by Councillor Lindsay Ferris. Concerns
raised regarding the following:
 Development on the flood plain
 Impact on wildlife

236



Backland development

REPRESENTATIONS
First consultation period on original submission (5th November 2014 – 11th December
2014) - 93 Letters of objection received with regards to the following:





















Flooding – The area is historically a flood plain, is in Flood Zone 2 and has been
known to flood in previous years. Building on the flood plain would only worsen
flooding in the area and put increased pressure on existing houses. Information
for flooding is out of date and many residents’ gardens flood after heavy rainfall.
(See paragraphs 20 – 25)
Home insurance – Flooding will likely mean the properties cannot be insured and
this would have a detrimental impact on home insurance for existing properties.
(Officer Note: this is not a material planning consideration).
Schools – Local schools are overcrowded and there has been no planning for
school provision in the past. The development will only make this worse. (Officer
Note: Strategic planning for school places is outside the scope of this planning
application however the impact on local infrastructure is relevant to the decision.
This would be mitigated through a financial contribution in accordance with a
section 106 agreement and therefore is considered acceptable).
Traffic – Twyford is overcrowded already and traffic builds up significantly. With
Crossrail, this will only get worse and the development would put increased
pressure on the roads. Additionally, rail commuters park on the road and this
would also increase and be a highway safety issue. (See paragraphs 15 – 18).
Access – Hurst Road is a busy main road where people tend to drive above the
speed limit and other roads such as Winchcombe and Byron Roads are used as
rat runs. The access and reduction in width of Hurst Road would therefore be
dangerous. (See paragraphs 15 – 18).
Biodiversity – the site is currently open green space and the loss would have a
significantly detrimental impact on local wildlife, particularly on Great Crested
Newts. Other species such as deer, red kites and hedgehogs have been seen in
the area. There is an orchard on the site which would be lost. (See paragraphs
33 – 36).
Doctors – The local doctors are already oversubscribed and getting an
appointment is difficult. The development will only worsen this. (Officer Note: No
evidence has been provided to substantiate this and no consultee has responded
to highlight this as an issue).
Infill development – The proposal would be for infill development and this is
against Council policy (Officer Note: The site is allocated for residential
development and therefore the principle has already been agreed through the
adoption of the MDD).
Greenfield – the site is currently green space and brownfield land should be built
on first. (Officer Note: The site is allocated for residential development and
therefore the principle has already been agreed through the adoption of the
MDD).
Noise – Increased number of properties and families would result in detrimental
levels of noise. (See paragraph 29).
Overlooking – The new properties will have habitable rooms all looking towards
existing properties. (See paragraph 13).
Loss of light – Further trees proposed will result in a loss of light (See paragraph
14).

237









Housing mix – The proposal does not include enough starter homes. (See
paragraph 7)
Energy efficiency- The proposed materials are not the most energy efficient and
solar panels or ground source heat pumps are not mentioned. (Officer Note:
Condition 24 requires the dwellings to be constructed at Code 4 of the Code for
Sustainable Homes. This meets the policy requirement and is above the current
minimum level of building regulations).
Housing design – The application is not in keeping with the character of the area
and in particular, the garages have high pitched roofs whilst garages on Hurst
Road have flats roofs. The design is unimaginative and does not add positively to
the area. (See paragraphs 11 and 12).
Street lighting – This has not been shown in the application and any new street
lights would result in light pollution. (See paragraph 19).
Pumping station – the existing pumping station would be put under pressure and
could potentially fail causing health issues. (Officer Note: Suitable alternative
drainage solutions would likely be used and the drainage advisor does not object
to this).

Correspondence has also been received from the office of Theresa May. This asks that
letters sent to the office of Theresa May are taken into account. The letters raise similar
objections to those listed above.
Second consultation period on revised plans (27th February 2015 – 13th March 2015) 13 Letters of objection received with regards to the following:












Infill development – The proposal would be for infill development and this is
against Council policy (Officer Note: The site is allocated for residential
development and therefore the principle has already been agreed through the
adoption of the MDD).
Greenfield – the site is currently green space and brownfield land should be built
on first. (Officer Note: The site is allocated for residential development and
therefore the principle has already been agreed through the adoption of the
MDD).
Flooding – Flood risk would be increased elsewhere by the proposal. The
drainage system backs up during heavy rainfall and this would be worsened by
the proposal. The updated FRA does not respond to all the points previously
raised and is still inaccurate. The site has not been sequentially tested although
this has already been highlighted by the Council. (See paragraphs 20 – 25).
Biodiversity - Revised plans do not adequately compensate for impact on wildlife.
Trees are used as roosts for red kites and the site has wildflowers on it. (See
paragraphs 33 – 36).
Character – Introduce significant built form, result in a loss of landscaping and
erode the rural character. (See paragraphs 11 and 12).
Layout – The public open space has been removed which was meant to help
with drainage, now houses are in its place. The heights of buildings have
increased. (Officer Note: A revised layout was considered necessary in order to
achieve all relevant standards. Although the heights of the dwellings have
increased, this is not considered to have a harmful impact).
Conservation Area – The site is within or borders the Twyford Conservation Area
which would be harmful. (Officer Note: The edge of the Conservation Area is
located over 300 metres away and therefore no harmful impact is considered to
occur).

238





Transport – The revised report has not produced any new information and
original issues regarding the narrowing of a busy road in close proximity to
junctions still stands. Traffic would be increased as a result of the proposal. (See
paragraphs 15 – 18).
Community Infrastructure Levy – The Council has adopted one of the highest
rates for CIL in the country and therefore the developer should attract the highest
possible CIL to benefit the local community. (Officer Note: The Council is
implementing CIL on 6th April 2015 and therefore at the time of the committee,
the proposal would not be CIL liable. For information, the likely CIL charge is
shown at paragraph 41).

APPLICANTS POINTS
 The site is allocated in the Development Plan for residential development and
would provide part of the housing supply for the Borough, including affordable
housing.
 The proposal is in a sustainable location, provides adequate parking and meets
all other standards.
 A sufficient housing mix is provided
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP5

Housing Mix, Density and Affordability

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP17

Housing Delivery

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC09

Development and Flood Risk

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB05

Housing Mix

TB07

Internal Space Standards

TB21

Landscape Character

SAL02

Allocated housing development sites

BDG

Borough Design Guide

SDC

Sustainable Design and Construction

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD)

239

May 2010

Other

WPSS

Wokingham Parking Standards Study
Report October 2011

PAN

Planning Advice Note – Infrastructure
Impact Mitigation Contributions for
New Development

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. The scheme is for the erection of 12 dwellings following the demolition of 58
Hurst Road. Access to Hurst Road would be achieved in its place leading to plots
1 which would be orientated at 90 degrees from the existing orientation of
properties on Hurst Road. The road would then move northwards with plots 2 – 5
containing detached properties facing the road and of the same orientation as
properties on Hurst Road. These would also contain garages within the plots.
Plots 6 – 12 would be to the east of the road with a back to back relationship with
Hurst Road and would be of a higher density. Parking for these properties would
be to the front as well as visitor spaces.
Principle of Development:
2. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
3. The site is located within a major development location and within a settlement
boundary and as such the development should be acceptable providing that it
complies with the policies of the Development Plan. The site has been allocated
for development in the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan which
designated the site for around 20 dwellings as per Policy SAL02. As such, the
development of the site for residential dwellings is acceptable.
4. Through the Core Strategy and the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan,
the Council has allocated sites which will contribute to the housing land supply
over the development plan period. The Council has also undertaken a Strategic
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) to provide an evidence base to
demonstrate that a rolling five year housing land supply and the overall phased
requirements of the Core Strategy can be achieved. The SHLAA has been
updated to 30th September 2014 and states that the Council has at least five
years supply of housing land. Given that the site is allocated for residential
development, the application would contribute towards the delivery of housing for
the Borough.
5. The application is not for the entire allocated site however, due to land ownership
issues, and therefore proposes less than the allocation for the whole site – 12
dwellings. The application site constitutes approximately 70% of the whole
allocated site and the number of dwellings proposed is considered to reflect this

240

split. Given this split and the ability to access the additional land from the
application site, the proposal is not considered to prejudice the delivery of the
total allocation for 20 dwellings.
Character of the Area:
6. Density: The site is within settlement and located behind existing dwellings on
Hurst Road in Twyford. Whilst the site is adjacent to countryside, it has been
allocated for housing in the MDD Local Plan. In response to this however, the
site has been designed to have a higher density and tighter form of development
to the east, with lower density and a looser form of development to the west thus
having a transition towards the countryside. The allocated site itself is larger than
the current application and has been identified for around 20 dwellings. This
equates to just fewer than 17 dwellings per hectare. The current application, with
12 dwellings on a 0.7 hectare site equates to just over 17 dwellings per hectare.
Whilst it is acknowledged this would be of a higher density than the dwellings on
Hurst Road, Orpington Close and Loddon View are in close proximity to the
proposal and both represent higher density development. Given the allocated
number for the site and its transitional form towards the countryside, the density
is considered to be appropriate.
7. Housing Mix: The proposal incorporates the following mix of dwelling sizes:
4 x 2 bed dwellings
2 x 3 bed dwellings
2 x 4 bed dwellings
4 x 5 bed dwellings
The development is not required to cater for a specific type but instead provide a
mix of dwelling types in order to accord with the Core Strategy and MDD. It is
considered the proposal achieves this and is acceptable in this respect.
8. Scale and layout: The dwellings proposed would be of a typical two storey
design with single storey garages. This would be reflective of the character of the
area which is dominated by two storey properties; however, it is acknowledged
there are bungalows at Loddon View. Notwithstanding this, the scale of the
proposal is considered to be typical of residential developments and appropriate
to the area. Additionally, whilst the land slopes away to the west, the looser form
of development in this part of the proposal is considered appropriate as it allows
for larger dwellings to be accommodated without having a harmful impact.
9. The proposal has been designed as a typical cul-de-sac development with
dwellings fronting onto the road and generally in a linear design. In particular,
plots 6 – 12 reflect the properties on Hurst Road forming a back-to-back
relationship. Plot 1 is arranged at a different orientation to the other dwellings
along with parking and landscaping adjacent to the road. Plots 2 – 5 represent a
looser form of development with greater gaps between dwellings and single
storey garages. Plot 2 in particular is set back from the road which gives
opportunity for landscaping. Following the original submission, the public open
space has been removed from the scheme due to lack of surveillance from
properties. Its removal was considered acceptable as there is no policy
requirement for it to be included within the site layout. The current layout shows

241

larger properties with larger gardens in its place and this allows for a looser form
of development and a transition to the countryside. Additionally, all properties
have a garden depth of 11 metres or more, sufficient parking and turning is
provided and there are good opportunities to integrate landscaping. Whilst it is
acknowledged the proposal would constitute backland development, given that
the site has already been allocated for housing, this element is not considered to
have a harmful impact. In any case the site is large enough to create its own
character. As such, the layout of the proposal is considered acceptable.
10. As the development is not across the entire allocated housing site, it needs to be
demonstrated that the proposal would not preclude a more comprehensive
development. The entire site is allocated for 20 dwellings and a further eight
dwellings would be required to meet the allocation. The proposed layout shows
that the road could be extended into the additional area and it is considered eight
dwellings could be accommodated within this. Sketch plans have been received
to indicate this. Whilst the additional properties may require a further turning
head, this is not considered to compromise the delivery of the site. As such, the
scheme is considered acceptable in this respect.
11. Design and Appearance: With regards to the physical integration of the
development into the surrounding area, with the exception of plot 2, the
properties would address the street which is considered to be in keeping. Whilst
the dwellings would be located behind the existing properties on Hurst Road,
development has already occurred west of the street in terms of Orpington Close
and Loddon View and therefore the expansion of development is not considered
to have a significantly harmful impact. There are differing types of dwellings in
the area including two storey and bungalows, detached, semi-detached and linkdetached. As such, it is considered the proposal provides a suitable variation and
mix from this with detached two storey dwellings of different sizes.
12. With regards to the visual integration, the dwellings would have a typical
residential appearance and there would be a mix of hipped and gable roof forms
with particular design features provided in terms of brick and window detailing
and front porches. This is considered to be typical of modern developments in
the Borough and generally reflective of the local character. Indeed new
developments should pick up on existing design features but should not be a
pastiche replication of the existing architecture. As such, subject to a condition
requiring the submission of appropriate materials to be agreed (condition 3), the
proposal would visually integrate into its surroundings.
Residential Amenities:
13. Overlooking: With regards to plots 6 – 12, these would exceed the 22 metre
separation distance in terms of a back to back relationship. As such, no harmful
overlooking impact is considered to occur. With regards to plots 2 – 5, these
would exceed the 10 metre front to front relationship and therefore no harmful
impact would occur. With regards to plot 1, this would meet the flank to rear
relationship of 12 metres and would generally provide views to the flank elevation
and front driveway space rather than private amenity space.
14. Overbearing/Loss of light: The orientation of the proposed dwellings and the
separation distance to existing dwellings are such that no harmful impact is

242

considered to occur with regards to overbearing or a loss of light. Additionally,
any proposed planting near existing properties would be located near flank
elevations and therefore no harmful impact is considered to occur.
Highways and Access:
15. Highway Safety: The proposal would result in a new access onto Hurst Road
replacing the dwelling at 58. This would involve the realignment of the western
kerb line of Hurst Road which would give appropriate sight lines. The
carriageway width would be reduced as a result but three metre wide lanes
would be maintained as central hatching would be removed. This would also
improve the footway adjacent to the proposed junction. The Highways Officer
and the Council’s Traffic and Road Safety team raise no objection to this.
Additionally, a Stage 1 Safety Audit has been carried out by the applicant and
this does not raise any significant concerns. It does however state that the
access to 56 Hurst Road could be harmfully impacted. A revised plan has been
submitted which indicates that the access could be achieved without detrimental
impact on highway safety to the satisfaction of the Highway Officer. Within the
development itself, suitable carriageway width, services margins and a turning
head are all achieved.
16. Traffic Impact: It is noted that traffic impact has been highlighted as a concern.
However, the site is allocated for residential development in the MDD Local Plan
and therefore the proposal would contribute to the level of development
envisaged by the development plan for the Borough. Additionally, the proposal is
of a modest scale and it is considered the impact could be accommodated within
the existing highway network. Indeed the Highways Officer does not object to
the proposal in this respect. Furthermore, the proposal would mitigate its impact
on the area through contributions secured as part of the section 106 agreement
(or potentially CIL payments). As such, the development is considered
acceptable with regards to this.
17. Parking: The proposal has been assessed against Wokingham Borough Council
Parking Standards and each dwelling would have two parking spaces in addition
to any garages. Parking spaces are of adequate size as well as internal garages.
Additionally, six visitor spaces have been indicated and this is considered to be
acceptable.
18. Sustainability: The site is located within an established residential area and has
good access to public transport. Twyford village centre is within 800m and
Twyford railway station is within 500m of the site. As such, the site is considered
to be in a sustainable location. Secure covered cycle storage could be
accommodated on each plot and a condition requiring details of this has been
attached (condition 12).
Street Lighting:
19. No street lighting is currently proposed within the development and there is no
objection to this. Potentially, street lighting may be required as part of the
adoption of the road however this is not a statutory requirement in terms of
adoption. As such, the Highways Officer has raised no objection to the fact no
street lighting is proposed but has also confirmed this would be the case if

243

lighting was to be required as part of the adoption process.
Flooding and Drainage:
20. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (by Herrington Consulting Limited who also
undertook the FRA for the original allocation) has been submitted with the
application. This states that, on the basis of the Environment Agency flood maps,
the allocation site is designated as mostly within Flood Zone 2, with the land
adjacent to rear gardens of 48 – 56 Hurst Road in Flood Zone 1 and a small part
within Flood Zone 3 to the north west. The application site itself, is designated as
within Flood Zones 1 and 2.
21. When the site was originally allocated for housing in preparation for the MDD
Local Plan, an FRA was carried out in relation to the allocation site to determine
if development could be accommodated. This FRA concluded that “the
development should not be at a significant risk of flooding, and should not be
susceptible to damage due to flooding” and “that the development should not be
exposed to flood risk such that the health, safety and welfare of the users of the
development, or the population elsewhere, is threatened” (Page 27 FRA for the
land to the rear of 58 Hurst Road, Twyford, April 2010). At this time, the
Environment Agency (EA) did not object to the allocation of the site. As a result
of this, the site was allocated for housing in the MDD Local Plan although with a
proviso for a flood risk assessment and a drainage strategy to be submitted with
any application.
22. The NPPF carries forward the sequential approach to flood risk from previous
policy guidance, establishing that development should be directed away from the
areas at highest risk and, where development is necessary in areas at risk of
flooding, it should be made safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere. Core
Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD submission policy CC09 are consistent with this
approach, requiring that new development should avoid increasing and where
possible reduce flood risk. As a result of the allocation of the site through the
MDD, the site has been sequentially tested and found to be in an acceptable
location.
23. The FRA then details that further modelling of the site was undertaken and this
gave a more in depth survey of the site. As such, the modelling showed that only
a small part of the site was actually in Flood Zone 2 with the rest in Flood Zone 1.
This is due to a topographical survey (attached at Appendix A of the FRA)
showing that the height of the land is above the flood level associated with Flood
Zone 2 in this area at 35.99 m AODN taking into account of climate change
(paragraph 5.1 of the FRA). On this basis, the FRA concludes that the proposal
would not present a significant flood risk. The Environment Agency who are the
statutory consultee on flooding, has reviewed the FRA and also concluded that
there would not be any significant impact from flooding, subject to the mitigation
methods in the FRA being carried out. Further to this, the Council’s drainage
advisor has agreed with the approach set out in the FRA. In addition to this,
confirmation from the EA was sought regarding the designation of flood zones for
the site which is attached to this report. The letter concludes that the majority of
the application site is within Flood Zone 1 and a small part in Flood Zone 2.
24. With regards to drainage, new developments should not have a detrimental

244

impact on the existing level of drainage for a site. The FRA outlines that drainage
would infiltrate into the ground and there would be some surface water
discharging eventually into water courses away from the site. The FRA then
outlines that infiltration would be used to mitigate the impact of the development
with a lesser emphasis placed on discharging into a watercourse and, as a last
resort, into the public sewer system. Whilst further details would need to be
agreed, the FRA outlines that surface water run-off would be discharged to
individual crate soakaways located within the garden areas. Further to this, and if
required, the surface water could be discharged into a large underground storage
area, a watercourse or to the public foul sewer in Hurst Road via a pumped
connection (pages 33 – 37 of the FRA). The FRA concludes that the drainage for
the site could be accommodated through these measures and would not
detrimentally impact on existing drainage.
25. The approach outlined above has been considered by the Council’s drainage
advisor. Subject to further information as detailed in condition 9 and informative
11, the drainage advisor does not object to this. It is noted that Thames Water
have also considered that further information is required, however it is
considered this would be covered by condition 9.
Landscape and Trees:
26. The site is generally open with the exception of a group of fruit trees to the north.
Hedgerows and trees exist along the boundaries to the east, south and west
whilst the rear boundaries of the properties along Hurst Road are relatively
informal with some vegetation. Whilst the fruit trees would be removed as a result
of the proposal, the boundary treatment would be retained. A Tree Survey has
been submitted and it is considered that the proposal could be accommodated
without harm to those trees that would be retained. It is noted that the fruit trees
have been highlighted as a regrettable loss and therefore it is considered a
condition requiring replacement fruit trees (in a landscaping scheme) would help
mitigate against this. Subject to conditions, the Tree and Landscape Officer
agrees with the findings of the Tree Survey (conditions 4, 6 and 21).
27. A Landscape Visual Impact Assessment has also been submitted with the
application and concludes that although the site would be changed from
agricultural land, the field does not form a significant part of the wider character
area the scheme could be accommodated into the surrounding landscape
without any negative impact. The Assessment notes that the proposal would
effectively ‘round off’ the settlement boundary. As such, the impact is considered
acceptable and the Tree and Landscape officer agrees with this assessment.
Environmental Health:
28. Contamination: The site is not known to be contaminated however as the use is
for residential properties, the Environmental Health Officer has stated a survey
determining if any contamination is present would be necessary and this is
therefore conditioned (condition 7).
29. Noise: The Environmental Health Officer has not raised any objection with
regards to noise and it is considered the layout is typical of residential areas and
therefore no harmful impact would occur.

245

Amenity Space:
30. With the exception of plot 12, all properties proposed would have a garden depth
of 11 metres or more and therefore the proposal accords with the Borough
Design Guide. In terms of plot 12, the garden depth would be 10.4 metres at its
minimum, however it is considered the width of 15 metres mitigates any impact of
not meeting the 11 metre requirement. Additionally, whilst it is noted plots 2, 3
and 4 have gardens partly within the potential area of flooding, the main part of
the garden would meet the 11 metre requirement and therefore this is considered
acceptable.
Internal Space Standards:
31. The internal space standards for new dwellings are set out in the Borough
Design Guide and supported by Policy TB07 of the MDD Local Plan. Given the
size of the rooms, the configuration of the dwelling and windows, it is considered
the proposal would exceed the internal space standards. As the proposal is for
new dwellings, it is considered necessary to ensure appropriate refuse storage
by condition (condition 18).
Sustainability:
32. In line with Policy CC04 of the MDD, new dwellings shall meet Code 4 for
sustainable homes or demonstrate why this is cannot be achieved. Furthermore,
all development should incorporate suitable waste management facilities
including on-site recycling. It is considered that sufficient internal and external
storage could be provided to accommodate this and a condition to require Code
4 to be achieved would result in the proposal according with Policy CC04
(condition 25).
Biodiversity:
33. Phase 1 Habitat Survey: This survey concludes that two statutory and 12 nonstatutory designated sites for nature conservation are present within 2km of the
site and that the site supports habitat and species to which legislation and
planning policy apply, including traditional orchard (UK Post-2010 Biodiversity
Framework habitat) and breeding birds. However, subject to the mitigations set
out in the report, no harmful impact on these would occur. The survey also found
that the site contains suitable habitats for bats and reptiles and therefore
recommended further surveys should be carried out as a result. Where
necessary these have been carried out and therefore the Biodiversity Officer
does not raise an objection to this.
34. Reptile Survey: The survey concluded that slow worms were present on the site
and without suitable mitigation the proposal could lead to a detrimental impact.
As such, the survey recommends suitable working methods and on-site
mitigation to avoid any harmful impact. Subject to conditions, the Biodiversity
officer does not raise any objection to this (condition 19 and informative 8).
35. Bat Survey: The initial survey indicated the presence of bats at 58 Hurst Road
and therefore an emergence/re-entry survey was recommended. This survey

246

confirmed bats are using 58 Hurst Road as a roost. As such, the survey
recommends that in line with a European Protected Species License, suitable
mitigation should be carried out including timing of demolition, suitable materials
in construction, bat boxes and appropriate roosting opportunities within the roof
space of one of the proposed dwellings. Subject to conditions, the Biodiversity
officer does not raise any objection to this (condition 20 and informative 9).
36. Overall Impact: The application demonstrates that no harmful impact would
occur on any protected species. It is acknowledged that the development would
result in the loss of a green field and therefore the loss of habitats for unprotected
species. Notwithstanding this, green space would be retained in rear gardens
and the proposal would be adjacent to open countryside. As such, it is
considered the impact on local biodiversity would not be harmful subject to the
imposition of planning conditions.
Impact Mitigation, affordable housing provision and Community Infrastructure Levy:
37. Infrastructure Mitigation: As the proposal is for 12 new dwellings, it would
result in the net increase of 11 dwellings on the site. As such, and in line with
Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy and the Planning Advice Note, contributions
would be required for this scheme and are as follows:
Education
Leisure, recreation & sports facilities
Country parks, biodiversity & countryside access
Libraries
Highways
Monitoring fee
Legal costs (minimum)
TOTAL:

£109,479.00
£31,833.34
£6,358.00
£2,521.97
£50,700.00
£2,200.00
£1,000.00
£204,092.31

NOTES:
No contributions sought for secondary school places for 2-bed units
The catchment Colleton Primary school is currently over-subscribed and the development thus
needs to contribute towards additional mainstream primary education in the area. The
catchment Piggott school is currently over-subscribed and the development thus needs to
contribute towards additional mainstream secondary education in the area.
The highway authority has identified the need for local highway and public transport
improvements to accommodate increased traffic in the area

38. Subject to the signing of a section 106 agreement, the infrastructure impact is
considered to be mitigated against.
39. Affordable Housing: The application meets the threshold for affordable housing
and therefore, as per Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy, 35% of the units must be
affordable housing. Four units (33%) are identified as being such and the Senior
Strategy Officer has stated this would be acceptable. Subject to the signing of a
section 106 agreement confirming this, the proposal is considered to accord with
Policy CP5.
40. Special Protection Area: The proposal does not meet the threshold for
mitigating any impact on the Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area and

247

therefore a mitigation strategy or contribution to the Council's agreed mitigation
strategy is not required.
41. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): Wokingham Borough Council will adopt
CIL on 6th April 2015. As such, this would replace the infrastructure mitigation
provided through the signing of a section 106 agreement. Based on Wokingham
Borough Council’s CIL charging schedule, the CIL charge for this scheme would
be as follows:
New floor
space
1706 m2 –
12 dwellings
including
garages

Existing
floor space
124 m2 –
Estimate of
floor space
of existing
dwelling 58
Hurst Road

Charge

Exemptions

(1706 m2 - 124 m2 Potential exemption due to
= 1582 m2)
affordable housing = 328 m2
1582 m2 x £365
per m2 = £577, 430

Potential total charge
collected =
577, 430 – (328 x 365) =
£457, 710

This is an approximate calculation given that the exact floor space would need to
be agreed with the applicant. Furthermore, this is for indicative purposes only as
at the point of determination, the application would not be CIL liable.
Archaeology:
42. As there has been little archaeological investigation within the immediate vicinity
of the site and the broader landscape is one of significant archaeological
potential, Berkshire Archaeology has recommended a condition for a programme
of archaeological work to be carried out (condition 8).
Employment Opportunities:
43. Policy TB12 of the MDD states that any major application “must be accompanied
by an Employment and Skills Plan to show how the proposal accords
opportunities for training, apprenticeship or other vocational initiatives to develop
local employability skills required by developers, contractors or within the
applicants industry”. This is to encourage the use of local labour for proposals.
Whilst it is acknowledged the applicant has requested this be dealt with through a
financial contribution, the economic development officer has advised that the
proposal should provide training/apprentice opportunities as per the policy. As
such, it is considered a condition requiring a plan to be submitted and approved
in writing prior to development would be appropriate (condition 10).
CONCLUSION
The site is allocated for residential development in the Local Plan and the proposal
would bring forward the site for development. An acceptable layout has been
demonstrated that would integrate into the surrounding area without detriment to
residential amenity and would also provide appropriate housing size and mix, adequate
parking and suitable internal room and external garden sizes. Whilst the site is near
potential flooding areas, it has been demonstrated the development could be
accommodated without detrimental impact to other properties. As such, the proposal
accords with the development plan and is recommended for approval.

248

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

249

This page is intentionally left blank

251

This page is intentionally left blank

253

This page is intentionally left blank

255

This page is intentionally left blank

257

This page is intentionally left blank

259

This page is intentionally left blank

261

This page is intentionally left blank

263

This page is intentionally left blank

265

This page is intentionally left blank

267

This page is intentionally left blank

Wokingham Borough Council
Development Control
PO Box 157
Wokingham
Berkshire
RG40 1WR

Our ref:
Your ref:

WA/2014/119123/02-L01
F/2014/2353

Date:

16 March 2015

for the attention of Graham Vaughan
Dear Sir,
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUNGALOW AND ERECTION OF 12 HOUSES
(INCLUDING 4 AFFORDABLE DWELLINGS) WITH ACCESS, PARKING, OPEN
SPACE AND LANDSCAPING. 58 HURST ROAD, TWYFORD, READING. RG10
0AN
We write further to the e-mail from Graham Vaughan dated 25 February 2015.
We can confirm that part of the site is located within the 1 in 100 year plus 20%
allowance for climate change being designated as Flood Zone 2 and the future Flood
Zone 3 being land at below 35.90 metres Above Ordnance Datum (mAOD).
Our detailed modelling for the site location, which is the Lower Loddon (2009) study,
details that part of the site is located within Flood Zone 2 (outside of the 1 in 100 year
plus 20% allowance for climate change floodplain) as it is land below approximately
36.38 mAOD.
We can then confirm that any land on the site located above approximately 36.38
mAOD is located within Flood Zone 1. Having looked at the topographical survey with
contours on page 2 of the Appendices to the Flood Risk Assessment for this proposal
(plan reference HURST/2006/01 by EZ-Plans Design consultant) we agree that the
majority of the site is shown to be above 36.40m AOD.
Therefore we can confirm that the site is located within Flood Zones 1 and 2, with the
majority of the site being located within Flood Zone 1.
Yours faithfully

Judith Johnson
Sustainable Places team
Direct dial 01252 729625
e-mail planning-farnham@environment-agency.gov.uk

End

269

This page is intentionally left blank

271

This page is intentionally left blank

273

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 125.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2015/0055

No weeks on
day of
committee
13 weeks

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Woodley

Coronation

Cllr Haines

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Mr R Chand
29 Copse Mead, Woodley
Postcode RG5 4RP
Proposed erection of part two storey, part single storey rear extension;
single storey side extension on west elevation; change of roof form from
twin rear gable to crown roof design; raising of roof to create habitable
accommodation in roof space and two storey front gable extension.
Demolition of existing detached garage, removal of existing chimneys
and changes to existing fenestration.
Type
Householder
PS Category 21
Officer
James McCabe
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 1st April 2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The proposal is a resubmission of a proposal refused at committee and dismissed at
appeal based on the development being harmfully un-neighbourly in terms of its
oppressive and overbearing impacts on the living conditions of the residents of 27
Copse Mead. The proposed development has been reduced in scale by the two storey
side extension being reduced to single storey, and the two storey rear element of the
proposal being shortened from 4m to 3m. It is considered that the proposal would be
acceptable in principle and would overcome the previous reasons for refusal and is
therefore recommended for approval.
PLANNING STATUS
 Major development location
 Groundwater Protection Zone 3
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT of PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the
following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered 199613 received by the local planning authority on 12.01.2015 and
revised plan numbered 220514/A received by the local planning authority on
12.03.2015.
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
extension hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to those used in the
existing building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority.

275

4. The two en-suite windows in the side elevations of the development facing No 27
hereby permitted shall be fitted with obscured glass and shall be permanently soretained. The windows shall be non-opening unless the parts of the window
which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the finished floor level of
the room in which the window is installed and shall be permanently so-retained.
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no additional windows or
similar openings shall be constructed in the first floor level or above in either side
elevations of the extensions hereby permitted except for any which may be
shown on the approved drawings.
6. The following mitigation and contingency measures shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved plan, unless otherwise approved in writing by the
local planning authority:
a) All contractors involved in internal or external alterations to the roof space
are to be briefed on the ecology of bats and their legal status before
commencing work.
b) All tiles to be removed shall be lifted off by hand and a watching brief be
kept for evidence of bats.
c) Type 1F bitumen felt underlay is to be used as a lining to all extensions to
the current roof void.
Reasons:
1. In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3. To ensure the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
5. To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
6. To ensure that bats, a European Protected Species, are not adversely impacted
upon as a result of the development.

PLANNING HISTORY
 11687 – Single storey extension and garage – C/A
 34665 – Pitched roof on double garage – C/A
 F/2014/0034 – Proposed erection of part two storey, part single storey rear
extension and two storey side extension on west elevation and part first floor side

276



extension on east elevation, (including change in roof form from twin rear gable
to crown roof design). In addition, proposed front gable extension and intergral
double garage, demolition of existing detached garage, removal of existing
chimney stack and changes to existing fenestration – Refused
F/2014/0713 – Proposed erection of a part two storey, part single storey rear
extension and two storey side extension on west elevation (including change in
roof form from twin rear gable to crown roof design). In addition, proposed front
gable extension, demolition of existing detached garage, removal of existing
chimney stack and changes to existing fenestration (resubmission of
F/2014/0034) – Refused at committee and dismissed at appeal.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Residential
Site Area
Existing bedrooms
Proposed bedrooms
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Local Member

0.11 hectares
4
5 (plus ‘hobby room’ in loft space)
5
5

Listing request:
“If you are so minded to approve this application or
to reject it on minor matters, I would request that
you list this to go before the full Planning Committee
for resolution in the fullness of time.
My reason is loss of amenity in the garden of
number 27 Copse Mead which includes
overlooking and violation of privacy”.

Woodley Town Council:

Following concerns:
The meeting the committee discussed the
proposal and felt that insufficient change had been
made from the previous application and therefore
recommended that the application be refused on
the following grounds:
- Overdevelopment of the plot
- Overbearing
- Massing effect on neighbouring properties
- Loss of light to adjacent properties
- Loss of privacy to adjacent properties
If planning permission is granted, the Committee
would like there to be a condition stating that the
house cannot be used as a house of multiple
occupation.

Biodiversity
Landscape & Trees
Network Rail

No objections subject to conditions
No objections subject to conditions
No further observations to make

277

REPRESENTATIONS
Objections received from four residents (including the two adjacent neighbours) raising
the following issues (see brackets for where this has been addressed in the report) :
- Problems with parking given that 5 bedrooms could in theory equate to 5 vehicles;
one per occupant. Elsewhere cars rarely parked on the road overnight. (Paragraph 22)
- Overbearing from increase in ridge height. (Paragraph 8)
- Loss of light to adjacent properties (Paragraphs 16 & 20)
- Impact on the character of the area, out of keeping non-public street (Paragraph 5)
- Change of roof would overhang number 31 (Paragraph 16)
- Proposal in essence unchanged from previous (Paragraph 12 table)
- Previous objections not addressed (Paragraphs 5, 19, 20, 21)
- Oppressive and overbearing in scale and location (Paragraphs 5, 7, 18, 19, 20, 21)
- Harmfully unneighbourly (Paragraphs 11-21)
- 1m gap creates terracing effect (Paragraph 5)
- Loss of light to surrounding dwellings which were designed in proportion to their
plots and so as to benefit from light from all 4 elevations (Paragraph 14)
- Number of bedrooms infers multiple occupation (Paragraph 10)
- Loss of privacy from (Paragraphs 15 and 19)
- Inappropriate increase in scale (Paragraph 7)
- Close proximity limits options of extensions to No 27. (Paragraph 19)
- No supporting statement included with proposal (Officer note – this is not a validation
requirement for householder applications)
- Rear extension will causes serious overshadowing and loss of privacy (Paragraphs
15, 19, 21)
- First floor windows will cause loss of privacy (Paragraph 19)
Planning Inspector
- Design of front, side and rear elements acceptable within context of the character of
the street.
- Development would be harmfully un-neighbourly in terms of its oppressive and
overbearing impacts on the living conditions of the residents of 27 Copse Mead which
would be contrary to Core Strategy Policy CP3 and the NPPF. (Paragraphs 20 & 21)

APPLICANTS POINTS
 The applicant considers that the Inspector’s reasons for refusal (namely
overbearing impact to the neighbouring first floor bedroom of no 27 and its rear
amenity space) have been addressed by the revisions to the scheme.
PLANNING POLICY
- National Planning Policy Framework
- Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04,
CC05, CC06, CC07, CC09, CC10 & TB23
- Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework – Core Strategy CP1, CP3,
CP6, CP7
- SPD Borough Design Guide.
PLANNING ISSUES
Principal of Development
1. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in

278

favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
2. The site is located within a major development location and as such the
development should be acceptable providing that it complies with the principles
stated in the Core Strategy. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that
development must be appropriate in terms of its scale of activity, mass, layout,
built form, height, materials and character to the area in which it is located and
must be of high quality design without detriment to the amenities of adjoining
land uses and occupiers.
Impact on the character of the area
3. Copse Mead is a residential street with a distinct suburban character. The street
scene comprises a variety of property types ranging from bungalows, chalet
bungalows to large two storey dwellings. A key characteristic of the street is its
spaciousness, which is afforded by a deep building line, and the majority of the
dwellings also benefit from long gardens space to the rear.
4. The Borough Design Guide (BDG) advises that extensions and alterations should
respond positively to the context, maintaining or enhancing the street scene or
local character. The Guide also advises that extensions should be subservient to
the host dwelling. With regards to side extensions, The BDG advises that they
should be set back from the building line by at least one metre, preferably have a
lower roof line and should be set at least one metre from the plot boundary.
5. The proposed side extension towards No 27 is to be of single storey height with a
mono pitched roof and will be set in 1 metre from the boundary. This is a revision
to the previously refused proposal which included a two storey side extension on
the south-west elevation. It was concluded by the Inspector that, despite the
separation between dwellings being a key contributing factor to the spaciousness
of the street scene, the two storey side extension would be proportionate to the
main elevation in terms of its massing and would be acceptably detailed with
regard to the form of the roof and window openings. This is also considered to be
the case for the single storey extension proposed in this application. It was
additionally noted that the 1 metre separation distance to the boundary would be
sufficient to ensure that a terracing effect would not result. It is noted that the
revision to the side extension was not to overcome issues with character but to
address impacts on neighbouring amenity (see paragraphs 11-21) and given the
reduction in scale and the continued sympathetic roof design of the current
proposal, it is considered that the side extension would have an acceptable
impact on the character of the area.
6. The front two storey gable extension has similarities with No 33 (a chalet
bungalow) and No 28 (two storey dwelling). There is a wide variety in the design
of the buildings within Copse Mead and the proposed front extension is not
considered to raise any concerns as regards character.
7. There are no changes proposed to the north-east side elevation. The rear

279

extensions, though involving a large increase in floor space, would not be visible
from the public realm and would therefore not have a detrimental impact on the
character of the area and would be, along with the extensions on other
elevations, proportional to the extensive size of the plot and the existing large
dwelling.
8. An objection has been raised to the raising of the ridge height by 0.1 metres at a
width of 3.3 metres to accommodate an attic room. A similar height increase was
proposed with the last application but which would have had a greater width (5.2
metres) given that the roof was to be extended above the two storey extension.
Additionally the previously proposed rooflight has been removed and is now
replaced with a flat velux window. This is shown on plan no 220514/A which is a
revision requested to address the disparity between the floorplan and elevations.
Given that the roof section to be raised is situated on a central, narrow section of
the dwelling it would have limited impact on the immediate neighbours and
appearance of the dwelling.
9. The Council’s trees and Landscape Officer has requested that a landscaping
scheme to the front of the dwelling be included as a requirement of a condition. It
is however considered that this would be onerous given that the proposal is for a
residential extension, and therefore a condition to this effect has not been
included in the recommendation.
10. Given the above considerations, it is not deemed that the proposal would have a
harmful impact on the character of the area. It has been noted by residents and
the Parish Council that the number of rooms is indicative of the dwelling being
used for multiple occupation. There is however no evidence that this is the case.
Residential Amenities:
11. The application is for proposed two storey extensions to the front and rear of the
dwelling with single storey side and rear extensions also. A change of roof form
is proposed to the rear which currently has a twin gable design and will be
altered to a crown roof design. Other minor alterations are also proposed.
12. The key dimensions of the proposed extensions are summarised as follows:
Side extension
Two storey rear extension

Additional single storey rear extension
Total rear extension depth
Front extension
Roof height

1m to side boundary with no 27 (now
single rather than 2 storey)
3m in depth (previously 4m), 3m to No 27
boundary (previously 1m) and 2.5m to No
31 boundary
4m in depth (previously 3m), 3m to No 27
boundary and 4m to No 31 boundary
7m (same as previous)
1.5m in depth, 5.5m to No 27 boundary
and 5m to No 31 boundary
0.1m increase in the ridgeline.

13. It is advised in the Borough Design Guide that rear extensions should not exceed

280

a depth of 4m when located close to boundaries. It also recommends that a 1
metre separation distance should be maintained to the side boundary in order to
minimise the impact on the amenity of neighbouring land users.
14. No 31: The proposal would increase the built development adjacent to the
boundary with no 31but this would be set in a minimum of 2.5 metres for the two
storey element and would be stepped in a further 1.5 metres for the deeper
single storey extension. From the previous application, the two storey rear
extension has been reduced in depth by 1 metre to further lessen the impact, and
while not shown on the current plans, it was previously shown that the location of
the single storey extension would ensure an uninterrupted 45 degree line is
possible from all ground floor windows as per the guidance on page 56 of the
BDG.
15. No first floor side windows are proposed and the rear facing windows and ground
floor side windows are not considered to result in any direct overlooking. Indeed
the rear windows will afford views of a lesser extent of No 31’s rear amenity
space given the extra projection from the current rear elevation.
16. The inspector concluded that, while No 31’s residents would be aware of the rear
extension it would not be perceived as visually oppressive and nor would it result
in a material loss of sunlight or daylight enjoyed. It has been noted by the
resident that the eaves of the side extension would overhang their property. The
side extension in question is an existing feature and does not form part of this
application so this issue is not material to the current planning application. It is
considered therefore that the impact on the amenity of No 31 would be
acceptable.
17. No 27: The north-east side elevation of No 27, which faces the application
property, comprises a secondary kitchen window and a cloakroom window on the
ground floor as well as a primary bedroom window at first floor level.
18. The proposals would increase the built development adjacent to the side
boundary with No 27 (trading off the removal of the set-back garage with a single
storey side extension and two storey rear extension) and would maintain a 1
metre separation to the boundary which is in accordance with the advice
contained within the Borough Design Guide.
19. The previously proposed two storey extension at the rear which projected 4
metres has been shortened by 1 metre which, coupled with the change of the
side extension from two to a single storey, results in the two storey rear element
now being set 3 metres from the side boundary as opposed to the previous 1
metre. The resident at No 27 has submitted plans showing a 45 degree
horizontal angle from the habitable rooms on their north-east elevation. It is noted
that these plans show the positioning of the previous proposals and not the
redesigned scheme. As per page 51 of the BDG a 25 degree vertical test has
been carried out which confirms that the ground floor rooms would not be
harmfully deprived of daylight/sunlight and these rooms are, in any case, not
habitable rooms. It follows that the 25 degree test also confirms that no harmful
loss of daylight/sunlight would result to the habitable first floor bedroom.
Therefore, as regards the impact on the ground floor windows, it is considered
that the reductions outlined above will not lead to harmful impact with regards

281

loss of light, overbearing or overlooking (due to the obscured first floor windows
and boundary treatment screening ground floor windows) as was concluded with
previous, larger proposal. The side extension which projects 2 metres from the
south-west elevation is not considered to preclude no 27 from similarly extending
given that this dwelling’s main side elevation is set 4 metres from the shared
boundary.
20. In relation to the primary first floor bedroom window, the Inspector concluded
that, while there is insufficient evidence to conclude that daylight to the bedroom
would be materially affected, it would be the case that “the limited outlook
currently available towards the appeal property’s side elevation would be
considerably and harmfully foreshortened by the mass of the proposed side
extension brought to within 5m or so. It would appear oppressive from this
habitable room.” The eaves height of this extension has been lowered from 5.2 to
2.4 metres and the maximum height of the pitched roof is now 4.1 metres. This
reduction allows for the existing 7 metre first floor separation distance to be
largely maintained apart from where this is breached by the mono-pitched roof.
The 25 degree test has confirmed that the side extension would not interrupt this
line from the side window of No 27 and so the side extension would not result in
harmful loss of light. It is therefore considered that this redesign of the scheme
allows that no significant overbearing or loss of light impact will result on the first
floor habitable bedroom of No 27. The single storey design is not considered to
appear oppressive from this habitable room.
21. It was also concluded by the inspector that the previous proposals would have a
harmful impact on the amenity space of No 27 by virtue of the side/rear extension
being seen at close quarters from the property’s main side entrance well above
the roofs of the shed and garage currently located adjacent to the boundary. The
conclusion was drawn that the mass, bulk , height and proximity of the proposal
to No 27 would be perceived as overwhelmingly oppressive and overbearing
from this property. Though the height of the two storey element is to be the
same, this has been shortened in depth by 1 metre and inset a further 2 metres
from the boundary. It is considered that this reduction in mass and bulk (as well
as the offset of the garage demolition) would ensure that no significantly harmful
overbearing impact would result to the amenity space of No 27.
Highways access:
22. It was previously determined that space for 5 vehicles exists on the driveway
which would be unaltered as a result of the proposal. The highways officer was
previously consulted and had no concerns with the off-road parking capacity in
light of the increase in habitable rooms, despite resident concerns about the
potential for on street car parking. Given the level of parking provision and the
lack of objection from the council’s highways expert it is considered that the
proposal would have no identifiable highway impact.
Amenity Space
23. The proposal would increase the foot print of the dwelling, however the remaining
amenity space would be of a size that would exceed the guidelines set out in the
Borough Design Guide. It is therefore considered that the amenity space would
be of a size that could accommodate typical garden activities and as such no

282

harmful impact is considered to occur.
Impact on protected species
24. An initial bat survey was received, as part of the previous application, on
13.06.2014 which recommended that two dusk emergence and one dawn reentry surveys were carried out. These were subsequently received on
01.09.2014. At that time the Biodiversity Officer raised no objection subject to a
condition to secure the implementation of mitigation and contingency measures.
The Council’s current Biodiversity Officer has been consulted on this information
and is satisfied that an appropriate level of survey work has been undertaken and
at a relevant time for this new application. It is therefore considered that subject
to the application of Condition 6 the proposal will not be detrimental to the
maintenance of the bat species concerned at a Favourable Conservation Status
in their natural range.
CONCLUSION
25. The proposal is considered to have overcome the concerns raised by the
planning inspector at appeal and accords with development plan policies. The
application is therefore recommended for conditional approval.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

283

This page is intentionally left blank

285

This page is intentionally left blank

287

This page is intentionally left blank

289

This page is intentionally left blank

